METROPOLITAN EXPOSITION RECREATION COMMISSION

Resolution No. 14-21

For the purpose of selecting D&R Masonry Restoration, Inc, for the Arlene Schnitzer Concert Hall, "Exterior Façade Maintenance Repairs" and authorizing the Metro Deputy Chief Operating Officer to execute a contract with D&R Masonry Restoration, Inc.

WHEREAS, the Portland'5 Centers for the Arts must continue the repair and restoration of the cast stone and brick façade on the Arlene Schnitzer Concert Hall; and

WHEREAS, Section 7(B) of the Metropolitan Exposition Recreation Commission's ("MERC") Contracting and Purchasing Rules, requires competitive sealed bids under ORS Chapter 279C for public improvements such as this project; and

WHEREAS, MERC staff has evaluated the bids and D&R Masonry Restoration, Inc. is the lowest responsive and responsible bidder with a bid amount of One-hundred, Twenty-Nine Thousand, Seven Hundred Twenty-Five and No/100ths (\$129,725.00).

WHEREAS, MERC Staff included a request for bid alternate pricing in the published RFB. MERC staff reviewed the alternate pricing and has accepted each alternate pricing, increasing the contract price to Two-hundred, Twenty-Five Thousand and NO/100ths (\$225, 000.00).

BE IT THEREFORE RESOLVED as follows:

- 1. MERC selects D&R Masonry Restoration, Inc. as the lowest responsive and responsible bidder in response to the Request for Bids for the Portland'5 Centers for the Arts Arlene Schnitzer Concert Hall Exterior Façade Maintenance Repairs.
- 2. MERC approves the contract with D&R Masonry Restoration, Inc. in the form substantially similar to the attached Exhibit A and authorizes the Metro Deputy Chief Operating Officer to execute the contract on behalf of the Commission.

Passed by the Commission on July 9, 2014

Chair

Secretary/Treasurer

Approved As to Form: Alison R. Kean, Metro Attorney

ł By:

Nathan A. S. Sykes Deputy Metro Attorney



Construction Agreement

MERC CONTRACT NO. 304046

THIS CONSTRUCTION AGREEMENT is between Metropolitan Exposition Recreation Commission, an appointed commission of Metro, located at 600 N.E. Grand Avenue, Portland, OR 97232-2736, referred to herein as "MERC" or "Metro," and D&R Masonry Restoration, Inc., referred to herein as "Contractor," located at 8890 SE Mcloughlin Blvd., Milwaukie, OR 97222.

THE PARTIES AGREE AS FOLLOWS:

ARTICLE I

SCOPE OF WORK AND CONTRACT TERMS

CONTRACTOR shall perform the work and/or deliver to MERC the goods described in the Scope of Work attached hereto and incorporated herein as Attachment A. All services and goods shall be of good quality and otherwise in accordance with the Scope of Work. CONTRACTOR shall perform the work and/or deliver to MERC the goods described in the Scope of Work strictly in accord with the terms of this Construction Agreement and the General Conditions attached hereto and incorporated herein as Attachment B.

ARTICLE II

TERM OF CONTRACT

The term of this Contract shall be for the period commencing July 15, 2014 through and including November 30, 2014. Substantial completion per Section 9.4 of the General Conditions is October 31, 2014. This agreement may be extended or amended at MERC's sole discretion.

ARTICLE III

CONTRACT SUM AND TERMS OF PAYMENT

MERC shall pay the CONTRACTOR for work performed and/or goods supplied as described in the Scope of Work, in the maximum amount of TWO HUNDRED TWENTY-FIVE THOUSAND AND NO/100THS DOLLARS (\$225,000.00) (the "Maximum Price"). MERC shall not be responsible for payment of any materials, expenses or costs other than those which are specifically included in the Scope of Work. The Maximum Price includes all fees, costs and expenses of whatever nature. Each of MERC's payments to Contractor shall equal the percentage of the work Contractor accomplished during the billing period. Contractor's billing invoices shall include the MERC contract number, Contractor name, remittance address, invoice date, invoice number, invoice amount, tax amount (if applicable), and an itemized statement of work performed and expenses incurred during the billing period, and will not be submitted more frequently than once a month.

Contractor's billing invoices shall be sent to Metro Accounts Payable, 600 NE Grand Avenue, Portland, OR 97232-2736 or metroaccountspayable@oregonmetro.gov. The MERC contract number shall be referenced in the email subject line. Contractor's billing invoices for services through June 30 shall be submitted to Metro by July 15. Payment shall be made by MERC on a Net 30 day basis upon approval of CONTRACTOR invoice.

ARTICLE IV BONDS

In addition, for public works subject to ORS 279C.800 to 279C.870, CONTRACTOR and every subcontractor shall have a public works bond required by 2005 Oregon Laws Chapter 360 filed with the Construction Contractors Board before starting work on the project, unless exempt under Section 2 of 2005 Oregon Laws Chapter 360.

ARTICLE V

PUBLIC CONTRACTS

All applicable provisions of ORS chapters 187 and 279A, 279B, and 279C and all other terms and conditions necessary to be inserted into public contracts in the State of Oregon, are hereby incorporated as if such provision were a part of this Agreement. Specifically, it is a condition of this contract that CONTRACTOR and all employers working under this Agreement are subject employers that will comply with ORS 656.017 as required by 1989 Oregon Laws, Chapter 684.



For public work subject to ORS 279C.800 to 279C.870, the CONTRACTOR shall pay prevailing wages. If such public work is subject both to ORS 279C.800 to 279C.870 and to 40 U.S.C. 276a, the CONTRACTOR and every subcontractor on such public work shall pay at least the higher prevailing wage. The CONTRACTOR and each subcontractor shall pay workers not less than the specified minimum hourly rate of wage in accordance with Section 7 of 2005 Oregon Laws Chapter 360. MERC shall pay an administrative fee as provided in ORS 279C.825(1) to the Bureau of Labor and Industries pursuant to the administrative rules established by the Commissioner of Labor and Industries. CONTRACTORS must promptly pay, as due, all persons supplying to such contractor labor or material used in this contract. If the CONTRACTOR or first-tier subcontractor fails, neglects, or refuses to make payment to a person furnishing labor or materials in connection with the public contract for a public improvement within 30 days after receipt of payment from the public contracting agency or a contractor, the CONTRACTOR or first-tier subcontractor shall owe the person the amount due plus shall pay interest in accordance with ORS 279C.515. If the CONTRACTOR or first-tier subcontractor fails, neglects, or refuses to make payment, to a person furnishing labor or materials in connection with the public contract, the person may file a complaint with the Construction Contractors Board, unless payment is subject to a good faith dispute as defined in ORS 279C.580. CONTRACTOR must pay any and all contributions and amounts due to the Industrial Accident Fund from contractor or subcontractor and incurred in the performance of the contract. No liens or claims are permitted to be filed against MERC on account of any labor or material furnished. CONTRACTORS are required to pay the Department of Revenue all sums withheld from employees pursuant to ORS 316.167.

For public improvement work all CONTRACTORS must demonstrate that an employee drug-testing program is in place.

ARTICLE VI

COUNTERPARTS

This Contract may be executed in counterparts or multiples, any one of which will have the full force of an original.

ARTICLE VII DELIVERY OF NOTICES

Any notice, request, demand, instruction, or any other communications to be given to any party hereunder shall be in writing, sent by registered or certified mail or fax as follows:

To Contractor:	Daniel Elkins D & R Masonry Restoration, Inc. 8890 SE McLoughlin Blvd Milwaukie, OR 97222 503-654-1291 fax	To Metro:	Metro Procurement Services 600 NE Grand Ave Portland, Oregon 97232 503-797-1791 fax	
		With Copy to:	Josh Lipscomb 600 NE Grand Ave Portland, OR 97206 503-797-1795 fax	
CONTRACTOR		METROPOLIT. COMMISSION	METROPOLITAN EXPOSITION RECREATION COMMISSION	
By		By		
Print Name		Print Name		
Date		Date		



ATTACHMENT A TO CONSTRUCTION AGREEMENT - SCOPE OF WORK

1. Purpose and Goal of Work

MERC is contracting for exterior façade and masonry repairs at the Portland'5 Arlene Schnitzer Concert Hall, located at 1037 SW Broadway, Portland, OR 97205.

2. Scope of Work

Description of Work

BACKGROUND

This is the second phase of repair work on the exterior masonry at the Arlene Schnitzer Concert Hall. Phase 1 work entailed repair of the highest priority items and included replacement and patching work on the south and west elevations. This phase shall dovetail with and continue work started in Phase 1, and shall utilize similar procedures and products. Work shall be performed as per the attached specifications (*Attachment C*). Elevations of the facility using the below reference numbers, and photographs have been provided for additional clarity as *Attachment D*.

SUMMARY OF WORK

- 1. At South: Clean, repoint [35% cast stone joints] patch [four (4) patches of up to 20 square inches], and seal cast stone at the lower [east portion] of the parapet and upper wall cornice, coat horizontal part of both upper and lower cornices with waterproof coating.
- 2. At South: Repoint [35% cast stone joints], clean, seal cast stone belt cornice, and five (5) blind arch surrounds. At the middle cast stone band of each blind arch head cut out and tuck point 3 of the 6 masonry units where cracked in line with the existing inner and outer unit joints.

Apply with waterproof coating top [arched head] horizontal projection at five (5) blind arches and belt cornice.

- 3. At South: 100% Repoint top eight (8) brick courses (courses below uppermost cast stone), and the lower four (4) courses within each blind arch.
- 4. At West: Clean, repoint [25% cast stone joints], patch [two (2) patches of 150 square inches and six (6) patches of up to 20 square inches], and seal upper cast stone band area (parapet, cornice, frieze), coat horizontal part of cornice with waterproof coating.
- 5. At West: Repoint [35% cast stone joints], clean, seal cast stone belt cornice, and six (6) blind arch surrounds, cartouches and balconies. At the middle cast stone band of each blind arch head cut out and tuck point three (3) of the 6 masonry units where cracked in line with the existing inner and outer unit joints.

Apply with waterproof coating top [arched head] horizontal projection at (6) blind arches and belt cornice.

- 6. At West: 100% Repoint top ten (10) brick courses (courses below uppermost cast stone), and the lower four (4) courses within each blind arch.
- 7. At West Pediment: Clean, repoint [20% cast stone joints] and seal cast stone at the middle, lower, the 2nd balcony portion, and the door surrounds and cartouches below balcony not done in Phase 1.
- 8. Allow for minor patching at various cast stone panels in addition to that specifically scheduled, assume twenty (20) patches of up to 20 square inches each, locations to be determined by owner during project work.
- 9. South Elevation Service Door: replace one (1) broken cast stone at head; injection epoxy fill cracks at soffit and patch damaged areas.



- 10. At two (2) west mezzanine exit door openings, and building base: Patch spalls, epoxy infill cracks at head masonry; patch auto damage at lower cast stone by service door. Clean and seal the cast stone at the balcony door surrounds.
- 11. At North Entry Projection and Surround: Clean heavily soiled roof balcony, cement wash at roof to achieve greater slope; recoat horizontal part of cornice with waterproof coating.
- At the North and at the East Return on the North End: Clean, repoint [20% cast stone joints], patch [four (4) patches of up to 20 square inches], and seal upper cast stone band area (parapet, cornice, frieze), coat horizontal part of cornice with waterproof coating.
- 13. At North Studio Building down to and including top of lower cornice [see drawing]; clean sheet metal and masonry, repoint [15%], seal cast stone.
- 14. At East Elevation, South End: Clean, repoint [20% cast stone joints], patch [four (4) patches of up to 20 square inches], and seal upper cast stone band area (parapet, cornice, frieze), coat horizontal part of cornice with waterproof coating.

The Scope of Work includes any Plan Set, Specifications or Addenda attached hereto, and any Change Orders entered into in accordance with the terms of the Contract;

<u>ATTACHMENT C:</u> Specifications, titled "Arlene Schnitzer Concert Hall Exterior Façade Maintenance Repairs", and dated April 30, 2014;

ATTACHMENT D: Facility Elevations and Photographs;

Where applicable, reference to this Contract herein shall be deemed to refer to all of the Contract Documents.

Contractor shall provide all labor, tools, equipment, machinery, supervision, transportation, permits, and every other item and service necessary to perform the Work described in the Contract Documents. Contractor shall fully comply with each and every term, condition and provision of the Contract Documents.



Attachment B - SECTION 007200 METRO GENERAL CONDITIONS

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ART	ICLE 1 GENERAL PROVISIONS
1.1	DEFINITIONS
1.2	INTERPRETATION AND USE OF CONTRACT DOCUMENTS.
1.3	SUPPLY OF CONTRACT DOCUMENTS.
1.4	USE OF CONTRACT DOCUMENTS.
1.5	COPYRIGHT.
1.6	CONTRACTOR'S STATUS AS INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR.
1.7	NO THIRD-PARTY BENEFICIARY TO THE CONTRACT.
1.8	SEVERABILITY CLAUSE.
1.9	NOTICE OR SERVICE.
ART	ICLE 2 CONTRACTOR
2.1	RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE CONTRACTOR.
2.2	DOCUMENTS.
2.3	CONTRACTOR'S AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE.
2.4	ON-SITE REPRESENTATION REQUIRED.
2.5	CONTRACTOR'S OFFICE AT THE SITE.
2.6	USE OF THE SITE BY CONTRACTOR.
2.7	REVIEW OF PROJECT CONDITIONS.
2.8	CONSTRUCTION STAKING.
	CONSTRUCTION STAGING AREA.
	KEY PERSONNEL.
	CONTRACTOR'S EMPLOYEES AND SUBCONTRACTORS.
	CONTRACTOR TO SUPPLY SUFFICIENT MATERIAL AND WORKERS.
	CONSTRUCTION PLANT, EQUIPMENT, AND METHODS.
	PERMITS.
	CONTRACTOR'S TEMPORARY STRUCTURES.
	COMPLIANCE WITH PRODUCT MANUFACTURER'S RECOMMENDATIONS.
	ACCOUNTING RECORDS
	ICLE 3 ADMINISTRATION OF THE CONTRACT
3.1	AUTHORITY AND RELATIONSHIPS OF METRO AND ARCHITECT.
3.2	AUTHORITY OF METRO.
3.3	REQUEST FOR INFORMATION.
3.4	CONTRACTOR'S CLAIMS.
3.5	METRO'S RIGHT TO STOP, PERFORM, OR DELETE WORK.
3.6	METRO'S RIGHT TO ADJUST PAYMENTS.
3.7	MEDIATION.
	LITIGATION.
	WORK TO CONTINUE NOTWITHSTANDING DISPUTE.
ART	ICLE 4 SUBCONTRACTING AND ASSIGNMENT OF THE CONTRACT
4.1	SUBCONTRACTING.
4.2	OBJECTION TO SUBCONTRACTORS OR SUPPLIERS.
4.3	SUBSTITUTION, CHANGE, OR ADDITION OF SUBCONTRACTORS OR SUPPLIERS.
4.4	REMOVAL OF SUBCONTRACTORS AT REQUEST OF METRO.
4.5	METRO NOT OBLIGATED TO DETECT UNSATISFACTORY WORK.
4.6	NO CONTRACTUAL RELATIONSHIPS BETWEEN METRO AND CONTRACTOR'S SUBCONTRACTORS AND SUPPLIERS.
4.7	CONTRACTOR'S AGREEMENTS WITH SUBCONTRACTORS.

4.8 ASSIGNMENT.

Construction Agreement

600 NE Grand Ave. Portland, OR 97232-2736 503-797-1700

Metro

MERC CONTRACT NO. 304046

	ICLE 5 TIME OF COMPLETION AND SCHEDULE FOR THE WORK
5.1	PROSECUTION OF WORK GENERALLY.
5.2	TIME OF COMPLETION.
5.3	EXTENSIONS OF TIME.
5.4	PROJECT SCHEDULING.
5.5	USE OF COMPLETED PARTS OF THE WORK BEFORE ACCEPTANCE.
6.1 6.2	OTHER METRO CONTRACTORS GENERALLY. DUTY TO INSPECT OTHER METRO CONTRACTORS' WORK.
	LATENT DEFECTS IN OTHER CONTRACTOR'S WORK. Duty to Maintain Schedule.
6.4	
6.5	FAILURE TO MAINTAIN SCHEDULE.
	FAILURE TO COORDINATE WORK. Other Metro Contractors' Failure to Coordinate.
6.7	
	CONFLICTS AMONG CONTRACTORS.
	COORDINATION DRAWINGS.
	FURNISHED BY OWNER, INSTALLED BY CONTRACTOR ("FOIC") ITEMS. CONFERENCES.
	ICLE 7 CONTROL AND QUALITY OF WORK AND MATERIAL
	QUALITY CONTROL AND QUALITY OF WORK AND MATERIAL
	INSPECTION.
7.2	UNSATISFACTORY MATERIALS AND WORKMANSHIP.
	GENERAL WARRANTY OF CONTRACTOR.
7.5	THIRD-PARTY WARRANTIES.
7.6	SUBCONTRACTOR WARRANTIES.
7.7	CORRECTION OF WORK BY CONTRACTOR.
7.8	WARRANTY AND CORRECTION AGREEMENTS BY SUBCONTRACTORS.
7.9	REMEDIES NOT EXCLUSIVE.
	PROOF OF COMPLIANCE WITH CONTRACT PROVISIONS.
	PATENTS, COPYRIGHTS, TRADEMARKS.
	ANTI-TRUST CLAIMS.
	ICLE 8 CHANGES IN THE WORK
	CHANGE ORDERS GENERALLY.
8.2	PROCEDURE FOR DETERMINING IMPACT OF CHANGE ORDERS ON CONTRACT AMOUNT.
8.3	LIMITATIONS WHEN CHANGE ORDERS IMPACT CONTRACT AMOUNT.
	FORCE ACCOUNT WORK.
	CONTRACTOR PROPOSALS FOR CHANGES IN WORK.
	IMPACT OF AUTHORIZED CHANGES IN THE CONTRACT.
	ICLE 9 PAYMENTS AND COMPLETION
9.1	SCOPE OF PAYMENT.
9.2	SCHEDULE OF VALUES.
9.3	PROGRESS PAYMENT PROCEDURE.
9.4	SUBSTANTIAL COMPLETION.
9.5	FINAL COMPLETION AND ACCEPTANCE.
9.6	CLOSEOUT SUBMITTALS.
9.7	Releases.
9.8	FINAL PAYMENT.
	NO WAIVER OF R IGHTS.
	ICLE 10 SAFETY, USE OF SITE, AND PROTECTION OF THE WORK
	LAWS AND REGULATIONS.
10.2	SAFETY REQUIREMENTS.
10.3	FIRST AID.
10.4	USE OF SITE.
10.5	PROTECTION OF WORK, PERSONS, AND PROPERTY AGAINST DAMAGE.
10.6	UTILITIES.
10.7	HAZARDOUS SUBSTANCES ENCOUNTERED DURING CONSTRUCTION AND OTHER ENVIRONMENTAL LAWS.

Construction Agreement

600 NE Grand Ave. Portland, OR 97232-2736 503-797-1700

Metro

MERC CONTRACT NO. 304046

10.8 Additional Requirements for Work.
ARTICLE 11 INDEMNIFICATION42
11.1 INDEMNIFICATION.
ARTICLE 12 INSURANCE
12.1 GENERAL INSURANCE REQUIREMENT
12.2 REQUIRED COVERAGE
12.3 LIMITS
12.4 Additional Insureds
12.5 JOINT VENTURE
12.6 PRIMARY COVERAGE
12.7 Contractor's Failure to Maintain Insurance
12.8 CERTIFICATES OF INSURANCE
12.9 SUBCONTRACTOR INSURANCE
12.10 LIMITATIONS ON COVERAGE
12.11 PROPERTY INSURANCE
ARTICLE 13 MINORITY/WOMEN/EMERGING SMALL BUSINESS PROGRAM45-46
ARTICLE 14 MISCELLANEOUS STATUTORY RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE CONTRACTOR
ARTICLE 15 TERMINATION OR SUSPENSION OF THE WORK46-49
15.1 DEFAULT OF CONTRACTOR.
15.2 TERMINATION IN THE PUBLIC INTEREST.
EXHIBIT 1 WARRANTY FORM
EXHIBIT 2 SUBCONTRACTOR ASSIGNMENT OF ANTITRUST CLAIMS
EXHIBIT 3 AFFIDAVIT, AGREEMENT FOR INDEMNITY, LIEN WAIVER AND RELEASE (PROGRESS PAYMENT)
EXHIBIT 4 AFFIDAVIT, AGREEMENT FOR INDEMNITY, LIEN WAIVER AND RELEASE (FINAL CLOSEOUT)
EXHIBIT 5 AFFIDAVIT, LIEN WAIVER AND RELEASE – CONDITIONAL FINAL (SUBCONTRACTOR CLOSEOUT)



METRO GENERAL CONDITIONS

ARTICLE 1 GENERAL PROVISIONS

1.1 Definitions. Unless otherwise defined or specified in the Contract Documents, the following terms shall have the meanings indicated:

1.1.1 <u>Act of God</u>: An earthquake, flood, typhoon, cyclone, or other natural phenomenon of catastrophic proportions or intensity.

1.1.2 <u>Addendum</u>: A document issued by Metro during the solicitation period clarifying, adding, deleting, or materially changing Metro's solicitation documents.

1.1.3 <u>Alternate Bids</u>: Portions of the Work for which a Bidder must submit a separate Bid amount. Alternate Bid items may or may not be awarded at Metro's discretion.

1.1.4 <u>Architect</u>: A person retained by Metro as its design professional for the Work and authorized to practice architecture in the State of Oregon. The term "Architect" refers to the Architect or the Architect's authorized representative.

1.1.5 "<u>As-Builts" or Record Documents</u>: Those drawings made, revised, or annotated by Contractor and approved by Metro during the performance of the Contract, fully illustrating how all elements of the Work were actually installed and completed.

1.1.6 <u>Aspirational Target</u>: Target of intended utilization of MBE, WBE, and ESB firms that a contractor has no contractual obligation to meet.

1.1.7 <u>Authorized Representative</u>: A person acting on behalf of another through expressly delegated authority as specified in these Contract Documents.

1.1.8 <u>Bid</u>. The written offer of a Bidder to perform the Work as defined in these Contract Documents submitted in compliance with Metro's Bid Documents and Public Contracting Rules.

1.1.9 <u>Bidder</u>: A person acting directly or through a duly and legally authorized representative who submits or intends to submit a Bid for the Work as described in these Contract Documents.

- 1.1.10 <u>Bid Documents</u>: Those documents upon which a Bidder bases its bid to Metro.
- 1.1.11 <u>Business Day</u>: Calendar day excluding Saturdays, Sundays, and legal holidays.
- 1.1.12 Bid Forms: Forms required by Metro to be submitted with a Bid.

1.1.13 City or County: The city or county in which the Work is located.

1.1.14 <u>Change Order</u>: A written document signed by Metro and Contractor stating their agreement upon all of the following:

1.1.14.1 The change in the Work;

1.1.14.2 The amount of any adjustment in the Contract Amount; and

1.1.14.3 The extent of any adjustment to the Contract Time.

1.1.15 <u>Clarification</u>: A written document consisting of supplementary details, instruction or information issued by Metro after the award of Contract that clarifies or supplements the Contract Documents and becomes a part of the Contract Documents. A Clarification may or may not affect the scope of Work.

- 1.1.16 <u>Completion</u>: See "Substantial Completion" and "Final Completion and Acceptance."
- 1.1.17 <u>Construction Schedule or Schedule</u>: The timeline described in Article 5.
- 1.1.18 Contract: The Contract Documents.

1.1.19 <u>Contract Amount</u>: The total amount shown in the Construction Agreement as modified by any Change Orders.

1.1.20 <u>Contract Documents or Contract or Bidding Documents</u>: All of the following documents: the Advertisement for Bids, the Invitation to Bid, the Instructions to Bidders, the Bid Forms, the Construction Agreement, the Performance Bond, the Labor and Materials Payment Bond, the General Conditions, the Supplementary Conditions, the Specifications, the drawings, the approved and updated Construction Schedule, and any modifications of any of the foregoing in the form of Addenda, Clarifications, Change Orders, or Force Account Work.

1.1.21 <u>Contractor</u>: The person having entered into this Contract with Metro and who is responsible for the complete performance of the Work contemplated by the Contract Documents and for the payment of all legal debts pertaining to the Work, including its officers, agents, employees, and representatives.

1.1.22 <u>Contract Time</u>: The amount of time stated in the Contract Documents for the performance of all or a specified portion of the Work, as modified by any Change Orders.

1.1.23 <u>Critical Path Method or CPM</u>: The critical path method of scheduling as understood and interpreted by standard industry practice.



1.1.24 <u>Day</u>: Calendar day including Saturdays, Sundays, and legal holidays.

1.1.25 <u>Defective Work</u>: Work that (a) is performed in an unsatisfactory, faulty, or deficient manner; (b) does not conform to the Contract Documents; (c) does not meet the requirements of any reference standard, test, or approval referred to or incorporated by the Contract Documents; or (d) has been damaged by anyone other than Metro prior to Acceptance of the Work, whether or not such Work is in Metro's possession or use.

1.1.26 <u>Direct Costs</u>: The costs of labor (including benefits), materials, and equipment incurred by the person performing the Work or part of the Work.

1.1.27 <u>Drawings</u>: The graphic and pictorial portions of the Contract Documents, wherever located and whenever issued, showing the design, location, and dimensions of the Work, generally including plans, elevations, sections, details, schedules, and diagrams.

1.1.28 <u>Engineer</u>: A person lawfully practicing engineering. The term "Engineer" refers to the Engineer or the Engineer's authorized representative.

1.1.29 <u>Environmental Laws</u>: Any applicable statute, law, ordinance, order, consent decree, judgment, permit, license, code provision, covenant deed, common law, treaty, convention, or other requirement pertaining to protection of the environment, health or safety, natural resources, conservation, wildlife, waste management, or disposal of hazardous substances or pollution, including but not limited to regulation of releases to air, land, water, and groundwater.

1.1.30 <u>Equal, Approved, Approved Equal</u>: The material or product to be supplied or installed is equal to or better than that specified in function, performance, reliability, quality, and general configuration and is approved by Architect. Equality in reference to the Project design requirements shall be determined by Architect prior to installation of any material or product in the Project. Where the term "or equal" is not used and a sole product is specified, the term "or equal" is implied.

1.1.31 <u>Final Completion</u>: Full performance of all of the Work and acceptance of the Project by Metro.

1.1.32 <u>Final Payment</u>: The balance of the Contract Amount to be paid to the Contractor upon Final Completion and Acceptance of the Work. "Final Payment" includes payment of any withheld Retainage less deductions permitted or required by the Contract.

1.1.33 <u>First Opportunity Target Area or FOTA</u>; FOTA is the economically distressed area located in the immediate vicinity of the Oregon Convention Center as authorized by Section 2, Chapter 909, Oregon Laws 1989.

1.1.34 <u>Force Account Work</u>: Work, ordered in writing by Metro, for which Contractor must report its actual costs in accordance with Section 8.4 of the General Conditions.

1.1.35 <u>General Conditions</u>: The Metro General Conditions of the Contract for Construction set forth in this document.

1.1.36 <u>General Manager of Visitor Venues or GM</u>: The GM oversees the Portland'5 Centers for the Performing Arts, the Oregon Convention Center, the Portland Expo Center and the Oregon Zoo.

1.1.37 <u>Hazardous Materials</u>: Any substance defined or designated as being radioactive, infectious, hazardous, dangerous, or toxic by any federal, state, or local statute, regulation, or ordinance presently in effect or subsequently enacted. For purposes of Section 10.7, the term "introduce" means the physical placement or transportation of Hazardous Materials in or on the Project Site regardless of whether the Hazardous Material was specified, required, or otherwise addressed in the Contract Documents.

1.1.38 <u>Landscape Architect:</u> A person lawfully practicing landscape architecture. The term "Landscape Architect" refers to the Landscape Architect or the Landscape Architect's authorized representative.

1.1.39 <u>LEED Certification</u>: A Lead<u>e</u>rship in Energy and Design Certification issued by the United States Green Building Council (USGBS).

1.1.40 <u>Lump Sum</u>: A way of expressing the Contract Amount for the Work, or the price bid for a portion of the Work, stated as a single price for all labor, materials, supplies, incidental work, overhead, and profit.

1.1.41 <u>Metro</u>: A metropolitan service district organized under the laws of the State of Oregon and the Metro Charter. Metro is the Contract Review Board for MERC.

1.1.42 <u>Metropolitan Exposition Recreation Commission (MERC)</u>: An appointed commission of Metro with contracting authority for the Portland'5 Centers for the Arts, the Oregon Convention Center and the Portland Expo Center.

1.1.43 <u>Metro Chief Operating Officer or COO</u>: The Chief Operating Officer of Metro.

1.1.44 Metro Council or Council: Metro's elected governing body.

1.1.45 <u>Minority Business Enterprise, Women Business Enterprise and Emerging Small Business</u> ("MWESB"): A firm eligible to participate as a Minority Business Enterprise, Women Business Enterprise or Emerging Small Business (collectively referred to as "MWESB") because it meets the criteria as established by the Office of



Minority Women and Emerging Small Business in the State of Oregon. A firm will no longer qualify as an MWESB on this Contract when it receives notification of decertification, denial of recertification, or notice of graduation by the certifying agency.

1.1.46 <u>MWESB Program</u>: Metro's program to provide maximum opportunities to Minority, Women-Owned and Emerging Small Business Enterprises in contracts, which is contained in Metro Code Section 2.04.100 to 2.04.190.

1.1.47 <u>Notice to Proceed</u>: The written notice given by Metro to the Contractor to proceed with all or part of the Work. The Notice to Proceed will also establish the date and time of a preconstruction conference.

1.1.48 <u>Overhead</u>: When applied to the cost of the Work, includes the following items, when reasonable and necessary for completion of the Work:

1.1.48.1 All on-site payroll costs, taxes, insurance, fringe benefits, and bonuses of same, for supervising, estimating, expediting, purchasing, drafting, and clerical/secretarial services where directly incurred in the performance of the Contract.

1.1.48.2 Small tools (less than \$250 capital cost per item).

1.1.48.3 Contractor-owned equipment.

1.1.48.4 Equipment maintenance and repairs.

1.1.48.5 Temporary construction, utilities, and safety requirements.

1.1.48.6 Transportation of materials other than direct identifiable cost of specific deliveries,

or as included in price of material.

1.1.48.7 Parking fees for workers (if applicable).

- 1.1.48.8 Permit fees paid by the Contractor pursuant to the Contract Documents.
- 1.1.48.9 Cost of reproduction.

1.1.48.10 Field office costs. Home or branch office overhead shall not be included, but shall be part of Contractor's profit and shall include but is not limited to the following:

1.1.48.10.1 Accounting functions of Contractor's home and branch office.

1.1.48.10.2 General expenses of Contractor's home and branch office.

1.1.48.10.3 Interest on capital.

1.1.48.10.4 Salaries of any home and branch office estimators and administration.

1.1.49 Owner: Metro.

1.1.50 <u>Person</u>: An individual, partnership, corporation, joint venture, limited liability corporation, joint stock company, or other legal entity.

1.1.51 Plans: Drawings.

1.1.52 Profit: That portion of Contractor's Bid price that is not Direct Costs or Overhead

1.1.53 Project: The Work described in the Contract Documents.

1.1.54 <u>Project Manager</u>: The Metro representative on the construction Site. The Project Manager will be an employee of Metro who will represent Metro to the extent of his authority as delegated by the Chief Operating Officer. For purposes of administering this Contract the term "Project Manager" will refer to the on-site Metro representative and to any duly appointed assistants who may be designated in writing. The Architect will be called upon as required by and at the direction of Metro for technical assistance and for interpretation of the Contract Documents.

1.1.55 <u>Proposal</u>: The written offer of a Proposer to perform the Work as defined in these Contract Documents submitted in compliance with Metro's Request for Proposals and Public Contracting Rules.

1.1.56 <u>Proposal Documents</u>: Those documents upon which a Proposer responds to a Request for Proposals.

Metro.

1.1.58 <u>Provide</u>: To furnish and install complete and in place and ready for operation and use.

1.1.57 Proposer: A person who responds or intends to respond to a Request for Proposals issued by

1.1.59 <u>Punch List</u>: The list prepared by the Architect and/or Project Manager at the time of Substantial Completion that reflects Contractor's incomplete, nonconforming Work. Punch List items must be completed to the satisfaction of the Architect and Metro in order for the Project to reach Final Completion and Acceptance.

1.1.60 <u>Reference Specifications</u>: Bulletins, standards, rules, methods of analysis or testing, codes, and Specifications of other agencies, engineering societies, or industrial associations referred to in the Contract Documents that when included in the Contract Documents establish the basis by which specific portions of the Work



are to be performed. All such references specified refer to the latest edition thereof, including any Amendments in effect and published at the time of advertising for Bids or of issuing the permit for the Project.

1.1.61 <u>Release</u>: When used in regard to environmental laws or regulations, "release" as defined in Oregon or federal law.

1.1.62 <u>Request for Bid (RFB)</u>: A solicitation to perform Work where a Contract is awarded based on price.

1.1.63 <u>Request for Information (RFI)</u>: A written request made by Contractor for additional information to clarify an ambiguity in the Contact Documents.

1.1.64 <u>Request for Proposals ("RFP")</u>: A solicitation to perform Work issued where a Contract is awarded based on factors other than or in addition to price.

1.1.65 <u>Retainage or Retention</u>: The difference between the amount earned by Contractor on the Contract and the amount paid on the Contract by Metro.

1.1.66 <u>Schedule of Values</u>: The detailed breakdown of a lump-sum contract amount as required in Section 9.2.

1.1.67 <u>Separate Contract</u>: A contract between Metro and a party other than Contractor for the construction or furnishing of a portion of the Project.

1.1.68 Shown, As Shown: Work shown on the drawings that is a part of the Contract Documents.

1.1.69 <u>Site</u>: The real property upon which the Project is located.

1.1.70 Solicitation Documents: An RFB.

1.1.71 <u>Special Inspector</u>: A representative of Metro, Architect, Engineer or Geotechnical Engineer with specialized knowledge applicable to the installation of certain elements of the Work.

1.1.72 <u>Specifications</u>: That portion of the Contract Documents consisting of the written requirements for materials, equipment, construction systems, standards, and workmanship for the Work, and performance of related services, including any Reference Specifications.

1.1.73 <u>Subcontractor</u>: A person that has a contract with Contractor to perform a portion of the Work at the Site.

1.1.74 <u>Submittals</u>: Includes shop drawings, samples, manufacturer's brochures, pamphlets, catalog cuts, color charts, or other descriptive data, clearly defining the article, material, equipment, or device proposed by Contractor for use in the Work. "Shop drawings" are the drawings and diagrams showing details of fabrication and erection that Contractor is required to submit to the Architect.

1.1.75 <u>Substantial Completion</u>: The stage in the progress of the Work, as determined by Metro, when the Work or designated portion thereof is sufficiently complete in accordance with the Contract Documents so that Metro can lawfully occupy or use the Work for its intended use.

1.1.76 <u>Supplier</u>: An individual, partnership, corporation or joint venture entering into an agreement with Metro or Contractor for furnishing a portion of the Work that requires no labor at the Site, other than common carriers.

1.1.77 <u>Unit Price</u>: The dollar amount to complete a particular portion of the Contract Work, as defined in the Bid and Supplementary Conditions, and includes all costs, including but not limited to equipment, labor, materials, incidentals, Overhead, and Profit for the portion of Work described.

1.1.78 <u>Unusually Persistent Severe Weather</u>: Exists in any period when daily rainfall exceeds 0.50 inch during a month when the monthly average rainfall exceeds the normal monthly average by over twenty-five percent (25%), <u>or</u> when average daytime temperatures at the Project are less than 32 degrees F and are accompanied by accumulations of ice or snow, continuing for a day or more in excess of the annual average number of consecutive days severe weather conditions persist for the part of the Metro region where the Project is located ("Annual Average"). The Annual Average shall be calculated for this purpose based on ten-year averages reported in the <u>Local</u> <u>Climatological Data for Portland Oregon</u>, available at the Portland Weather Service Office. Contractor shall incorporate said Annual Average number of consecutive days severe weather conditions exist into the Project schedule at Project inception.

1.1.79 <u>Work</u>: Unless the context requires otherwise, the construction and services required by the Contract Documents, whether completed or partially completed, and includes all other labor, materials, equipment, and services provided or to be provided by Contractor to fulfill Contractor's obligations. The Work may constitute all or a portion of the Project as the context requires.

1.2 Interpretation and Use of Contract Documents.

1.2.1 <u>Intent and Effect of the Contract</u>. The Contract Documents form the Contract for construction and represent an integrated agreement between the Parties. The Contract supersedes all prior negotiations,



representations, or agreements between the Parties, either written or oral. The Contract Documents are complementary, and what is required by one shall be as binding as if required by all. The intent of the Contract Documents is to include all items necessary for the proper execution and completion of the Work. Unless otherwise stated in the Contract Documents, words describing materials or Work that have a well-known technical or trade meaning shall be construed in accordance with such meanings.

1.2.2 <u>Modification of Contract Documents</u>. The Contract Documents may only be modified by written Amendment or Change Order signed by both Parties.

1.2.3 <u>Divisions and Headings</u>. Titles and headings are for the convenience of organizing the Contract Documents and shall not control or limit the Contractor's obligations under the Contract.

1.2.4 <u>Mandatory Nature of Specifications and Drawings</u>. Mention in the Specifications or indication on the drawings of articles, materials, operations, sequence, or methods requires Contractor to furnish and install (i.e., provide) each article mentioned or indicated, of the quality or according to qualifications noted, to perform each operation called for, in the sequence called for, and to provide therefore all necessary labor, equipment, and incidentals. The determination of the type of operations and methods to be utilized in the performance of the Work shall be the responsibility of Contractor unless the Contract Documents prescribe a specific type of operation, sequence, or method, in which case Contractor shall comply with the prescribed operation, sequence, or method. Sentences in the imperative tense or command format in these Contract Documents shall be deemed to be directed to Contractor and to require Contractor to perform the services and/or provide the materials described.

1.2.5 <u>Precedence of Contract Documents</u>. All determination of the precedence of, or resolution of discrepancies in, the Contract Documents shall be made by Metro, but in general, precedence will be in accordance with the following list with the highest precedence item at the top:

1.2.5.1 Executed Construction Agreement.

1.2.5.2 Supplementary Conditions.

1.2.5.3 General Conditions, Advertisement for Bids, Instructions to Bidders, Invitation to Bid, Bid Forms, Performance Bond, and Labor and Materials Payment Bond.

1.2.5.4 Specifications.

1.2.5.5 Drawings.

1.2.5.6 Contractor's Proposal. Within each of the above documents, detailed information takes precedence over general information and words take precedence over numbers unless obviously incorrect.

Amendments, Addenda, Clarifications, and all Change Orders to the Contract Documents take the same order of precedence as the specific sections that they are amending.

1.2.6 <u>Meaning of Miscellaneous Phrases</u>. Unless the context requires otherwise, phrases in the Contract Documents shall be interpreted as follows:

1.2.6.1 Wherever the words "as directed," "as instructed," "as required," "as permitted," or words of like effect are used, it shall be understood that the direction, requirement, or permission of Metro is intended.

1.2.6.2 The words "sufficient," "necessary," "proper," and the like shall mean sufficient, necessary, or proper in the judgment of Metro.

1.2.6.3 The words "approved," "acceptable," "satisfactory," or words of like import, shall mean approved by, or acceptable to, or satisfactory to Metro.

1.2.7 Discrepancies, Errors and Omissions. The intent of the Contract Documents is to require Contractor to perform and provide every detail and item necessary for completion of the Project. The Contract Documents are not complete in every detail, however, and Contractor shall comply with their intent and meaning, taken as a whole, and shall not avail itself of any manifest errors or omissions to the detriment of the Work. Should any error, omission, discrepancy, or ambiguity appear in the Contract Documents, instructions, or Work done by others, Contractor shall immediately upon discovery submit a Request for Information to Metro pursuant to Section 3.3. If Contractor proceeds with any such Work without receiving a response to the Request for Information, Contractor shall be responsible for all resulting damage and defects, and shall perform any Work necessary to comply with the Request for Information at no cost to Metro. Any Work or material not indicated in the Contract Documents that is manifestly necessary for full and faithful performance of the Work in accordance with the intent of the Contract Documents shall be indicated by Contractor on the shop drawings and provided by Contractor to the same extent as if both indicated and specified. Any Work indicated on the drawings but not specified, or vice versa, shall be furnished in the manner specified above as though fully set forth in both. Work not particularly detailed, marked, or specified shall be the same as similar parts that are detailed, marked, or specified. In case of discrepancy or ambiguity in quantity or quality, the greater guantity or better guality as determined by Metro shall be provided at no extra cost to Metro.



1.2.8 <u>Standards that Apply Where Detailed Specifications Are Not Furnished</u>. Wherever in these Contract Documents or in any directions given by Metro pursuant to or supplementing these Contract Documents, it is provided that Contractor shall furnish materials or manufactured articles or shall do work for which no detailed Specifications are set forth, the materials or manufactured articles shall conform to the usual standards for first-class materials or articles of the kind required, with due consideration of the use to which they are to be put. Work for which no detailed drawings or Specifications are set forth herein shall conform to the usual standards for first-class work of the kind required. Dimensions not expressly provided in the Contract Documents are to be computed, rather than determined by scale or rule.

1.3 Supply of Contract Documents. Metro shall supply Contractor, without charge, a maximum of ten (10) sets of Contract Documents. Contractor shall contact Metro for additional sets of documents for which Contractor shall be charged the cost of printing.

1.4 Use of Contract Documents. The Contract Documents were prepared for use in the construction of this Project only. No part of the Contract Documents shall be used for any other construction or for any other purpose except with the written consent of Metro. Any unauthorized use of the Contract Documents is at the sole responsibility of the user and such unauthorized use shall be deemed an activity in the performance of the Contract for purposes of Contractor's duty to indemnify under Article 11.

1.5 Copyright. All submittals, record documents, and any other products or documents produced by Contractor pursuant to this Contract are the property of Metro and it is agreed by the Parties hereto that such documents are works made for hire. Contractor does hereby convey, transfer, and grant to Metro all rights of reproduction and the copyright to all such documents.

1.6 Contractor's Status as Independent Contractor. It is understood and agreed that the relationship of Contractor to Owner shall be that of an independent contractor under ORS 670.600. The Contractor further agrees that Contractor, its officers, agents, and employees, any Subcontractor or Supplier of Contractor of any tier, or its officers, agents, or employees, are not officers, employees, or agents of Metro under the Oregon Tort Claims Act (ORS 30.260 through 30.300). Contractor and its officers, agents, employees, and its Subcontractors and Suppliers of any tier and their officers, agents, and employees will make no claim whatsoever against Metro for indemnification pursuant to ORS 30.260 to 30.300. Contractor agrees to hold Metro harmless and indemnify Metro from any such claims.

1.7 No Third-Party Beneficiary to the Contract. The Parties agree that the execution of the Contract is not intended to, nor does it, create any third-party beneficiary rights in any person.

1.8 Severability Clause. Should any provision of this Contract at any time be in conflict with any law, regulation, or ruling, or be legally unenforceable for any reason, then such provision shall continue in effect only to the extent that it remains valid. In the event that any provision of this Contract shall become legally unenforceable, in whole or in part, the remaining provisions of this Contract shall nevertheless remain in full force and effect.

1.9 Notice or Service. Any written notice required or allowed under the Contract shall be deemed to have been communicated to the other Party and service thereof shall be deemed to have been made if such notice is delivered in person to the individual, a member of the partnership or joint venture, or an officer of the corporation for whom it was intended, or if delivered at or sent by regular, registered, or certified mail to the last business address of the relevant person or Party known to the person or Party giving the notice, or to Contractor's Site office if the notice is directed to Contractor. Notice may be delivered by e-mail as long as a hard copy is mailed the same day to the relevant person by the methods noted above. The date or time of service for purposes of all notices required or allowed under the Contract shall be the date and/or time upon which the relevant document was mailed or delivered as above described. The address given in the Bid or Proposal by the Contractor is hereby designated as the legal business address of Contractor, but such address may be changed at any time by ten (10) days' prior notice in writing, delivered to Metro.

ARTICLE 2 CONTRACTOR

2.1 Responsibilities of the Contractor.

2.1.1 The Contractor will perform the Work as required by the Contract Documents, including but not limited to providing all labor, materials, equipment, tools, machines, and incidental work necessary for its performance. The Contractor will supervise and direct the Work using the Contractor's best skill and attention. Contractor is solely responsible for and will have control of all of the means and methods of construction. Contractor shall be responsible to Metro for the acts and omissions of the Contractor's employees, Subcontractors, and their agents and employees, and other persons or entities performing portions of the Work for or on behalf of the Contractor or any of its Subcontractors. Contractor shall perform or cause to be performed all labor, services, and Work of



whatever nature and shall provide or cause to be provided all materials, equipment, tools, and other facilities of whatever nature necessary to complete the Work and shall otherwise cause the Work to be completed in accordance with the Contract Documents.

2.1.2 Until the Work is completed and accepted by Metro, the Contractor is responsible for any damage it causes to either permanent or temporary work, utilities, materials, plants, and equipment, all of which must be repaired to the satisfaction of the Project Manager at the Contractor's expense. Damage caused by vandals must be covered by the Contractor's insurance. Damage to any portion of the Work that has been completed and accepted by Metro and that is open for public use is not the responsibility of the Contractor if caused by third persons, such as vandals.

2.1.3 It shall be the duty of Contractor to comply with all procedures established and/or implemented by Metro. In the event any such procedures are at variance with other provisions of these Documents, such procedures shall prevail.

2.2 Documents.

2.2.1 The Contractor will maintain at the Site for Metro one record As-Built copy of the drawings, plans, Specifications, Addenda, Change Orders, and other modifications, in good order and marked currently to record changes and selections made during construction, as well as one record copy of shop drawings that have been reviewed and are being used. These as-built documents shall incorporate all changes and substitutions to the Work, including without limitation changes or substitutions arising from Change Orders, construction change directives, and details clarified by requests for information, supplemental instructions, or approved shop drawings. The Contractor's as-built documentation shall be available to the Architect and Metro during the course of the Project.

2.2.2 The Contractor shall maintain all approved permit drawings in a manner that will make them accessible at the Project Site to governmental inspectors and other authorized agencies. All approved drawings shall be wrapped, marked, and delivered to Metro within 60 days of Substantial Completion.

2.2.3 The Contractor must continuously maintain at the Project Site all material safety data sheets, safety records, daily logs, and other Contract documentation necessary to immediately ascertain the safety of the Work and to establish compliance with life safety policies, hazardous materials requirements, and the Contract Documents.

2.2.4 The Contractor, with its Subcontractors, will prepare draft record Contract Documents showing all as-built conditions as required under this Section 2.2 and submit them to Metro for review. Based on Metro's review and comments, if any, and pursuant to Metro's close-out policies and procedures, Contractor will prepare and deliver to Metro within 60 days of Substantial Completion, final, accurate, and complete record Contract Documents, including without limitation record drawings and Specifications showing the exact "as-built" conditions of the Work.

2.3 Contractor's Authorized Representative. Prior to commencing any Work under this Contract, the Contractor shall appoint in writing an authorized representative or representatives. Such appointment shall include the name and title of each representative along with the extent to which each representative is authorized to represent, bind, and act for Contractor. The description of extent of representation shall include but not be limited to the maximum dollar value of Change Orders that the individual may authorize, whether the individual may respond to RFPs and for what maximum dollar amount, and whether the individual may submit a claim pursuant to Section 3.4.

2.4 On-Site Representation Required. Contractor shall at all times be represented at the Site by one or more of such authorized representatives who, cumulatively, shall have complete authority to represent, bind, and act for Contractor in all matters pertaining to or related to this Contract. In the event that Metro deems it reasonably necessary to take immediate actions at the Site pertaining or relating to this Contract and Contractor has failed to comply with this Section and is consequently not fully represented at the Site at such time, then Contractor shall be deemed to acquiesce in all actions so taken by Metro.

2.5 Contractor's Office at the Site. Prior to commencement of Work at the Site, Contractor shall establish a field office at the Site acceptable to the Project Manager. This office shall be located in a job trailer or temporary building. This office shall be the headquarters of Contractor's representatives authorized to receive notices, instructions, drawings, or other communications from the Project Manager on behalf of Metro or the Architect, and to act on Change Orders or other actions. Such notices, instructions, drawings, or other communications given to such a representative or delivered to Contractor's Site office in his/her absence shall be deemed to have been given to Contractor.

2.6 Use of the Site by Contractor. Contractor shall have complete and exclusive use of the premises for execution of the Work within the boundaries shown on the drawings. The Contractor's use of the premises is limited only by Metro's right to perform Work or to retain other contractors on portions of the Project. All construction activities, storage, staging, and Work shall be confined to the limits of Work, as per the drawings. Under no circumstances shall portions of the Site beyond the limits of Work be disturbed. The Contractor shall appropriately fence and maintain



barriers to confine limits of Work to those areas indicated on the drawings. All driveways and entrances to the Site shall remain clear and available to Metro and emergency vehicles at all times. The Contractor shall not use these areas for parking or storage of materials. The Contractor shall schedule delivery of materials to minimize space and time requirements for storage of materials and equipment on Site. The Contractor shall keep roadway pavement clean, free of mud, rocks, debris associated with materials, and vehicles. The Contractor shall coordinate use of the premises under the direction of the Architect and Owner. The Contractor shall assume all responsibility for the protection and safe keeping of the Site, structures, and products stored on the Site included in this Contract. At no cost to Metro, the Contractor shall move any stored products that interfere with operations of Metro or construction activities. The Contractor shall obtain and pay for the use of additional storage or Work areas needed for operations.

2.7 Review of Project Conditions. Prior to execution of the Contract, the Contractor will evaluate the conditions and limitations under which the Work is to be performed, including without limitation (i) the geographical and topographical location, condition, layout, and nature of the Project Site and surrounding areas; (ii) generally prevailing climatic conditions; (iii) anticipated labor supply and costs; (iv) availability and cost of materials, tools, and equipment; (vi) ease or difficulty of access to the Project Site by vehicles, equipment and workers; and (v) other similar issues. The Contractor shall be solely responsible for providing a safe place for the performance of the Work. Metro will not be required to make any adjustment to the Contract Time or the Contract Price in connection with any failure by the Contractor to have complied with the requirements of this Section.

2.8 Construction Staking. Contractor shall provide all necessary construction staking as to lines and grades shown on the drawings. Contractor shall protect and preserve all control points in their original position or be responsible for providing new control points established from Architect's original control points.

2.9 Construction Staging Area. Coordinate use of the Site with Owner prior to utilization of the area. Providing Site security, barriers, and other temporary protection is the responsibility of the Contractor. Limit all construction activities within the Work limits shown on the drawings. All areas disturbed in any way or during construction and not covered by roads, parking, or structures shall be rehabilitated to their pre-construction condition.

2.10 Key Personnel. Contractor shall submit, in writing, to Metro a list of the names, addresses, and telephone numbers of its key personnel who are to be contacted in case of emergencies on the job during non-working hours, including Saturdays, Sundays, and holidays, and all other key personnel as may be required.

2.11 Contractor's Employees and Subcontractors.

2.11.1 Contractor shall enforce strict discipline and good order among the Contractor's employees and other persons carrying out the Work. Contractor shall not permit employment of unfit persons or persons not properly skilled in tasks assigned to them. It is the Contractor's responsibility to hire all personnel for the proper and diligent performance of the Work, and the Contractor shall maintain labor peace for the duration of the Project. In the event of a labor dispute, the Contractor shall not be entitled to any increase in the Contract Sum.

2.11.2 Metro may notify the Contractor that it needs to exclude or remove from the Project Site any or all employees, agents, suppliers, or representatives of the Contractor or its Subcontractors who threaten the safety of others or who are disruptive to the Project or Metro's operations. The Contractor will supply replacement personnel promptly after receiving notice of exclusion or removal. Nothing in this Section requires the Contractor to take any particular employment or contract action with regard to an employee or Subcontractor.

2.11.3 Contractor shall give Metro, at its request at any time, full and correct information as to the number of workers employed in connection with each subdivision of the Work, the classification and rate of pay of each worker, the cost to Contractor of each class of materials, tools, and appliances used by it in the Work, and the amount of each class of materials used in each subdivision of the Work.

2.12 Contractor to Supply Sufficient Material and Workers. Contractor shall at all times keep on the premises sufficient material and employ sufficient supervision and workers to prosecute the Work at the rate necessary to substantially complete the Work within the time specified in the Contract and in accordance with the Construction Schedule. Contractor shall coordinate the Work of its Subcontractors so that information required by one will be provided by others involved in time for incorporation in the Work in proper sequence and without delay of any materials, devices, or provisions for future Work.

2.13 Construction Plant, Equipment, and Methods.

2.13.1 The construction plant and equipment provided by Contractor, and Contractor's methods and organization for handling the Work, shall be such as will secure a good quality of Work and rate of progress that will ensure the completion of the Work within the time specified, in accordance with the Construction Schedule, and without violating city, local, state, or federal environmental regulations during construction.

2.13.2 Contractor shall give Metro full information in advance as to Contractor's plans for carrying on any part of the Work. If at any time before the commencement or during the progress of the Work, any part of



Contractor's plant or equipment, or any of Contractor's methods of executing the Work, appear to Metro to be inadequate to ensure the required quality, environmental protection, or rate of progress of the Work, Metro may order Contractor to increase or improve its facilities or methods, and Contractor shall promptly comply with such orders. Neither compliance with such orders nor failure of Metro to issue such orders shall relieve Contractor from the obligation or liability to secure the quality of Work and the rate of progress required by the Contract. Contractor shall be responsible for overload of any part or parts of structures beyond their safe calculated carrying capacities and for release of pollutants into surrounding waters resulting from Contractor's activities on the Site.

2.13.3 Contractor shall provide temporary utilities pursuant to the Specifications and shall be responsible for the safety and adequacy of its plant, equipment, and methods.

2.14 Permits.

2.14.1 The Contractor, without additional expense to Metro, is responsible for obtaining and paying for any necessary fees, licenses, and Permits and for complying with any federal, state, and municipal laws, codes, and regulations applicable to the performance of the Work, unless expressly provided otherwise in other portions of the Contract Documents. Notwithstanding this Section, Metro will submit Contract Documents to the City of Portland and pay all plan check fees and building permit fees.

2.14.2 The Contractor understands that preliminary approval of Metro's plans and Specifications by regulatory agencies does not prohibit such agencies from requesting changes in order that the Work complies with the provisions of applicable codes, laws, and regulations. The Contractor agrees that a reasonable number of changes directed by regulatory inspectors is inherent in the nature of construction work and that its Bid includes the costs of making them. The Contractor will bear the expense of complying with the requirements of regulatory inspectors for a reasonable number of changes even if such requirements require different or additional Work than that originally contemplated by the Contract Documents.

2.15 Contractor's Temporary Structures. Contractor shall obtain all necessary permits for and shall erect and maintain at its own expense, and remove upon completion of the Work or as ordered by Metro, temporary structures, sheds, barriers, walks, hoisting equipment, scaffolds, etc., as are necessary for the Work pursuant to these Contract Documents. Contractor's temporary structures, equipment, stored materials, stored equipment, etc., shall be located so as not to interfere with the prosecution of the Work. If not so located, they shall be moved by Contractor, as directed by Metro, at no cost to Metro. Contractor's temporary structures, equipment, or materials that obstruct progress of any portion of the Work shall be removed or relocated by Contractor at Contractor's expense.

2.16 Compliance with Product Manufacturer's Recommendations. Unless otherwise directed by the Architect, the Contractor shall perform all Work in accordance with the product manufacturer's recommendations, Specifications, or directions for best results. No predatory step or installation procedure may be omitted unless specifically authorized by the Contract Documents or at the direction of the Architect. Conflicts among manufacturer's directions or the Contract Documents shall be resolved by the Architect.

2.17 Accounting Records.

2.17.1 The Contractor and Subcontractors shall maintain all fiscal records relating to this Contract in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. In addition, Consultant and sub-consultants shall maintain any other records necessary to clearly document:

2.17.1.1 The performance of the Contractor, including but not limited to Contractor compliance with Contract plans and Specifications, compliance with fair contracting and employment programs, compliance with Oregon law on the payment of wages and accelerated payment provisions, and compliance with any and all requirements imposed on Contractor or Subcontractor under the terms of the Contract or subcontract;

2.17.1.2 Any claims arising from or relating to the performance of Contractor or Subcontractor under this Contract;

2.17.1.3 Any cost and pricing data relating to the Contract; and

2.17.1.4 Payments made to all suppliers and sub-consultants.

2.17.1.5 The records described in this Section 2.17.1 are the Contract Records.

2.17.2 The Contractor and Subcontractors shall maintain the Contract Records for the longer period of (a) six years from the date of final completion of the Contract to which the Contract Records relate or (b) until the conclusion of any audit, controversy, or litigation arising out of or related to the Contract.

2.17.3 The Contractor and Subcontractors shall make Contract Records available to Metro and its authorized representatives, including but not limited to the staff of any Metro department and the staff of Metro's Auditor, within the boundaries of the Metro region, at reasonable times and places regardless of whether litigation has been filed on any claims. If the Contract Records are not made available within the boundaries of Metro, the Contractor or Subcontractor agrees to bear all of the costs for Metro employees, and any necessary consultants hired



by Metro, including but not limited to the costs of travel, per diem sums, salary, and any other expenses that Metro incurs in sending its employees or consultants to examine, audit, inspect, and copy those records. If Contractor elects to have such Contract Records outside these boundaries, the costs paid by Contractor to Metro for inspection, auditing, examining, and copying those records shall not be recoverable costs in any legal proceeding.

2.17.4 The Contractor and Subcontractors authorize and permit Metro and its authorized representatives, including but not limited to the staff of any Metro department and the staff of Metro Auditor, to inspect, examine, copy, and audit the books and records of Contractor or Subcontractor relating to this Contract, including tax returns, financial statements, other financial documents, and any documents that may be placed in escrow according to any Contract requirements. Metro shall keep any such documents confidential to the extent permitted by Oregon law.

2.17.5 The Contractor and Subcontractors agree to disclose the Contract Records requested by Metro and agree to the admission of such records as evidence in any proceeding between Metro and Contractor and Subcontractors, including but not limited to a court proceeding, arbitration, mediation, or other alternative dispute resolution process.

2.17.6 The Contractor and Subcontractors agree that in the event such Contract Records or any audit disclose that Metro is owed any sum of money or establish that any portion of any claim made against Metro is not warranted, Contractor and Subcontractors shall pay all costs incurred by Metro in conducting the audit and inspection. Such costs may be withheld from any sum that is due or that becomes due from Metro.

2.17.7 Failure of the Contractor or Subcontractors to keep or disclose Contract Records as required by this Contract or any solicitation document may result in debarment as a bidder or proposer for future Metro contracts as provided in ORS 279B.130 and Metro Code Section 2.04.070(c), or may result in a finding that the Contractor or Subcontractor is not a responsible bidder or proposer as provided in ORS 279B.110 and Metro Code Section 2.04.052.

ARTICLE 3

ADMINISTRATION OF THE CONTRACT

3.1 Authority and Relationships of Metro and Architect. Except as specifically provided in this Section, no individual other than the Metro Chief Operating Officer or the Project Manager, duly appointed as set forth below, shall have any authority to make representations, statements, or decisions of whatever nature binding Metro or Architect regarding any aspect of this Contract. Except as specifically provided in this Article, Contractor shall have no right to, and shall not rely on, any such representation, statement, or decision. Any reference to action by Metro in this Contract requires the written approval of the Metro Chief Operating Officer or the Project Manager designated in writing by the Metro Chief Operating Officer as having authority to act for Metro, but only to the extent that such authority is expressly delegated in writing.

3.2 Authority of Metro. The Work must be performed to the complete satisfaction of the Project Manager.

3.2.1 The decision of the Project Manager will be final, binding, and conclusive on the Contractor on all questions that arise regarding the quantity of materials and Work, the quality of materials and Work, the acceptability of materials furnished and Work performed, the acceptable rate of progress of the Work, the interpretation of the plans and Specifications, the measurement of all quantities, the acceptable fulfillment of the Contract on the part of the Contractor, and payments under the Contract.

3.2.2 Work will not be considered completed until it has passed final inspection by the Project Manager and is accepted by Metro. The authority of the Project Manager is such that the Contractor must at all times carry out and fulfill the instructions and directions of the Project Manager insofar as they concern the Work to be done under the Contract.

3.2.3 If the Contractor fails to comply with any reasonable order made under the provisions of this Section, the Project Manager may cause unacceptable Work to be remedied or removed and replaced, and unauthorized Work to be removed, and to deduct the costs thereof from any money due or to become due to the Contractor.

3.2.4 The Project Manager has the authority to suspend Work for cause as set forth in Section 3.5.

3.2.5 Metro may call for meetings of Contractor, Contractor's Subcontractors, and Suppliers as Metro deems necessary for the proper supervision and inspection of the Work. Such meetings shall be held at the Site on regular working days during regular working hours, unless otherwise directed by Metro. Attendance shall be mandatory for all Parties notified to attend.



3.2.6 Nothing in this Section or elsewhere in the Contract is to be construed as requiring the Project Manager to direct or advise the Contractor on the method or manner of performing any Work under the Contract. No approval or advice as to the method or manner of performing or producing any materials to be furnished constitutes a representation or warranty by Metro that the result of such method or manner will conform to the Contract, relieve the Contractor of any of the risks or obligations under the Contract, or create any liability to Metro because of such approval or advice.

An Architect, Engineer, designer, or other person hired by Metro under a separate contract is 3.2.7 not the Project Manager, unless the Contract Documents expressly state otherwise. The Contractor will be notified in writing if the Project Manager is to be changed.

3.2.8 Contractor has no right to and shall not rely on representations of whatever nature made by any individual, whether or not employed by or purporting to represent Metro, unless such individual has been specifically and expressly delegated authority to make such representations pursuant to these Contract Documents. Likewise, Contractor has no right to and shall not rely on any representations of authorized changes in the Contract of whatever size or nature unless such change is in writing and signed by Metro.

Nothing contained in this Section shall obligate Metro or Architect to supervise Contractor's 3.2.9 Work under this Contract, and Contractor shall remain fully responsible for the complete and proper supervision of all of the Work.

3.3 **Request for Information.** If the Contractor believes that the Work to be done or any of the matters relative to the Contract Documents are not sufficiently detailed or explained in the Contract Documents, or if the Contractor has any questions as to the meaning or intent of the Contract Documents, Contractor shall immediately submit to Architect and Metro a written Request for Information ("RFI") that shall fully describe the information sought.

3.3.1 The RFI shall be directed to the Project Manager and Architect. Subcontractors shall direct correspondence through the Contractor to the Project Manager and Architect. At a minimum the RFI shall contain: (1) project title, (2) identify the nature and location of each clarification/verification, (3) date, (4) response by and RFI number, (5) subject, (6) initiator of the question, (7) indication of the costs, (8) Contract drawings reference, (9) Contract Specification section, and (10) descriptive text and space for a reply. Each RFI shall be numbered sequentially beginning with #001, and a separate RFI shall be submitted for each item. Verbal discussions/clarifications for minor items can be addressed with the Architect by phone and the Contractor shall follow up with a confirming RFI.

3.3.2 It is Contractor's responsibility to request information under this Section in sufficient time for review by the Architect and Metro so that the orderly progress and prosecution of the Work is not delayed.

3.3.3 The Architect, in consultation with Metro, shall interpret the meaning and intent of the Contract Documents and shall issue, within five (5 working days of receiving an RFI from Contractor, a written Clarification describing such meaning and intent. Additionally, the Architect, after consulting with Metro, may at any time issue a written RFI as deemed necessary to carry out the Work included in the Contract Documents. Notwithstanding any dispute or disagreement that Contractor may have concerning any such RFI, Contractor shall perform the Work as prescribed and in accordance with all such RFI.

3.3.4 If notified by Metro or the Architect that an RFI is forthcoming, any related Work done before the receipt of the RFI shall be coordinated with Metro so as to minimize the effect of the RFI on Work in progress. Any related Work not coordinated with Metro or the Architect done before receipt of the RFI shall be at Contractor's risk and at no cost to Metro if that Work does not conform to the Clarification.

If Contractor proceeds with Work that is not sufficiently detailed or explained in the Contract 3.3.5 Documents without requesting and obtaining an RFI pursuant to this Section, Contractor shall do so at its own risk and shall, at no cost to Metro, perform any additional Work that may be required by Metro to bring the Work into conformance with the intent of the Contract Documents.

3.4 Contractor's Claims.

Generally. No claim by Contractor shall be considered or allowed under this Contract except 3.4.1 as specifically provided and prescribed under this Section. Failure to make a claim as specifically prescribed by this Section or failure to perform disputed Work, if any, as directed by Metro shall bar Contractor from any recovery or extension of time resulting from the facts surrounding the claim. Contractor's full and complete compliance with this Section shall be a condition precedent to any right of Contractor to further prosecute any claim against Metro arising out of or related to Work described in the Contract Documents. Every decision and action of Metro shall be considered final unless Contractor makes a claim concerning such decision or action pursuant to this Section. 3.4.2

Types of Claims. Contractor claims are limited to the following:

Claims based on Excusable Delays as described in Section 3.4.3. 3.4.2.1



3.4.2.2 Claims based on differing Site conditions as described in Section 3.4.4;

3.4.2.3 Claims based on Clarifications or Change Orders issued by Metro or any other decision, action, or failure to act by Metro as described in Section 3.4.5.

3.4.3 Claims For Excusable Delays.

3.4.3.1 <u>Definition of Excusable Delay</u>. A Delay is "Excusable" if such act, event, or condition has a materially adverse effect on the ability of Contractor to perform its obligations under this Contract as scheduled, and/or materially increases the cost to Contractor to perform such obligations as scheduled and if such act, event, or condition and its effect:

3.4.3.1.1 Are beyond the reasonable control of Contractor (or any third party for whom Contractor is directly responsible); and

3.4.3.1.2 Do not arise out of (a) strikes, labor disputes, or other labor difficulties involving Contractor or its Subcontractors or Suppliers or entities providing transportation to Contractor or its Subcontractors or Suppliers; (b) labor shortages; or (c) changing economic conditions; and

3.4.3.1.3 Could not have been reasonably anticipated by Contractor.

3.4.3.2 <u>Types of Excusable Delay Claims</u>. Excusable Delays are either Compensable or Non-compensable. Claims for Non-compensable Excusable Delays are limited to claims for extension of Contract Time. Contractor may claim both an increase in the Contract Amount and an extension of the Contract Time for Compensable Excusable Delays.

3.4.3.3 <u>Non-Compensable Excusable Delay Claims</u>. Delays resulting from the following acts, events, and conditions are Non-Compensable Excusable Delays:

3.4.3.3.1 An Act of God.

3.4.3.3.2 Unusually Persistent Severe Weather. No claim for extension of the Contract Time will be considered for Unusually Persistent Severe Weather unless Contractor submits documentation within 72 hours of the occurrence of the Unusually Persistent Severe Weather satisfactory to Metro establishing that the weather at the Project Site satisfied the definition of Unusually Persistent Severe Weather <u>and</u> that the delay could not have been avoided by either rescheduling the Work or implementing reasonable measures to protect against the weather so that the Work could proceed.

3.4.3.3.3 Acts of a public enemy, war (whether or not declared), or governmental intervention resulting therefrom, blockage, embargo, insurrection, riot, or civil disturbance.

3.4.3.3.4 The failure to issue or renew, or the suspension, termination,

interruption, or denial of, any permit, license, consent, authorization, or approval essential to the Work, if such act or event is not the result of the willful or negligent action or inaction of Contractor or of any third party for whom Contractor is directly responsible, and if Contractor is taking, has taken, or will cause to be taken, all reasonable actions in good faith to contest such action (it being understood that the contesting in good faith of any such action shall not constitute or be construed as a willful or negligent act of Contractor).

3.4.3.3.5 The failure of any appropriate federal, state, municipal, county, or other public agency or authority or private utility having operational jurisdiction over the Work or Site to provide and maintain utilities, services, water and sewer lines, and power transmission lines to the Site, that are required for and essential to the Work.

3.4.3.3.6 Epidemics or quarantines.

3.4.3.3.7 Material, equipment, or fuel shortages or freight embargoes.

3.4.3.3.8 Priorities or privileges established for the manufacture, assembly, or allotment of material by order, decree, or otherwise of the U. S. or by any department, bureau, commission, committee, agent, or administrator of any legally constituted public authority.

3.4.3.4 <u>Compensable Excusable Delay Claims</u>. Delays resulting from the following acts, events, and conditions are Compensable Excusable Delays:

3.4.3.4.1 Changes in the Work ordered by Metro if they require additional time to complete the Work and adversely impact the Critical Path.

3.4.3.4.2 The prevention by Metro of Contractor from commencing or prosecuting the Work.

3.4.3.4.3 Failure by the Architect to respond to a Request for Information within five (5) working days of submittal by the Contractor.

3.4.3.5 <u>Inexcusable Delays</u>. Delays resulting from the following acts, events, and conditions shall not result in Excusable Delays:



3.4.3.5.1 Any delay that could have been avoided by the exercise of care, prudence, foresight, and diligence on the part of Contractor.

3.4.3.5.2 Any delay in the prosecution of parts of the Work that may in itself be unavoidable but that does not necessarily prevent or delay the prosecution of other parts of the Work nor the Substantial Completion of the Work of this Contract within the time specified.

3.4.3.5.3 Any reasonable delay resulting from the time required by Metro for review of submittals or shop drawings submitted by Contractor and for the making of surveys, measurements, and inspections.

3.4.3.5.4 Any delay arising from an interruption in the prosecution of the Work on account of the reasonable interference from Other Metro Contractors that does not necessarily prevent the Substantial Completion of the Work of this Contract within the time specified.

3.4.3.5.5 Any delay resulting in any manner from labor disputes, strikes, or difficulties or any delay resulting in any manner from any labor-related event, act, or condition whether or not Contractor has any control over such event, act, or condition.

3.4.3.5.6 Any delays in delivery of equipment or material purchased by Contractor or its Subcontractors or Suppliers (including Metro-selected equipment. Contractor shall be fully responsible for the timely ordering, scheduling, expediting, delivery, and installation of all equipment and materials. 3.4.3.6 Excusable Delay Claims Procedure.

3.4.3.6.1 Contractor shall, within forty-eight (48) hours of the start of the

occurrence or Contractor's first knowledge of the occurrence that is the basis of the claim for Excusable Delay, whichever is earlier, notify Metro in writing of such delay. The written notice by Contractor shall indicate the cause of the delay and shall estimate the possible time extension requested. Within ten (10) days after the cause of the delay has been remedied, Contractor shall give written notice to the Project Manager of any actual time extension and, if the Excusable Delay is a Compensable Excusable Delay, any increase in the Contract Amount requested as a result of the aforementioned occurrence in accordance with this Contract. If Contractor believes that a single circumstance or set of facts gives rise to both a claim for an extension to the Contract Time and an increase in the Contract Amount, Contractor must state both such allegations in one written claim or waive the unstated allegation.

3.4.3.6.2 Submission of timely written notice as specified above shall be mandatory and failure to comply shall be a conclusive waiver to any claim for Excusable Delay by Contractor. Oral notice or statement will not be sufficient.

3.4.3.6.3 Within twenty-one (21) days after Contractor submits to the Project Manager such a written notice for an extension of Contract Time and/or increase in the Contract Amount, the Project Manager will issue the decision on each request. If Contractor is dissatisfied with such decision, Contractor may preserve its claim as provided and prescribed by Section 3.4.6.

3.4.4 <u>Claims for Differing Site Conditions</u>-- Contractor shall promptly, and before the conditions are disturbed, give written notice to the Project Manager of (i) subsurface or latent physical conditions at the Site that differ materially from those indicated in this Contract, or (ii) physical conditions at the Site that were unknown and not reasonably discoverable by means of the Review of Project Conditions required by Section 2.7, are of an unusual nature that differ materially from those ordinarily encountered and generally recognized as inherent in Work of the character provided for in the Contract. The Project Manager shall investigate the Site conditions promptly after receiving the notice. If the conditions do materially so differ as to cause an increase or decrease in Contractor's cost of, or the time required for, performing any part of the Work under this Contract, whether or not changed as a result of the conditions, an equitable adjustment shall be made and a Change Order issued. If Contractor is dissatisfied with the decision of the Project Manager under this Section, Contractor may preserve its claim as provided and prescribed by Section 3.4.6.

3.4.5 <u>Other Contractor Claims</u>-- Contractor claims based on Clarifications or Change Orders issued by Metro or any other decision, action, or failure to act by Metro shall be made according to this Section.

3.4.5.1 Contractor shall, within forty-eight (48) hours following discovery of the facts that give rise to its claim, notify the Project Manager in writing of its intent to make the claim. Within ten (10) days following discovery of the facts that give rise to its claim and prior to commencing the Work or conforming to the Clarification on which the claim is based, if any, Contractor shall submit its formal written claim to the Project Manager. Contractor's formal claim shall include a description of:

3.4.5.1.1 The factual occurrences upon which Contractor bases the claim including the decision, action, or failure to act by Metro or its authorized representatives that allegedly give rise to the claim;



3.4.5.1.2 How Metro's decision, action, or failure to act has affected Contractor's performance or otherwise affected Contractor;

3.4.5.1.3 Whether the claim is for an extension in the Contract Time or increase in the Contract Amount, or both, and the specific extension or increase requested;

3.4.5.1.4 The provisions of the Contract upon which the claim is based. 3.4.5.2 Submission of written notice of intent to make a formal claim as specified above shall be mandatory and failure to comply shall be a conclusive waiver to any claim by Contractor. Oral notice or statement will not be sufficient nor will notice or statement after commencing the Work in question.

3.4.5.3 After the written notification is submitted by Contractor (if the claim is not resolved or withdrawn in writing) and only upon written direction by the Project Manager, Contractor shall proceed without delay to perform the Work pursuant to the direction of the Project Manager. While the Work on an unresolved claim is being performed, Contractor shall keep track of costs and maintain records in the manner set forth in the section on Force Account Work, at no cost to Metro. Such notice by Contractor and the fact that Contractor is keeping track of costs and maintaining records shall not in any way be construed as proving the validity of the claim nor the costs thereof.

3.4.5.4 Provided the claim or claims have been submitted in accordance with the requirements of this Section, the Project Manager will consider and investigate the claim or claims of Contractor. Within twenty-one (21) days of receipt of the above-described written notification of claim, the Project Manager will advise Contractor of the Project Manager's decision to accept or reject the claim or claims, in full or in part. If Contractor is dissatisfied with the decision of the Project Manager under this Section, Contractor may preserve its claim as provided and prescribed by Section 3.4.6.

3.4.6 <u>Preservation of Claims</u> -- Within thirty (30) days after a rejection of a claim, in whole or in part, by Metro under Sections 3.4.3, 3.4.4 or 3.4.5, Contractor may preserve its claim by submitting a fully documented claim package to the Metro Procurement Officer. That package shall include substantiating documentation with an itemized breakdown of Contractor and Contractor's Subcontractors' costs on a daily basis that shall include but not be limited to labor, material, equipment, supplies, services, Overhead, and Profit. All documentation that Contractor believes is relevant to the claim shall be provided in the claim package, including without limitation payroll records, purchase orders, quotations, invoices, estimates, correspondence, profit and loss statements, daily logs, ledgers, and journals. Failure to submit the claim package in full compliance with this requirement and/or maintain cost records as herein required will constitute a waiver of the claim. If Contractor elects to pursue any claims by filing a lawsuit against Metro, it must commence such lawsuit within six (6) months after the date of Substantial Completion. Failure to commence a lawsuit within this time limitation shall constitute a waiver of all such claims by Contractor.

3.5 Metro's Right to Stop, Perform, or Delete Work.

3.5.1 If the Contractor fails to correct Work not in conformance with the Contract or fails to carry out Work in accordance with the Contract, Metro may issue a written order to the Contractor to stop all or part of the Work until the deficiency set forth in the order has been corrected. Metro has no duty to exercise this right for the benefit of anyone other than Metro.

3.5.2 If the Contractor refuses or fails to comply with the Contract, Metro may correct any deficiency or defect or perform Work that the Contractor has failed to perform, or take other appropriate action, without prejudice to any other remedy Metro may have under the Contract. Before taking that action, Metro will provide the Contractor and its sureties with seven days' written notice of its intentions, unless an emergency or dangerous condition exists, in which case the action may be taken without notice. If Metro performs part of the Contractor's Work, corrects deficiencies, or is required to take action as a result of an emergency or dangerous condition, Metro will deduct the cost of that action from any payment then or thereafter due the Contractor. If the cost of Metro's action exceeds any sums held by Metro and otherwise payable to the Contractor, the Contractor agrees to reimburse Metro for any excess costs.

3.5.3 Metro has the right to delete Work from this Contract, and the Parties agree that such action does not constitute a breach of contract. Therefore, Metro may delete Work from the Contract and perform it with its own forces or have such Work performed by another Contractor. If Work is deleted from the Contract, the cost of performing such Work will be deducted from the Contract Amount to be paid to the Contractor. Any objection to the change in Contract Amount must be processed as a claim as required by Section 3.4.5.

3.5.4 Metro's rights as stated in this Section 3.5 are in addition to and do not limit Metro's other rights or remedies.

3.6 Metro's Right to Adjust Payments.

3.6.1 <u>Adjusted Payments for Delay</u>. Time is of the essence in this Contract. Metro and Contractor understand and agree that Metro will be damaged if Contractor fails to substantially complete the Work within the



Contract Time, and that Metro will be vulnerable to further damages if Metro is obligated to continue paying Contractor for Work performed after the Contract Time has expired. It is therefore agreed that upon the expiration of the Contract Time, Metro may adjust its payments to Contractor by any combination of the following: (1) making no further payments to Contractor until the Work is substantially complete; (2) paying the Subcontractor costs incurred by Contractor without any overhead, profit, or fee of any kind going to Contractor; and/or (3) collection of liquidated damages as designated in the Contract. Permitting Contractor to continue and finish the Work or any part thereof after the Contract Time has expired shall not waive any of Metro's rights under this Section or the balance of the Contract Documents.

3.6.2 <u>Adjusted Payments Not a Bar to Metro's Right to Other Damages</u>. Payment of adjusted payments shall not release Contractor from obligations in respect to the complete performance of the Work, nor shall the payment of such adjusted payments constitute a waiver of Metro's right to collect any additional adjusted payments that it may sustain by failure of Contractor to fully perform the Work, it being the intent of the Parties that the aforesaid adjusted payments be full and complete payment only for failure of Contractor to complete the Work on time. Metro expressly reserves the right to make claims for any and all other damages that Metro may incur due to Contractor's failure to perform in strict accordance with this Contract.

3.7 Mediation. Both Parties shall endeavor to negotiate resolutions to all disputes arising out of this Contract. Any controversy or claim arising out of or relating to this Contract that remains unresolved after such negotiations shall be submitted to mediation prior to the commencement of litigation.

3.7.1 The mediator shall be an individual mutually acceptable to both Parties. Should the Parties disagree on the selection of a mediator, the Parties shall look to the local circuit court or the Oregon Dispute Resolution Commission. Each Party shall pay its own costs for the time and effort involved in mediation. The cost of the mediator shall be split equally between the two Parties.

3.7.2 Both Parties agree to exercise their best effort in good faith to resolve all disputes in mediation. Participation in mediation is a mandatory requirement on both Metro and Contractor. The schedule and time allowed for mediation shall be mutually acceptable. The mediation process is nonbinding.

3.7.3 Contractor agrees to consolidation of any mediation between Metro and Contractor with any other mediation involving, arising from, or relating to this Contract.

3.8 Litigation. All disputes not resolved by mediation shall be decided exclusively by a court of competent jurisdiction in Multnomah County under the laws of the state of Oregon.

3.9 Work to Continue Notwithstanding Dispute. In no event shall submission of a dispute arising out of this Contract by either Party relieve Contractor of its obligation to fully perform the requirements of the Contract as directed by Metro pending resolution of the dispute pursuant to the procedures set forth in this Article. In the event Contractor, in Metro's opinion, fails to fully perform the requirements of the Contract pending resolution of a dispute, Metro shall be entitled to exercise its rights to impose adjusted payments pursuant to Section 3.6, and/or terminate the Contract pursuant to Article 15 of these General Conditions.

ARTICLE 4

SUBCONTRACTING AND ASSIGNMENT OF THE CONTRACT

4.1 Subcontracting. Contractor shall arrange and delegate its Work in conformance with trade practices and union regulations, if applicable, but shall remain responsible to Metro for performance of all Work required or implied by the Contract Documents. Contractor shall also be responsible for coordinating the efforts of its Subcontractors and Suppliers.

4.2 Objection to Subcontractors or Suppliers. Metro reserves the right to make reasonable objection to any of Contractor's Subcontractors or Suppliers if Metro discovers any data or information at any time during the performance of the Contract that gives Metro a basis for such reasonable objection. Metro will notify Contractor in writing if Metro has any reasonable objection to any of Contractor's Subcontractors or Suppliers. Contractor shall not subcontract with any Subcontractor or Supplier to which Metro has made a reasonable objection. In the event of Metro's reasonable objection to any Subcontractor or Supplier, Contractor shall propose another entity to which Metro has no reasonable objection.

4.3 Substitution, Change, or Addition of Subcontractors or Suppliers. At any time that Contractor intends to substitute, change, or add a Subcontractor or Supplier during the performance of the Contract, Contractor shall give Metro prior written notice of such intention. Contractor shall not substitute, change, or add any such Subcontractor or Supplier if Metro gives Contractor reasonable objection in writing within ten (10) days after Metro receives such notice.



4.4 Removal of Subcontractors at Request of Metro. When any Subcontractor fails to prosecute a portion of the Work in a satisfactory manner, Metro may so notify Contractor. If the Subcontractor fails to cure the unsatisfactory Work promptly, Contractor shall remove such Subcontractor immediately upon written request of Metro and Contractor shall request approval from Metro of a new Subcontractor to perform this section of the Work at no increase in the Contract Amount, and with no change in the Contract Time.

4.5 Metro Not Obligated to Detect Unsatisfactory Work. Nothing contained in this Contract shall obligate Metro or place on Metro an affirmative duty to detect or discover unsatisfactory Work or materials of Contractor's Subcontractors or Suppliers. Failure of Metro to detect or discover such unsatisfactory Work or materials shall not relieve Contractor of any of its obligations under this Contract.

4.6 No Contractual Relationships Between Metro and Contractor's Subcontractors and Suppliers. Nothing contained in this Contract is intended nor shall be construed to create any contractual or third party beneficiary relationship between Metro and any of Contractor's Subcontractors, Suppliers, or agents, save and except in relation to the Labor and Materials Payment Bond.

4.7 Contractor's Agreements with Subcontractors.

4.7.1 Contractor shall provide in all subcontract and supply agreements that the Subcontractor or Supplier will be bound by the terms and conditions of this Contract to the extent that they relate to the Subcontractor's or Supplier's Work. Contractor shall require each Subcontractor to enter into similar agreements with sub-tier Subcontractors and Suppliers. Contractor shall make available to each proposed Subcontractor and Supplier, prior to the execution of the subcontract or supply agreement, copies of the Contract Documents that apply to the Work and materials to be provided by the Subcontractor or Supplier. Subcontractors and Suppliers shall similarly make copies of applicable portions of such documents available to their respective proposed sub-tier Subcontractors and Suppliers.

4.7.2 All Subcontractor and Supplier agreements shall also provide that they are assignable to Metro at Metro's option, in the event that Metro terminates the Contract. Contractor will provide to Metro a copy of all subcontracts and supply contracts for permanent materials.

4.7.3 The Contractor will provide Metro with copies of all of its subcontracts, purchase orders, and supply agreements relating to the Work upon Metro's request within three (3) business days of the request.

4.8 Assignment. Contractor shall constantly give its personal attention to the faithful prosecution of the Work. Contractor shall keep the Work under its personal control and shall not assign any or all of Contractor's rights, by power of attorney or otherwise, nor delegate any of its duties except with the prior written approval of the Metro Council.

ARTICLE 5

TIME OF COMPLETION AND SCHEDULE FOR THE WORK

5.1 Prosecution of Work Generally. Contractor shall commence the Work within five (5) days after issuance of written Notice to Proceed from Metro and will diligently prosecute the Work to its Final Completion and Acceptance. The start of Work shall include attendance at preconstruction conferences, preparation and submittal of shop drawings, equipment lists, Schedule of Values, CPM construction schedules, requests for substitutions, and other similar activities, as described by these Contract Documents.

5.2 Time of Completion.

5.2.1 Contractor shall bring the Work to Substantial Completion within the Contract Time as set forth in the Construction Agreement.

5.2.2 The time limits stated in these Contract Documents are of the essence of this Contract. By executing the Construction Agreement, Contractor confirms that the Contract Time is a reasonable period for performing all of the Work.

5.2.3 Failure of Contractor to substantially complete the Work within the Contract Time and according to the provisions of these Contract Documents shall subject Contractor to liquidated damages pursuant to the applicable sections of these Contract Documents.

5.3 Extensions of Time. Extensions of the Contract Time shall be made pursuant to the procedure and according to the provisions and requirements contained in Articles 3 and 8 of these Contract Documents.

5.4 Project Scheduling. Contractor shall submit to Metro a detailed Construction Schedule for completion of the Work pursuant the Specifications following the Critical Path method. The Construction Schedule shall, when approved and as updated and approved by Metro, become a part of the Contract Documents.

5.5 Use of Completed Parts of the Work Before Acceptance.

5.5.1 Metro may decide to use part of the Work that has been completed before completion of all the Work required by the Contract. If that occurs, Metro will notify the Contractor in writing of its intention.



5.5.2 When use of part of the Work by Metro begins, the Contractor is:

5.5.2.1 Relieved of the duty of maintaining and protecting that portion of the Work, provided that it has been completed in accordance with the Contract.

5.5.2.2 Relieved of responsibility for injury or damage to the portion of Work used by Metro from use by public traffic or from the action of the elements of nature or from any other cause, except injury or damage resulting from the Contractor's own operations or from its negligence.

5.5.2.3 Relieved of the responsibility of cleaning up that portion of the Work before final acceptance, unless the Contractor's own operations require such cleanup.

5.5.3 Use by Metro of a part of the Work as described in this Section does not constitute final acceptance of the Work as a whole or in any part.

ARTICLE 6

COORDINATION WITH OTHER METRO CONTRACTORS

6.1 Other Metro Contractors Generally. Metro reserves the right to award other contracts in connection with the Work. Contractor shall allow such Other Metro Contractors reasonable opportunity for storage of their materials and execution of their Work, shall ensure that the execution of Contractor's Work properly connects and coordinates with Work of all Other Metro Contractors, and shall cooperate with Other Metro Contractors to facilitate the Work in such a manner as Metro may direct. Connection between the Work of the Contractor and Other Metro Contractors will be the responsibility of the Party that is last in time to construct, unless otherwise directed in the Contract Documents.

6.2 Duty to Inspect Other Metro Contractors' Work. Where Contractor's Work is associated with that of Other Metro Contractors, or is to interface in any way with such Other Metro Contractors' Work, Contractor shall examine, inspect, and measure the adjacent or in-place Work of such Other Metro Contractors. If Contractor determines that any defect or condition of such adjacent or in-place Work will impede or increase the cost of Contractor's performance or otherwise prevent the proper execution of Contractor's Work, Contractor shall immediately, and before performing any Work affected by the Other Metro Contractors' work, submit an RFI to Metro pursuant to Section 3.3. If Contractor proceeds without examining or inspecting the Work and submitting a Request for Information, Contractor shall be held to have accepted the Other Metro Contractors' Work or material and the existing conditions, shall be responsible for any defects in Contractor's Work resulting therefrom, and shall not be relieved of any obligation or any warranty under this Contract because of any such condition or imperfection. This provision shall be included in any and all of Contractor's subcontracts for Work to be performed.

6.3 Latent Defects in Other Contractor's Work. Section 6.2 does not apply to latent defects. Contractor shall report latent defects in any Other Metro Contractors' Work at any time such defects become known or Contractor should have known, and Metro shall promptly thereafter take such steps as may be appropriate. If Contractor in the exercise of reasonable care should have known of such defects but did not report them, such defects shall not be considered latent.

6.4 Duty to Maintain Schedule. It shall be the responsibility of Contractor to maintain its schedule so as not to delay the progress of the Project or the Work of Other Metro Contractors. Contractor is required to cooperate in every way possible with Other Metro Contractors. Except as otherwise specifically provided in this Contract, no additional compensation will be paid for such cooperation. If Contractor delays the progress of the Project or the progress of Other Metro Contractors, it shall be the responsibility of Contractor to take all of the steps necessary to bring the affected Work into compliance with any affected schedules and to indemnify Metro from all liability for such delays pursuant to Article 11. Metro shall be under no duty to monitor or detect any delays of Contractor or any Other Metro Contractor or any lack of coordination on the Project. Consequently, the failure of Metro to so monitor or detect shall not be construed as relieving Contractor of its duties to fully perform all of its obligations under the Contract.

6.5 Failure to Maintain Schedule.

6.5.1 If, in the opinion of Metro, Contractor falls behind the Construction Schedule or delays the progress of Other Metro Contractors and is not entitled to an extension of time pursuant to the Contract Documents, Contractor shall perform all steps that are necessary, in the opinion of Metro, to bring Contractor's Work into compliance with the Construction Schedule or to remedy any delay to the progress of Other Metro Contractors. Contractor shall submit operation plans to Metro that shall fully demonstrate the manner of intended compliance with this Section. The steps referred to above shall include but not be limited to:

6.5.1.1 Increased manpower in such quantities and crafts as will substantially eliminate the backlog of Work.



6.5.1.2 Increase, when permitted, the number of working hours per shift, shifts per working day, working days per week, or the amount of equipment or any combination of the foregoing, sufficient to eliminate the backlog of Work.

6.5.1.3 Reschedule activities to achieve maximum practical concurrence of accomplishment of activities.

6.5.1.4 Expedite delivery of materials and equipment, such as use of airfreight.

6.5.2 If Metro directs Contractor to take measures described in this Section, or if Contractor takes such measures without direction from Metro, Contractor shall bear all costs of complying. Metro shall, however, reimburse Contractor for reasonable costs of complying if such directive to accelerate from Metro was issued to overcome delay caused by the acts or omissions of Metro or persons acting for Metro, provided Contractor has complied with all applicable provisions of Articles 3 and 8 of these General Conditions.

6.5.3 Failure to maintain the construction schedule or to take action to regain the schedule or to furnish a schedule as outlined in the Specifications may result in withholding all or part of the monthly progress payments.

6.6 Failure to Coordinate Work. If Contractor fails to coordinate its Work with the Work of Other Metro Contractors as directed by Metro, Metro may, upon written notice to Contractor:

6.6.1 Withhold any payment otherwise due hereunder until Contractor complies with Metro's directions.

6.6.2 Direct others to perform portions of the affected Work and charge the cost of such Work against the Contract Amount or deduct the cost from sums held in Retainage.

6.6.3 Terminate any or all portions of the Work for Contractor's failure to perform in accordance with the Contract.

6.7 Other Metro Contractors' Failure to Coordinate. If Contractor determines that any Other Metro Contractor on this Project is failing to coordinate its Work with the Work of Contractor, Contractor shall notify Metro immediately and before performing any affected Work.

6.8 Conflicts Among Contractors. Any difference or conflict that may arise between Contractor and Other Metro Contractors in regard to their Work shall be adjusted as determined by Metro. If directed by Metro, Contractor shall suspend any part of the Work specified or shall carry on the same in such a manner as may be prescribed by Metro when such suspension or prosecution is necessary to facilitate the Work of Other Metro Contractors.

6.9 Coordination Drawings. Contractor shall prepare coordination drawings as determined necessary by Metro to satisfactorily coordinate and interface its Work with the Work of all Other Metro Contractors, thereby avoiding conflicts that may arise.

6.10 Furnished by Owner, Installed by Contractor ("FOIC") Items.

6.10.1 <u>Owner Responsibilities for FOIC Items</u>. Owner-furnished products/items are indicated on the drawings as FOIC items. Owner's responsibilities include: (1)arrangement for and delivery of necessary shop drawings, product data, and samples to the contractor; (2) arrangement of and payment for Product delivery to the Site; (3) delivery of Suppliers' bill of materials to Contractor; (4) inspection of deliveries jointly with the Contractor and recording shortages of and damaged or defective items; (5) submission of claims for transportation damage; (6) arrangement for replacement of damaged, defective, or missing items; and (7) arrangement for manufacturers' warranties, bonds, service, and inspections as required. Owner is responsible for scheduling all FOIC items in accordance with Contractor's Construction Schedule.

6.10.2 <u>Contractor Responsibilities for FOIC Items</u>. The following outlines the responsibilities of the Contractor for FOIC items: (1) designating a delivery date for each item in the Construction Schedule; (2) reviewing shop drawings, product data, and samples; (3) immediately notifying the Project Manager of any discrepancies or problems anticipated in the use of the product; (4) reviewing and unloading products at the Site; (5) promptly inspecting products jointly with Owner and recording shortages and damaged or defective items; (6) handling products at the Site, including uncrating and storage; (7) protecting products from exposure to elements and damage; (8) assembling, installing, connecting, adjusting, and finishing product as stipulated in the Specifications; and (9) repairing or replacing items damaged by Contractor.

6.11 Conferences. At any time during the progress of the Work, Metro shall have authority to require Contractor to attend any conference of any or all of the Contractors engaged in the Project or related projects.

6.11.1 <u>Project Meetings</u>. The Contractor will schedule and chair meetings and conferences at the Project Site unless otherwise indicated. Contractor will inform participants and other individuals whose presence is required of the date and time of each meeting. The Contractor shall prepare an agenda, distribute to all attendees, and



prepare minutes that reflect significant discussions and agreements achieved. Meeting minutes shall be distributed to everyone concerned, including Metro, within three (3) days of the meeting.

6.11.2 <u>Pre-construction Conference</u>. The Contractor will schedule a pre-construction conference prior to start of construction. The meeting will be scheduled at a time convenient to Metro and Architect, but no later than five (5) days after execution of the Contract. The conference will be held at the Project Site or another convenient location. The purpose of the meeting is to review responsibilities and personnel assignments. Attendees will include authorized representatives of Metro, Architect and its consultants, Contractor and its superintendent, major subcontractors and suppliers, and other concerned parties. All participants shall be familiar with the Project and be authorized to conclude matters relating to the Work. The agenda shall include tentative construction schedule, phasing, critical Work sequencing and long-lead items, designation of key personnel and their duties, procedures for processing field decisions and Change Orders, procedures for RFIs, procedures for testing and inspecting, procedures for processing applications for payment, distribution of Contract Documents, submittal procedures, preparation of record documents, use of premises, Work restrictions, Owner's occupancy requirements, responsibilities for temporary facilities and Site protection, construction waste management and recycling, parking availability, office, Work, and storage areas, equipment deliveries and priorities, first aid, security, progress cleaning, and working hours.

6.11.3 <u>Pre-installation Conferences</u> – Contractor will conduct a pre-installation conference at the Project Site before each construction activity that requires coordination with other construction and includes installation of FOIC items. Contractor is responsible for conducting these meetings, which shall occur on the same date as progress meetings, if possible. Attendees shall include the installers and representatives of manufacturers and fabricators involved in or affected by the installation and its coordination with other materials or installations. Agenda items will include Contract Documents, options, related RFIs, related Change Orders, purchases, deliveries, submittals, review of mock-ups, possible conflicts, compatibility problems, time schedules, weather limitations, manufacturers' written recommendations, warranty requirements, compatibility of materials, acceptability of materials, temporary facilities and controls, space and access limitations, regulations of authorities having jurisdiction, testing and inspecting, installation procedures, coordination with other Work, required performance results, protection of adjacent Work, and protection of the Site and its elements. The Architect shall record significant conference discussions, agreements, and disagreements, including corrective action measures and action.

ARTICLE 7

CONTROL AND QUALITY OF WORK AND MATERIAL

7.1 Quality Control.

7.1.1 <u>Generally</u>. Contractor has the primary responsibility for quality control. Contractor will provide continuous superintendence and inspection to insure that the Work is completed in accordance with the plans and Specifications. During the performance of the Work, Metro, the Architect, Special Inspectors, and any representatives of federal, state, and local agencies having jurisdiction over the Work may enter the Project Site, the shops where any part of the Work is being prepared, or the factories or sites where any materials for use in the Work are being or will be manufactured or derived. Contractor shall provide proper and safe facilities for such inspections, and shall make arrangements with manufacturers or other suppliers to facilitate inspection of their processes and products to such extent as Metro's interest may require. No claims for extension of the Contract Time or increase in the Contract Amount shall be allowed for any access allowed to Metro under this Section.

7.1.2 <u>Quality Control Plan</u>. Contractor shall prepare and submit a Quality Control Plan to the Project Manager within thirty (30) days following the Notice to Proceed. The Plan will describe the Contractor's procedures for implementing the Quality Control Plan. The Plan shall include without limitation the Quality Control organization, inspection procedures, tests anticipated, materials control, contingency plans related to fire protection and remediation of contaminated releases or other environmental improvement, and reports. Metro reserves the right to accept, reject, or modify the Quality Control Plan. Contractor will submit an interim Quality Control Plan prior to the start of Work to cover the first thirty (30) days of construction.

7.1.3 <u>Quality Control Manager</u>. Prior to initiation of construction, Contractor shall designate in writing a Quality Control Manager who shall be responsible for coordinating Contractor's Quality Control Program. The individual so designated shall be the interface with the Project Manager on matters relating to submittals, inspection, scheduling, unacceptable Work product, and corrective actions. Metro reserves the right to accept or reject the Quality Control Manager designated by Contractor.

7.2 Inspection. Contractor has the primary responsibility for providing inspection and testing, except as otherwise set forth in the Specifications. Metro and its agents will also inspect at their discretion or as outlined in the Specifications.



7.2.1 <u>Generally</u>. At all times during construction of the Work, Contractor shall permit Metro, the Architect, and Special Inspectors, or any representatives of federal, state, and local agencies having jurisdiction over the Work, to visit and monitor the progress of the Work for conformance of the Work with the Contract Documents.

7.2.2 <u>Special Inspections</u>.

7.2.2.1 At all times during construction of the Work, Contractor shall permit Metro, the Architect, and Special Inspectors, or any representatives of federal, state, and local agencies having jurisdiction over the Work, to visit and inspect the Work, the materials and the manufacture and preparation of such materials, and subject the Work and materials to inspection and testing to determine if the Work conforms to the requirements of the Contract Documents. Contractor shall maintain proper facilities and safe access for all such inspections.

7.2.2.2 The Contractor is responsible for scheduling and coordination of special inspections. Contractor shall be diligent in scheduling special inspections and make every effort to combine special inspections to avoid unnecessary budget impacts.

7.2.2.3 The Contract Documents or regulatory agencies may require that portions of the Work be observed, reviewed, tested, or inspected before they are obscured or covered. Similarly, upon request, the Project Manager is entitled to observe portions of the Work before they are covered or obscured. Contractor shall be solely responsible for notifying Project Manager at least two (2) working days prior to performing such Work so that necessary arrangements for inspection and testing can be made. If the Contractor covers or obscures a portion of the Work that is required or requested to be observed, it will uncover the Work for observation and bear any cost associated with that activity without a change in Contract Time.

7.2.2.4 The Project Manager may request to see a portion of the Work that has been covered regardless of the requirements of the Contract Documents, regulatory agencies, or a prior request. Thereafter the Contractor must comply with Metro's request. If, on inspection by the Project Manager, the portion of the Work that is uncovered is found to be in accordance with the Contract Documents, Metro will bear all costs associated with that activity and provide additional Contract Time if that activity would cause the Contractor to incur liquidated damages. But if, upon inspection by the Project Manager, the portion of the Work that is uncovered is found not to be in accordance with the Contractor will correct the Work and bear any cost associated with that activity without a change in Contract Time. Metro retains the right at any time during construction, or at any time during production, fabrication, or preparation of the Work, to test samples to determine whether they meet the requirements of the Contract Documents. Metro may test any sample, regardless of prior certification, and regardless of whether any prior certification was required. Metro may either conduct the test with its own forces or hire other persons to perform this Work.

7.2.2.5 Metro retains the right at any time during construction, or at any time during production, fabrication, or preparation of the Work, to test samples to determine whether they meet the requirements of the Contract Documents. Metro may test any sample, regardless of prior certification, and regardless of whether any prior certification was required. Metro may either conduct the test with its own forces or hire other persons to perform this Work.

7.2.2.6 If a sample is to be tested prior to its incorporation into the Work, the Contractor may not incorporate the material, product, part, or equipment into the Work until testing is completed and Metro gives permission for its use.

7.2.2.7 Metro will bear the costs of testing unless the tests show that the material, product, part, or equipment failed the test and did not conform to the requirements of the Contract, in which case the Contractor will bear the costs of testing.

7.2.2.8 If the sample was previously incorporated into the Work and testing shows that the sample does not meet the requirements of the Contract Documents, the Contractor will pay for the test and for replacing and repairing any equipment, materials, products, or portion of the Work in order to meet the requirements of the Contract Documents.

7.2.3 <u>Notice to Metro for Certain Work Days</u>. Whenever Contractor intends to perform Work on Saturday, Sunday, or any legal holiday, it shall give written notice to Metro of such intention at least two (2) working days prior to performing such Work, or such other period as may be specified by Metro, so that Metro may make the necessary arrangement for testing and inspection.

7.2.4 <u>Correction of Defective Work Before Acceptance</u>. Any defective Work or Work that otherwise fails to conform to the Contract Documents that is discovered before Final Completion and Acceptance of the Work, shall be corrected immediately by Contractor, and any unsatisfactory materials shall be rejected and replaced with satisfactory materials, notwithstanding that they may have been overlooked by the authorized inspector. The



inspection of the Work by Metro, the Architect, or any other agency shall not relieve Contractor of any of its obligations to perform fully all of the terms and provisions of the Contract Documents.

7.2.5 <u>Acceptance Not Implied by Failure to Object</u>. Failure or neglect on the part of Metro or any of its authorized representatives to condemn or reject defective, improper, or inferior Work or materials shall not be construed to imply a final acceptance of such Work or materials and shall not be construed as relieving Contractor of its duties to perform fully all requirements of the Contract Documents.

7.2.6 Replacement and correction of defective Work before the Work is completed and accepted is not limited by any warranty period otherwise established by the Contract.

7.3 Unsatisfactory Materials and Workmanship.

7.3.1 <u>Generally</u>. Material, Work, or workmanship that, in the opinion of the Project Manager, does not conform to the Contract Documents, or is not equal to the samples submitted to and approved by the Project Manager, or is in any way unsatisfactory or unsuited to the purpose for which it is intended, will be rejected. Contractor shall bear the cost of correcting or removing, as deemed necessary by Metro, all non-conforming materials, defective Work, or unsatisfactory workmanship. Contractor shall make a close inspection of all materials as delivered, and shall promptly replace all defective materials with conforming materials without waiting for their rejection by Metro.

7.3.2 <u>Removal of Rejected or Non-Conforming Work or Material</u>. All rejected material or Work, and all defective or non-conforming Work or material, shall be removed from the Site without delay. If Contractor fails to do so within forty-eight (48) hours after having been so directed by Metro, the rejected material may be removed by Metro and the cost of removal charged against Contractor and deducted from Retainage held by Metro or offset against payments due Contractor, at Metro's option. If in the judgment of Metro it is undesirable or impracticable to replace any defective or non-conforming Work or materials, the compensation to be paid to Contractor shall be reduced by Change Order or Force Account, as applicable, by such amount as, in the judgment of Metro, shall be equitable.

7.4 General Warranty of Contractor. Contractor warrants to Metro that materials and equipment provided under the Contract will be of good quality and new unless otherwise required or permitted by the Contract Documents, that the Work will be free from defects and contaminants not inherent in the quality required or permitted, and that the Work will conform with the requirements of the Contract Documents. Work not conforming to these requirements, including substitutions not properly approved and authorized, may be considered defective. Contractor's warranty excludes remedy for damage or defect caused by abuse, modifications not executed by Contractor, improper or insufficient maintenance, improper operation, or normal wear and tear under normal usage. If required by Metro, Contractor shall furnish satisfactory evidence as to the kind and quality of materials and equipment. The warranty made by Contractor under this Section shall be in addition to any other specific warranties and certifications required elsewhere in these Contract Documents.

7.5 Third-Party Warranties.

7.5.1 The Contractor shall obtain from Subcontractors, manufacturers, and suppliers guarantees and warranties according to the Contract Documents with the optimum terms and longest periods reasonably obtainable. The documentation must also include all maintenance and operational documentation required to sustain said warranties.

7.5.2 All guarantees or warranties of materials furnished to the Contractor or Subcontractor by any manufacturer or supplier shall be deemed to run for the benefit of the Owner.

7.5.3 As a condition of Substantial Completion of the Project by the Owner, the Contractor shall deliver to the Owner via the Architect three (3) bound volumes of all guarantees and warranties on material furnished by all manufacturers and suppliers to the Contractor and all its Subcontractors, with duly executed instruments properly assigning the guarantees and warranties to the Owner. The guarantees and warranties in each bound volume shall be grouped together by trade and properly indexed. The Contractor shall assign to the Owner, and shall deliver to the Owner, all manufacturers' warranties not later than the date of Substantial Completion.

7.6 Subcontractor Warranties. The Contractor shall and does hereby assign to the Owner the benefits of all warranties and guarantees of all Subcontractors, but such assignment shall not relieve the Contractor of its warranty obligations to the Owner under these General Conditions and other Contract Documents.

7.7 Correction of Work by Contractor.

7.7.1 Any portion of the Work that does not conform to the requirements of the Contract is unacceptable or defective and must be removed and corrected by the Contractor, even if it is contended that Project Manager or other assigned personnel knew or should have known of the existence of the unacceptable Work. This obligation includes defective Work discovered during construction and within one (1) year after the date of Substantial Completion.



7.7.1.1 All portions of the Work that do not conform to the requirements of the Contract Documents must be corrected within a reasonable time at the Contractor's sole expense and without an extension of Contract Time.

7.7.1.2 Metro may replace or correct Work within a reasonable time if the Contractor fails to do so and may charge the Contractor with all reasonable costs incurred while performing that Work, as well as the costs of storing any salvageable materials or equipment. If that occurs, Metro is also entitled to deduct such costs from any sums otherwise due the Contractor.

7.7.1.2.1 If salvageable materials, equipment, or both are stored, Metro will notify the Contractor of the storage and give the Contractor ten days to remove the materials. If the Contractor fails to remove them by the end of that time, Metro may sell them in any commercially reasonable manner, whether privately or publicly.

7.7.1.2.2 If sale is made, Metro will keep all proceeds to the extent that the proceeds do not exceed the costs incurred in correcting and replacing the Work and in storing the materials and equipment. The Contractor will pay Metro any difference in costs that may remain after the sale. If the proceeds exceed Metro's cost, however, it will forward those sums to the Contractor.

7.7.2 In the case of equipment manufactured by others and supplied and/or installed by Contractor, the one (1)-year period shall commence upon the date of first beneficial operation of such equipment by Metro. In the case of Work that is corrected or replaced by Contractor, the one (1)-year period shall commence again on the date of acceptance by Metro of such corrected or replaced Work. Testing shall not be construed to mean acceptance.

7.7.3 If Metro does not require correction or replacement of defective Work or Work failing to conform to the Contract Documents, Contractor, if required by Metro, shall repay to Metro such portion of the Contract Amount as is equitable under the circumstances, as determined by Metro.

7.7.4 Contractor's responsibilities under this Section shall not extend to correction or replacement of defects that are attributable to mistreatment by Metro or to normal wear and tear.

7.8 Warranty and Correction Agreements by Subcontractors.

7.8.1 <u>Generally</u>. In addition to any requirements for written warranties required by the Specifications, Contractor shall require all of its Subcontractors and Suppliers of any tier to make the same warranty to Metro as Contractor makes under Section 7.4. Contractor shall also require all of its Subcontractors and Suppliers of any tier to agree to correct or replace defective Work or Work not conforming to the Contract Documents, and to take full responsibility for defective materials in the same manner as Contractor agrees to correct or replace such Work

under Section 7.5. 7.8.2 Form of Submissions. Contractor shall require all of its Subcontractors and Suppliers of any tier to sign documents evidencing the promises made pursuant to Section 7.8.1 above and shall submit such documents to Metro with its request for Final Payment. Such documents shall be signed by both Contractor and the applicable Subcontractor or Supplier and shall be in the form attached as Exhibit 1 to these General Conditions.

7.9 Remedies Not Exclusive. The remedies provided for in this Article shall not be exclusive, but are in addition to all other remedies of Metro with respect to latent defects, frauds, or failure to perform all Work as required by the Contract Documents.

7.10 Proof of Compliance with Contract Provisions. For Metro to determine whether Contractor has complied or is complying with the requirements of the Contract that are not readily enforceable by inspection and test of the Work, Contractor shall, upon request, promptly submit to Metro such properly authenticated documents as may be necessary to demonstrate compliance with the Contract or other satisfactory proof of its compliance with such requirements.

7.11 Patents, Copyrights, Trademarks. All fees or costs of claims for any patented invention, article, or arrangement or any copyrights or trademarks that may be used upon or in any manner connected with the performance of the Work or any part thereof, shall be included in the Bid or Proposal for doing the Work. Contractor shall save, keep, hold harmless, and fully indemnify Metro and Architect from all damages, claims for damage, lawsuits, costs, expenses, or liabilities of whatever nature in law or equity, including attorney fees and court costs, that may at any time arise or be set up for any infringement of the patent rights, copyrights, or trademarks of any person or persons in consequence of the use by Metro of articles to be supplied under the Contract and of which Contractor is not the patentee or assignee or has not the lawful right to sell the same. This is in addition to all other hold-harmless and indemnification clauses in these Contract Documents.

7.12 Anti-Trust Claims.

7.12.1 By entering into this Contract, Contractor, for consideration paid to Contractor under the Contract, does irrevocably assign to Metro any claim for relief or cause of action that Contractor now has or that may



accrue to Contractor in the future, including at Metro's option, the right to control any such litigation on such claim for relief or cause of action, by reason of any violation of 15 USC Section 1-15, ORS 646.725, or ORS 646.730 in connection with any goods or services that are used, in whole or in part, for the purpose of carrying out Contractor's obligations under this Contract.

7.12.2 Contractor shall require all Subcontractors and Suppliers to irrevocably assign to Metro, as a third-Party beneficiary, any right, title, or interest that has accrued or may accrue to the Subcontractors or Suppliers by reason of any violation of 15 USC Section 1-15, ORS 646.725, or ORS 646.730, including, at Metro's option, the rights to control any litigation arising hereunder, in connection with any goods or services provided to the Subcontractors or Suppliers by any person, in whole or in part, for the purpose of carrying out the Subcontractors' or Suppliers' obligations as agreed to by Contractor in pursuance of the completion of the Contract. Contractor shall require all Subcontractors and Suppliers to Execute the Assignment of Antitrust Claims attached as Exhibit 2 to these General Conditions as part of Contractor's subcontract with Subcontractor or Supplier.

7.12.3 In connection with Contractor's, Subcontractors' or Suppliers' assignment, it is an express obligation of Contractor, Subcontractor, or Supplier that it will take no action that will in any way diminish the value of the rights conveyed or assigned hereunder to Metro. It is an express obligation of Contractor, Subcontractor, or Supplier to advise the Office of Metro Attorney:

7.12.3.1 In advance, of its intention to commence any action on its own behalf regarding such claims for relief or causes of action;

7.12.3.2 Immediately, upon becoming aware of the fact that an action has been commenced on its own behalf by some other person or persons, of the impendency of such action; and

7.12.3.3 The date on which it notified the obligor(s) of any such claims for relief or causes of action of the fact of its assignment to Metro.

7.12.4 In the event that any payment under any such claim is made to Contractor, Subcontractor, or Supplier, it shall promptly pay over to Metro its proportionate share thereof, if any, assigned to Metro under this Section 7.12.

ARTICLE 8 CHANGES IN THE WORK

8.1 Change Orders Generally.

8.1.1 Metro and the Contractor mutually agree that changes in plans, quantities, or details of the Work are inherent in the nature of construction and may be necessary or desirable. Therefore, without impairing the Contract, Metro reserves the right to require changes determined necessary or desirable to complete the proposed construction within the general scope of the Work provided for in the Contract or to order extra Work if that is required. Performance of changed or extra Work will not invalidate the Contract or release the Contractor's surety from its obligations. Changes to the Contract Amount, if any, as a result of the performance of changed or extra Work must be made pursuant to this Article 8.

8.1.2 The only authorized method for increasing or changing the amount of compensation, increasing the amount of Contract Time, or changing the scope of Work to be performed is through the execution of a written Change Order.

8.1.3 Change Orders must be executed in advance when any changed or extra Work for which additional compensation is due will be performed, unless the Work is Force Account Work.

8.1.4 Metro may, at its discretion, also require the signature of Contractor's surety on the Change Order. Prior to the approval of such Change Order, the Architect shall have approved any design modifications entailed thereby.

8.1.5 Agreement on any Change Order shall constitute a final settlement of all matters relating to the changes in the Work that are the subject of the Change Order, including without limitation all direct and indirect costs associated with such change, and any and all adjustments to the Contract Sum or Contract Time.

8.2 Procedure for Determining Impact of Change Orders on Contract Amount.

8.2.1 <u>Price before Proceeding</u>. If Metro intends to order changes in the Work, it may request a proposal by Contractor for the proposed added or deleted Work before directing Contractor to commence Work. Within fourteen (14) days after issuance of such request by Metro, Contractor shall furnish three (3) copies of a complete breakdown of costs of both credits and additions directly attributable to the change in the Work proposed, itemizing materials, labor, taxes, effect on Contract Time, if any, and Overhead and Profit on a form approved by Metro and in accordance with the limitations described in the following Section. Subcontract Work shall be so indicated and written proposals from Subcontractors or Suppliers shall be included with similar breakdowns provided. Following



submission of its cost breakdown, Contractor shall meet with Metro to discuss all aspects of scope, costs, scheduling, and construction methods.

8.2.2 <u>Proceed While Pricing</u>. If Metro finds it necessary to make changes in the Work in an expeditious manner, it may direct Contractor to proceed with the change while preparing a proposal for the added or deleted Work. In such an instance, Metro may assign an estimated value to the change that Contractor shall not exceed without further authorization by Metro. Within fourteen (14) days after issuance of such by Metro, Contractor shall furnish three (3) copies of a complete breakdown of costs of both credits and additions directly attributable to the change in the Work proposed, itemizing materials, labor, taxes, effect on Contract Time, if any, and Overhead and Profit on a form approved by Metro and in accordance with the limitations described in the following Section. Subcontract Work shall be so included with similar breakdowns provided. Following submission of its cost breakdown, Contractor shall meet with Metro to discuss all aspects of scope, costs, scheduling, and construction methods.

8.2.3 <u>Unit Prices</u>. If the proposed additional or deleted Work is the subject of Unit Prices stated in the Contract Documents or subsequently agreed upon, such Unit Prices shall be binding upon Contractor in calculating the increase or decrease in the Contract Amount attributable to the proposed additional or deleted Work.

8.3 Limitations when Change Orders Impact Contract Amount. The following limitations shall apply in the calculation of the costs of changes in the Work:

8.3.1 Overhead and Profit.

8.3.1.1 Contractor will be permitted a reasonable allowance for Profit and Overhead on its increased Direct Cost resulting from any changes in the Work ordered by Metro. Likewise, Profit and Overhead will be deducted for any portion of the Work that is deleted. In the case of a change involving both credits and extras, Overhead and Profit shall be applied to the net extra after subtraction of credits.

8.3.1.2 Overhead and Profit for the entity performing the Work with its own crews shall not exceed ten percent (10%) of the Direct Cost of the changed Work.

8.3.1.3 Overhead and Profit for Contractor or Subcontractor who has had the Work performed by a lower tier Subcontractor shall not exceed five percent (5%) of the Direct Cost of the changed Work.

8.3.1.4 If the Work is performed by a second-tier Subcontractor, the total Overhead and Profit for all tiers shall in no event exceed twenty percent (20%) of the Direct Cost of the changed Work. Distribution of this Overhead and Profit among the tiers is the responsibility of Contractor.

8.3.2 <u>Taxes and Insurance</u>. Federal, state, regional, county, and local taxes, including but not limited to income taxes, excise taxes, sales and use taxes, and payroll taxes and insurance shall be shown separately, will be allowed on extras, and shall be credited on credits. No Overhead and Profit will be allowed on taxes and insurance.

8.3.3 <u>Bond Premiums</u>. The actual rate of bond premium as paid on the additional Direct Cost plus the cost of taxes defined in 8.3.2 will be allowed. No Overhead and Profit will be allowed on such premiums.

8.3.4 <u>Equipment Costs</u>. The allowance for equipment costs (both rental and Contractor-owned equipment) shall be limited to those rates in the Rental Rate Bluebook published by Dataquest Incorporated, 1290 Ridder Park Drive, San Jose, California 95131-2398, (800) 227-8444.

8.4 Force Account Work.

8.4.1 If Contractor does not respond to Metro's Request for Proposal with a cost breakdown within the fourteen (14)-day period as required above, or if Metro determines that Contractor's breakdown of costs is unreasonable in consideration of the Work proposed to be added or deleted, or if Metro determines that the proposed Work must be commenced promptly to avoid delay to the Project, Metro may issue an order for Force Account Work and Contractor shall promptly perform or delete the Work described in such order. Change, if any, in the Contract Amount due to such Force Account Work shall be the sum total of the following items:

8.4.1.1 Actual labor cost, including premium on worker's compensation insurance and charge for social security taxes, and other taxes pertaining to labor.

8.4.1.2 The proportionate cost of premiums of public liability property damage and other insurance applicable to the extra Work involved and required by these Contract Documents.

8.4.1.3 Actual cost of material, including applicable taxes pertaining to materials.

8.4.1.4 Actual cost of plant and equipment rental, at rates to be agreed upon in writing before the Work is begun or at rates per Section 8.3.4 above. No charge for the cost of repairs to plant or equipment will be allowed. Equipment items having a capital cost of under \$250.00 are considered small tools and classified as Overhead.

8.4.1.5 Overhead and Profit as provided and limited in Section 8.3.



Documents.

8.4.1.6 The proportionate actual costs of premiums for bonds required by these Contract

8.4.2 Whenever any Force Account Work is in progress, each working day Contractor shall furnish to Metro a detailed written report signed by Contractor and Project Manager of the amount and cost of all of the items listed in (1) through (6) above, and no claim for compensation for such extra Work will be allowed unless such report shall have been made. Metro reserves the right to provide such materials as it may deem expedient, and no compensation, overhead, or profit will be allowed to Contractor for such materials.

8.5 Contractor Proposals for Changes in Work.

8.5.1 Generally. At any time during the performance of the Work, Contractor may propose to Metro changes in Work that Contractor believes will result in higher quality Work, improve safety, shorten the Contract Time, decrease the Contract Amount, or otherwise result in better or more efficient Work.

8.5.2 Purpose. Metro encourages Contractor to submit Value Engineering Change Proposals ("VECPs") in order to avail Metro of potential cost savings that may result. Contractor and Metro will share any savings, computed in accordance with this Section 8.5. Contractor is encouraged to submit VECPs whenever it identifies an area that can be improved, using the format described herein.

Application. This clause applies to a Contractor-developed and documented VECP that: 8.5.3 (1) requires a change to this Contract to implement the VECP, and (2) reduces the Contract Price without impairing essential functions or characteristics of the Work, provided it is not based solely on a change in specified quantities.

8.5.4 Documentation. At a minimum, the following information shall be submitted by Contractor with each VECP: (1) description of the existing requirements of the Contract Documents that are involved in the proposed change; (2) description of the proposed change; (3) discussion of differences between existing requirements and the proposed change, together with advantages and disadvantages of each changed item; (4) itemization of the requirements that must be changed if the VECP is accepted (e.g., drawing numbers and Specifications); (5) justification for changes in function or characteristics of each such affected item and effect of the change on the performance of the end item; (6) effect of proposed change on life-cycle costs, including operation and maintenance, replacement costs, and life expectancy; (7) date or time by which a Change Order adopting the VECP must be issued in order to obtain the maximum cost reduction, noting any effect on Contract Time or delivery schedule; and (8) cost estimate for existing Contract requirements correlated to its lump sum breakdown and proposed changed requirements. Costs of development and implementation by Contractor shall be identified. Estimated Metro costs

(e.g., cost of testing and redesign) shall also be identified.

8.5.5 Submission. Proposals will be processed expeditiously: however. Metro will not be liable for any delay in acting upon any proposal submitted pursuant to this clause. Contractor shall have the right to withdraw, in whole or in part, any VECP at any time prior to acceptance by Metro.

Acceptance. Metro may accept, in whole or in part, by Change Order, any VECP submitted 8.5.6 pursuant to this clause. Until a Change Order is issued, Contractor shall remain obligated to perform in accordance with this Contract. The decision as to acceptance or rejection of any VECP will be at the sole discretion of Metro and will be final and not subject to review by mediation or otherwise.

8.5.7 Sharing. If a VECP submitted by Contractor pursuant to this clause is accepted, Contractor shall proceed with the change and the Contract Price will be adjusted in accordance with the following provisions: 8.5.7.1

Definitions:

8.5.7.1.1 Estimated Gross Savings to Contractor ("GS"): The difference between cost of performing the Work according to the existing requirement and the cost if performed according to the proposed change. In each instance, Contractor's profit shall not be considered part of the cost.

8.5.7.1.2 Contractor Costs ("CC"): Reasonable costs incurred by Contractor in preparing the VECP and making the change such as cancellation or restocking charges where required.

8.5.7.1.3 Estimated Net Savings to Contractor ("NS"): GS less CC.

8.5.7.1.4 Metro's Costs ("OC"): Reasonable costs incurred by Metro for evaluating and implementing the VECP, such as testing and redesign, where required.

8.5.7.2 Calculations:

8.5.7.2.1 The Contract Price shall be reduced by an amount equal to 70 percent of NS plus 50 percent of OC.

8.5.7.2.2 Contractor's profit will not be reduced by application of the VECP.

Subcontracts. Contractor shall include appropriate value engineering incentive provisions in 8.5.8 all subcontracts of \$25,000 or greater. Contractor may include such provisions in any agreement. Subcontracts shall contain a provision that any benefits accruing to Contractor as a result of an accepted VECP initiated by a



Subcontractor shall be shared by Contractor and Subcontractor. To compute any adjustment in the Contract Price under Section 8.5.7.2 above, Contractor's costs of preparation and charge for a VECP shall include any preparation and change costs. Examples are cancellation or restocking charges, when required.

8.6 Impact of Authorized Changes in the Contract. Changes in the Work made pursuant to this Article and extensions of the Contract Time allowed by Metro due to such changes shall not in any way release any warranty or promises given by Contractor pursuant to the provisions of the Contract Documents, nor shall such changes in the Work relieve or release the sureties of bonds executed pursuant to said provisions. The sureties, in executing such bonds, shall be deemed to have expressly agreed to any such change in the Work and to any extension of Contract Time made by reason thereof.

ARTICLE 9 PAYMENTS AND COMPLETION

9.1 Scope of Payment. Payment to Contractor of the Contract Amount for performing all Work required under the Contract, as adjusted for any Change Orders approved as hereinbefore specified, shall be full compensation for furnishing all labor, materials, equipment, and tools necessary to the Work, and for performing and completing, in accordance with these Contract Documents, all Work required under the Contract, and for all expenses incurred by Contractor for any purpose in connection with the performance and completion of said Work. Whenever it is specified in the Contract that Contractor is to do Work or provide materials of any class for which no price is fixed in the Contract, Contractor will do such Work or provide such materials without extra charge or allowance or direct payment of any sort, and that the cost of doing such Work or providing such materials is included in its Bid or Proposal.

9.2 Schedule of Values.

9.2.1 <u>Generally</u>. Within fifteen (15) days after the Notice to Proceed, Contractor shall submit a detailed breakdown costs itemized per Construction Specification Institute division format. The format and detail of the breakdown shall be as directed by Metro. This breakdown shall be referred to as the Schedule of Values.

9.2.2 <u>Review of Schedule of Values</u>. Metro will review the Schedule of Values to ascertain that the dollar amounts of the Schedule of Values are in fact fair cost allocations for the Work item listed. Upon concurrence by Metro, a formal approval of this Schedule of Values will be issued. Metro shall be the sole judge of fair cost allocations. Contractor's monthly progress payment requests shall reflect the cost figures included in the approved Schedule of Values and shall be based on completed Work items or percentages of Work items completed prior to the end of the payment period as more fully described below.

9.3 Progress Payment Procedure.

9.3.1 <u>Generally</u>. Subject to the approval of Metro, disbursements shall be made by Metro of progress payments upon written request of Contractor and pursuant to the Contract Documents as specified in Section 9.3.2.

9.3.2 Before the end of each calendar month, Contractor shall file with the Project Manager in duplicate on a form approved by Metro, a proposed payment estimate for the period commencing on the 26th day of the previous month through midnight on the 25th day of the calendar month in question. Metro and the Architect shall review Contractor's estimate and shall determine the value of Contractor's Work based on the Schedule of Values and incorporated labor and materials for the payment period. Contractor shall not be paid for any Work that is, in Metro's opinion, defective or improper, or for Work needed to correct Contractor's defective or improper Work. Contractor shall be paid 95 percent (95%) of the determined value of Work accomplished, less any offset or withholding of sums by Metro allowed under the Contract Documents, within thirty (30) days after receipt by Metro of Contractor's payment estimate. Metro will routinely withhold five percent (5%) as Retainage. No inaccuracy or error in any monthly progress payment estimates shall operate to release Contractor or its surety from damages arising from such Work or from the enforcement of each and every provision of the Contract Documents, and Metro shall have the right subsequently to correct any error made in any estimate for progress payments.

9.3.3 <u>Retainage</u>.

9.3.3.1 Metro will withhold Retainage from each payment at a rate of five percent (5%) in accordance with ORS 279C.570.

9.3.3.2 All funds retained by Metro under this Section shall be retained in a fund by Metro and paid in accordance with ORS 279C.550 to 279C.580.

9.3.3.3 Contractor may elect to deposit bonds or securities of the type described below with Metro or in any bank or trust company to be held in lieu of the cash Retainage described above and for the benefit of Metro. In such event, Metro shall reduce the Retainage in an amount equal to the value of the bonds and securities



and shall pay the amount of the reduction to Contractor in accordance with ORS.279C.570. Interest on such bonds or securities shall accrue to Contractor. Bonds and securities deposited or acquired as described above shall be of a character approved by the Metro Director of Finance & Regulatory Services including but not limited to:

9.3.3.3.1 Bills, certificates, notes, or bonds of the United States.

9.3.3.3.2 Other obligations of the United States or its agencies.

government.

9.3.3.3.4 Indebtedness of the Federal National Mortgage Association.

Obligations of any corporation wholly owned by the federal

9.3.3.4 Contractor may elect to require Metro to deposit the accumulated Retainage in an interest bearing account in a bank, savings bank, trust company, or savings association for the benefit of Metro. Interest on such an account shall accrue to Contractor.

9.3.3.5 If Metro incurs additional costs as a result of Contractor's exercise of any of the above-described options, Metro may recover such costs from Contractor by reduction of the Final Payment. Metro shall inform Contractor of all such accrued costs.

9.3.4 Payment for Material Stored Off Site. Payment for material stored off of the Site will not be allowed unless the payment for such material benefits Metro in terms of lead time, scarcity, schedule, etc. Metro has sole discretion as to what materials will be paid for in advance of delivery to or installation on Site. Proof of off-site material purchases (invoice or checks and photo documentation) and appropriate insurance coverage will be required for payment. Title to all equipment and materials shall pass to Metro upon payment therefore or incorporation into the Work, whichever shall first occur, and Contractor shall prepare and execute all documents necessary to effect and perfect such transfer of title. Contractor must provide to Metro written consent from Contractor's surety approving the advanced payment for materials stored off-site. The maximum prepayment allowed by Metro shall be 75 percent of the actual fair market value of the item being considered. Metro shall be the sole judge of fair market value. Contractor shall protect stored materials from damage, and damaged or otherwise unacceptable materials, even though paid for, shall not be incorporated into the Work.

9.3.5 Other Conditions Precedent to Payment.

9.3.3.3.3

9.3.5.1 It is a condition precedent to Contractor's rights to any payments under the Contract that all bills for labor and materials, including labor and materials supplied by or to Contractor, shall have been paid in full and, if requested by Metro, Contractor shall submit receipted invoices and/or lien waivers, as evidence of payment in full of all such accounts. As a further condition precedent to Contractor's right to any payments under this Contract, Contractor shall submit a claims release before any payment in the form set forth in Exhibit 3 to these General Conditions, and a final claims release stating Contractor has been paid in full prior to the Final Payment in the form set forth in Exhibit 4 to these General Conditions.

9.3.5.2 Payments to Contractor shall be conditioned upon Contractor complying with all provisions of this Contract regarding scheduling and progress reports submissions and upon Contractor furnishing all other information and data necessary to ascertain actual progress. Metro's determination that Contractor has failed or refused to furnish the required information, data, schedules, or other reports shall constitute a basis for withholding all payments until the required information, data, revised schedules, and diagrams, if necessary, and other reports are furnished.

9.3.6 <u>Payment Does Not Imply Acceptance of Work</u>. The granting of any progress payment, or the receipt thereof by Contractor, shall not constitute acceptance of the Work or any portion thereof, and shall in no way lessen the liability of Contractor to replace unsatisfactory Work or material, though the unsatisfactory character of such Work or material may or may not have been apparent or detected at the time such payment was made.

9.3.7 <u>Offset of Sums Due Metro from Contractor</u>. In addition to any retention rights allowed Metro under this Contract, it is mutually understood and agreed that Metro may, upon prior written notice to Contractor, offset from any payment otherwise due Contractor as much as may be necessary to protect and compensate Metro from any costs or expenses it may incur due to any breach of the Contract by Contractor, including applicable liquidated damages. Any sums so offset shall become the property of Metro.

9.4 Substantial Completion.

9.4.1 Metro is also entitled to occupy or use all or a portion of the Work on Substantial Completion. Occupancy or use on Substantial Completion does not constitute Metro's acceptance of the Work not complying with the requirements of the Contract Documents, nor does it waive rights Metro has to completion of the Contract in accordance with the requirements of the Contract Documents.



9.4.1.1 When Contractor considers the Work to be substantially complete, Contractor shall submit to Metro a written notice that the Work is substantially complete

9.4.2 Within a reasonable time after receipt of such notice, Metro and Architect will review the Work, including a physical inspection, to determine the status of completion. Should the Architect and Metro determine that the Work is not substantially complete:

9.4.2.1 The Project Manager will promptly notify Contractor in writing, giving the reasons therefore.

9.4.2.2 The Contractor shall remedy the deficiencies in the Work, and thereafter send a second written notice of Substantial Completion to Metro.

9.4.3 The above-described procedure shall be followed until the Work is, in the opinion of Metro and Architect, substantially complete. At that point:

9.4.3.1 The Architect will prepare a Certificate of Substantial Completion on AIA Document G704, accompanied by the approved Punch List of items to be completed or corrected as verified and amended by the Architect.

signature.

9.4.3.2 Metro shall submit the Certificate of Substantial Completion to Contractor for

9.4.4 <u>Punch List</u>. When the Work is substantially complete, the Contractor shall prepare a Punch List of items to be completed or corrected for review and approval by Metro and the Architect. The Architect shall be responsible for preparing the final Punch List. The Contractor remains responsible to complete the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents regardless of whether an item is omitted from the Punch List.

9.4.4.1 The Contractor is required to proceed promptly to complete the items on the Punch List and any other items that may be discovered to be incomplete or incorrect regardless of whether they are on the Punch List or not. If the Contractor fails to complete the Punch List within 30 days or such other time as Project Manager may allow, Metro may terminate any further services of the Contractor under the Contract and complete the Punch List items remaining to be completed or corrected with Metro's own forces or by hiring another Contractor to perform the Punch List Work. Costs of performing the Punch List Work by Metro will be deducted from any payments otherwise due the Contractor.

9.4.4.2 The Contractor will notify Metro when the Punch List Work is complete, and Final Payment will then be made in accordance with. After receipt of that Notice, Metro will inspect the Work to determine whether the Punch List is complete as provided in Section 9.5 of these General Conditions.

9.4.4.3 If the Work is not complete despite the Contractor's notice that the Punch List items are complete, and Metro has hired an Architect or Engineer to assist it on the Project, the Contractor will pay costs for the Architect's or Engineer's services if more than two inspections of the Work are required because the Punch List remains incomplete.

9.4.4.4 On Substantial Completion, Metro will be responsible for utilities, insurance, security, maintenance, and damage to Work caused by Metro's agents and employees unless otherwise provided in the Certificate of Substantial Completion. The Contractor remains responsible for damage to Work caused by its Subcontractors, agents, and employees during the performance of Punch List Work.

9.5 Final Completion and Acceptance.

9.5.1.4

9.5.1 When Contractor considers the Work to be finally complete, Contractor shall submit written certification to Metro that:

9.5.1.1 Contract Documents have been reviewed.

9.5.1.2 Work has been inspected for compliance with Contract Documents.

9.5.1.3 Work has been completed in accordance with Contract Documents to include submission of record documents.

Equipment systems have been tested in the presence of Metro and are

operational.

9.5.1.5 Work is ready for final inspection.

9.5.2 Architect and Metro will promptly review the Work and include a physical inspection to verify the status of completion and shall inform Metro of the conclusions. Metro shall, within fifteen (15) days after receipt of Contractor's certification, either accept the Work or notify Contractor of the Work yet to be performed on the Contract as outlined below.

9.5.3 Should the Architect and Metro consider that the Work is incomplete or defective:

9.5.3.1 Project Manager or the Architect will promptly notify Contractor in writing, listing the incomplete or defective Work.



9.5.3.2 Contractor shall take immediate steps to remedy the stated deficiencies, and send a second written certification to Metro that the Work is complete. Metro will then advise the Architect.

9.5.3.3 Architect and Metro will review and re-inspect the Work.

9.5.4 The procedure set forth in Section 9.5.3 shall be followed until the Work is, in the opinion of Metro and Architect, finally complete. Contractor shall immediately thereafter prepare and submit Closeout Submittals as described below.

9.6 Closeout Submittals. Contractor shall submit the following items, as applicable, with its request for Final Payment:

9.6.1 Evidence of Compliance with Requirements of Governing Authorities.

9.6.2 Project record documents in accordance with the Specifications.

9.6.3 Operation and maintenance data in accordance with the Specifications.

9.6.4 Warranties in accordance with requirements of various Specification sections and these

General Conditions.

9.6.5 Extra stock and maintenance materials. Contractor shall submit receipts, signed by Metro, for the various specific items.

9.6.6 Evidence of payment and release of claims in accordance with the following section.

9.6.7 Consent of surety to Final Payment.

9.6.8 Certificates of insurance for products and completed operations in accordance with Article 12 of these General Conditions.

9.6.9 If Contractor is a non-resident bidder or proposer, complete documentation of Contractor's compliance with ORS 279A.120.

9.7 Releases. Contractor and each assignee under any assignment in effect at the time of Final Payment shall execute and deliver, at the time of application for Final Payment, as a condition precedent to Final Payment, discharging and releasing Metro and the Architect of and from all liabilities, obligations, and claims arising under this Contract. The Final Release shall be in the form attached as Exhibit 4 to these General Conditions. In addition to the above-described release, Contractor shall:

9.7.1 Submit to Metro an affidavit certifying that Contractor has paid all federal, state and local taxes including excise, use, sales, and employee withholding taxes.

9.7.2 Deliver to Metro written releases of all rights to file claims against Metro or to file claims on any bonds in connection with the Contract, signed by each Subcontractor and Supplier who performed labor or furnished materials in connection with the Work. The release shall be in the form attached as Exhibit 5 to these General Conditions.

9.7.3 Deliver to Metro Contractor's written undertaking, with sureties acceptable to Metro:

9.7.3.1 To promptly pay and obtain a release of claims on any bonds that may in the future affect the premises; and

9.7.3.2 To defend, indemnify, and save Metro harmless from any liability or expense because of any claim on any bond or any other claim related to the Contract or the Work.

9.8 Final Payment. Upon application of Contractor and Contractor's completion of and compliance with all of the provisions of the above Sections and settlement of all claims arising from the Contract, including claims that Metro may have against Contractor, Metro shall pay Contractor the balance of the Contract Amount subject to the availability of monies and less any previous payments, offsets, and withholdings allowed Metro under this Contract, and Retainage that has been returned to Contractor. Acceptance of Final Payment by Contractor shall constitute a waiver of all claims of whatever nature that Contractor may have or allege to have against Metro arising out of or related to Work described in the Contract Documents.

9.9 No Waiver of Rights. Neither the final review by Metro, nor any order or certificate for the payment of money, nor any payment for, nor acceptance of the whole or any part of the Work by Metro, nor any extension of time, nor any position taken by Metro shall operate as a waiver of any provision of this Contract or of any power herein reserved by Metro or any right to damage herein provided, nor shall any waiver of any breach of this Contract be held to be a waiver of any other or subsequent breach. All of Metro's remedies provided in this Contract shall be taken and construed as cumulative; that is, in addition to each and every other remedy herein provided; and Metro shall have any and all equitable and legal remedies that it would in any case have.



ARTICLE 10

SAFETY, USE OF SITE, AND PROTECTION OF THE WORK

10.1 Laws and Regulations.

10.1.1 The Contractor must comply with all federal, state, and municipal laws in regard to all matters concerning this Contract. This includes but is not limited to compliance with the ADA. The Contractor must also comply with the orders, rulings, decrees, and decisions of any administrative or judicial officials that in any manner whatsoever affect the Project, the Work, the safety of persons around the Work Site, or the manner in which the Work is performed.

10.1.2 If the Contractor observes that any portion of the Work is to be performed in a way that violates any law, code, or regulation, it must immediately notify Metro in writing.

10.1.3 Contractor will divert a minimum of 85% of all construction and demolition waste to recycling and reuse markets, and, if the Work is performed in the City of Portland, comply with City of Portland Code 17.102.270 and related administrative rules.

10.2 Safety Requirements.

10.2.1 <u>Safety Generally</u>.

10.2.1.1 Contractor shall be solely and completely responsible for the safety of the Work and the Site, including but not limited to the safety of all persons and property involved in the Work at the Site at any time until Final Completion and Acceptance of the Work.

10.2.1.2 All Work shall be performed in full accordance with all applicable safety codes, laws, ordinances, and requirements including but not limited to the Safety and Health Regulations for Construction promulgated by the Secretary of Labor under Section 107 of the Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards Act as set forth in Title 29 of the Code of Federal Regulations, federal and state OSHA, Metro's insurance standards, and all other applicable safety codes. Where any of these are in conflict, the more stringent requirement shall be followed. Contractor's failure to thoroughly familiarize itself with the aforementioned safety provisions shall not relieve it from any requirements in the Contract Documents to comply with such safety provisions or from any penalties for failure to so comply.

10.2.1.3 Contractor shall inspect the Work and the Site daily and immediately correct any unsafe conditions. All job personnel shall be knowledgeable of and comply with the above safety requirements.

10.2.1.4 Contractor shall take all precautions to prevent the possibility of fire resulting from Contract operations. Contractor shall provide properly maintained emergency fire extinguishing equipment of a readily available type and quantity as necessary to meet potential fire hazards.

10.2.1.5 In an emergency affecting safety of persons or property, the Contractor shall act to prevent the threatened damage, injury, or loss and immediately notify Metro.

10.2.2 <u>Health and Safety Program</u>. Contractor shall develop, publish, and implement the overall Health and Safety Program for the Project. This Program shall conform to all applicable codes. Contractor shall submit the written Health and Safety Program to Metro for review and comment within fourteen (14) days after the receipt of the written Notice To Proceed. The Program, as approved by Metro, shall subsequently be distributed to and implemented by Contractor's personnel, as well as its Subcontractors and Suppliers. Contractor shall fully implement and comply with the approved Safety Program.

10.2.3 <u>Health and Safety Officer</u>. Prior to initiation of construction, Contractor shall designate in writing a Site Health and Safety Officer who shall be responsible for coordinating Contractor's Health and Safety Program. The individual so designated shall be the interface with the Project Manager on matters relating to safety and Contractor's compliance with the approved Safety Program. Metro reserves the right to accept or reject the Health and Safety Officer designated by Contractor.

10.3 First Aid.

10.3.1 Contractor shall maintain on the Site during Work operations, a member of its work force who is qualified in administering first aid to its personnel and shall have available in its job office the first aid equipment as required to meet all applicable safety codes. The names and credentials of qualified personnel will be submitted to the Project Manager.

10.3.2 Contractor shall require or provide adequate clothing and protective gear for all personnel working on the job Site. This includes but is not limited to hard hats, substantial boots or shoes, shirts with sleeves at all times, eye and ear protection, gloves, face masks, welding hoods, and safety belts as required for the type of Work being done.



10.4 Use of Site.

10.4.1 The Contractor shall confine operations at the Site to areas permitted by applicable laws, statutes, ordinances, codes, rules and regulations, and lawful orders of public authorities and the Contract Documents, and shall not unreasonably encumber the Site with materials or equipment.

10.4.2 Prior to commencement of the Work, the Contractor shall review the Project Site with Metro in detail and identify the area of the Work, staging areas, connections or interfaces with existing structures and operations, and restrictions on the Project Site area. The Contractor will ensure that all forces on the Project Site area instructed about the acceptable working and staging areas and restrictions on use of the Site. The Contractor, with advance consent of Metro, will erect such barriers, signage, and devices as are necessary to restrict access to the Project Site to approved personnel and to prevent unauthorized access by construction personnel to non-Work areas.

10.4.3 The Contractor and its Subcontractors shall receive prior approval from Metro before delivering or storing any materials or tools on Metro's premises. Upon approval, materials and tools will be stored so that they do not hamper the operation of equipment or persons and do not present a fire or safety hazard.

10.4.4 Contractor and its Subcontractors shall not erect on the Project Site any signage intended to advertise or promote their business without the prior written consent of Metro.

10.4.5 If the Contractor removes Metro's property, fixtures, materials, or other equipment to perform the Work, the Contractor shall be responsible for the safekeeping of all such property, fixtures, materials, or other equipment including without limitation assuring that such items are not lost, damaged, or destroyed, and are upon Metro's directive are either returned to their original location, reinstalled, replaced, or repaired as necessary.

10.4.6 When all or a portion of the Work is suspended for any reason, the Contractor shall securely fasten down all coverings and protect the Work, as necessary, from damage by any cause

10.4.7 At completion of the Work, the Contractor shall remove waste materials, rubbish, the Contractor's tools, construction equipment, machinery, and surplus material from and about the Project, and shall return any damage or altered portion of Metro's property to at least its pre-construction condition. 10.5

Protection of Work, Persons, and Property Against Damage.

10.5.1 Contractor shall protect the Work from damage due to construction operations; the action of the elements, including erosion due to normal and extraordinary weather conditions; the carelessness of other contractors; vandalism; or any other cause whatever until Final Completion and acceptance of the Work.

10.5.2 The Contractor will keep the Project Site safe in compliance with applicable law. Safety includes but is not limited to: (1) providing approved types of secured and adequate barricades or fences that are easily visible from a reasonable distance around open excavations; (2) closing up or covering with steel plates all open excavations at the end of each Working Day in all street areas and in all other areas when it is reasonably required for public safety; (3) marking all open Work and obstructions by lights at night; (4) installing and maintaining all necessary signs, lights, flares, barricades, railings, runways, stairs, bridges, and facilities; (5) observing any and all safety instructions received from Project Manager; and (6) following all laws and regulations concerning worker and public safety. If the law requires greater safety obligations than those imposed by Metro, the Contractor must comply with the law.

10.5.3 The Contractor will protect, and take every reasonable precaution to avoid damage to, all public and private property that might be damaged by its operations.

10.5.4 If public or private property, or both, is damaged by the Contractor's operations, the Contractor must either repair the damage or have the damage repaired by others at its own expense, without additional compensation from Metro. The repair must bring the damaged property back to the same condition it was in before the damage occurred. If repair and restoration is not feasible, the Contractor will pay Metro for the full cost of the damage. If the damage has been caused to property of Metro, Metro has the right to determine whether or not the property will be repaired and restored by the Contractor. If Metro elects to have the property repaired with its own forces or by another entity, the Contractor will pay Metro all costs associated with that repair and restoration.

10.5.5 The Contractor must give reasonable Notice to Metro and occupants of property adjacent to the Work to permit them to remove vehicles, trailers, and other possessions, as well as salvage or relocate plants, trees, fences, sprinkler systems, or other improvements in the Easement or Right-of-Way that are designated for removal or that might be destroyed or damaged by the Contractor's operations.

10.5.6 All federal, state, and local safety and environmental protection laws, rules, and orders, including fire codes, applicable to the Work to be done under the Contract, shall be obeyed, complied with, and enforced by Contractor.

10.5.7 Contractor shall provide and maintain such guards, fences, barriers, signs, regulatory and warning lights, and other traffic control and safety devices adjacent to and on the Site as may be necessary to prevent



accidents to the public and damage to property. Contractor shall also provide, place, and maintain such lights as may be necessary for illuminating the said signs, guards, fences, barriers, and other traffic and safety control devices.

10.5.8 Upon Final Completion and Acceptance of the Work, Contractor shall remove all temporary signs, lights, barriers, etc., from the Site.

10.5.9 The Contractor must protect worksites and storage and disposal areas from washouts and erosion, and take all necessary precaution to control or abate dust, nuisances, and air pollution arising from the performance of Work by taking necessary actions to prevent this. Such actions include but are not limited to cleaning up, sweeping, sprinkling, covering, enclosing, or sheltering Work areas and stockpiled materials, and removing promptly from paved areas earth or other materials that may become airborne or that may be washed into waterways or drainage systems.

10.6 Utilities.

10.6.1 The Contractor is responsible for locating light and power poles, underground electrical, underground communication, sewer, gas, and water piping, gas/water "shut off" boxes and covers, and all other utility lines. The Contractor will follow rules adopted by the Oregon Utility Notification Center. Those rules are set forth in the Oregon Administrative Rules. Copies of these rules may be obtained by contacting the Center. If the Contractor has questions about the rules, it is to contact the Center. The Parties agree that any Project plans or permits issued by Metro are deemed to have this language incorporated by reference.

10.6.2 The Contractor will give Notice to Metro of any intended excavation it may have at least 48 hours in advance of the proposed excavation. If the intended excavation or other work would cause any interruption in utility service, the Contractor will give notice to Metro at least five (5) days in advance. The specific schedule for all interruptions in utility services must be coordinated with the Project Manager.

10.6.3 The Contractor will maintain any markings showing the presence of underground facilities. If the Contractor does not maintain such markings, and Metro is required to reestablish them, the Contractor will pay Metro any and all costs associated with that activity.

10.6.4 The Contractor will exercise special care in executing subsurface work in proximity of known subsurface utilities, improvements, and easements. The Contractor will arrange for and pay the cost of disconnecting, removing, relocating, capping, replacing, or abandoning all public and private utilities impeding construction operations, all in accordance with servicing utilities' regulations and governing codes. The Contractor will cap abandoned utilities. The Contractor will provide maintenance of all on-site active above-grade and below-grade services. Any utilities damaged by Contractor shall be repaired immediately to Owner's satisfaction.

10.7 Hazardous Substances Encountered During Construction and Other Environmental Laws.

10.7.1 With respect to Hazardous Materials to be used during the course of the Work, the Contractor will implement and enforce a program to inventory and properly store and secure all Hazardous Materials that may be used or may be present on the Project Site, maintain available for inspection at the Project Site all material safety data sheets, and comply with all regulations required by law for the storage, use, and disposal of Hazardous Materials. The program must provide for notification of all personnel of potential chemical hazards. Review of these hazards must be included in the Contractor's safety training program. The Contractor will submit to Metro a list of all Hazardous Materials to be brought by the Contractor or its Subcontractors onto Metro's property, including the purpose for their use on the Project.

10.7.2 In the event of a release or discovery of a preexisting release of Hazardous Materials, or if it is foreseeable that injury or death to persons may occur because of any material or substance (including without limitation Hazardous Materials) encountered on the Project Site, the Contractor must **immediately** (1) stop the Work or the portion of the Work affected, (2) notify Metro and the Architect orally and in writing, and (3) protect against exposure of persons to the Hazardous Materials. The Contractor is to provide all written warnings, notices, reports, or postings required at law or by contract for the existence, use, release, or discovery of Hazardous Materials.

10.7.3 With respect to any Hazardous Materials or other material or substance reported to Metro under Section 10.7.2 above that were not introduced to the Project Site by the Contractor or its Subcontractors of any tier, Metro will obtain the services of a qualified environmental consultant to verify the presence or absence of the material or substance reported by the Contractor and, if the material or substance is found to be present, to verify that it is rendered harmless. Unless otherwise required by the Contract Documents, Metro will furnish in writing to the Contractor and Architect the names and qualifications of persons or entities that are to perform tests verifying the presence or absence of such material or substance, or that are to perform the task of removal or safe containment of such material or substance. The Contractor and the Architect will promptly reply to Metro in writing, stating whether or not either has reasonable objection to the persons or entities proposed by Metro. If either the Contractor or the Architect has an objection to a person or entity proposed by Metro, Metro will propose another to which the Contractor



and the Architect have no reasonable objection. When the material or substance has been rendered harmless, Work in the affected area is to resume upon written agreement of Metro and the Contractor. By Change Order, the Contract Time may, subject to agreement by Metro and the Contractor, be extended appropriately and the Contract Amount will be increased in the amount of the Contractor's reasonable additional costs of shutdown, delay, and start-up, which adjustments are to be accomplished as provided in Article 8.

10.7.4 With respect to any Hazardous Materials or other material or substance reported to Metro under section 10.7.2 above that was introduced to the Project Site by the Contractor or its Subcontractors of any tier, the Contractor will be responsible to carry out the duties of (1) proposing to Metro and the Architect a qualified environmental consultant, (2) obtaining and paying for the services of the environmental consultant, and (3) verifying that the material is rendered harmless, as otherwise set forth in Section 10.7.3 above. The Contractor will not be entitled to an increase in the Contract Amount as stated in the last sentence of Section 10.7.3 if the Contractor or its Subcontractors of any tier are responsible for the condition requiring the testing of the material and the stoppage of the Work. Remediation Work must be conducted by properly qualified contractors approved in advance by Metro. Generally, Metro may at its option contract directly with environmental consultants and remediation contractors, regardless of whether the Work will be performed at the Contractor's expense.

10.7.5 To the fullest extent permitted by law, Metro will indemnify the Contractor, Subcontractors, Architect, Architect's consultants and agents, and employees of any of them and hold them harmless from and against claims, damages, losses, and expenses, including without limitation attorney fees, arising out of or resulting from performance of the Work in the affected area if in fact the material or substance was not introduced to the Project Site by the Contractor or its Subcontractors of any tier, presents the risk of bodily injury or death, and has not been rendered harmless. No indemnification provided by Metro under this Section will be required to indemnify the Contractor, Subcontractors, or their employees or agents to the extent of liability for death or bodily injury to persons or damage to property caused in whole or in part by the Contractor's own negligence, but will require indemnity to the extent of the fault of Metro or its agents or representatives.

10.7.6 To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Contractor will indemnify Metro, the Project Manager, and employees of any of them and hold them harmless from and against claims, damages, losses, and expenses, including without limitation attorney fees, arising out of or resulting from performance of the Work in the affected area if in fact the material or substance was introduced to the Project Site by the Contractor or its Subcontractors of any tier, presents the risk of bodily injury or death, and has not been rendered harmless. No indemnification provided by the Contractor under this Section will be required to indemnify Metro or its agents or representatives to the extent of liability for death or bodily injury to persons or damage to property caused in whole or in part by Metro's own negligence, but will require indemnity to the extent of the fault of the Contractor or its agents or representatives.

10.8 Additional Requirements for Work at Metro Project Sites. The Contractor will comply with the following requirements in addition to the requirements set forth in this Article 10.

10.8.1 Safety and Health Precautions.

10.8.1.1 Contractor shall take all precautions to prevent the possibility of fire resulting from construction operations. Contractor will provide emergency fire extinguishing equipment of adequate type and quantity, readily available, and properly maintained. Contractor shall provide a fire watch and screening whenever welding is in progress in areas accessible or visible to Metro staff or the general public.

10.8.1.2 All contracted employees are expected to follow established safety procedures in the General Contractor's Safety Plan and report any safety violation or unsafe work practice to a lead worker or project manager. Violation of any safety procedure is a serious offense due to the severe consequences that may result and must be reported immediately. It is most important to report safety violations and unsafe work practices to individuals who can take immediate action to resolve the problem.

10.8.1.3 Vests and hardhats (as well as other personal protection attire as required by the General Contractor) are required to be worn at construction worksites. Contractors shall wear such vests at all times on the Project Site.

10.8.1.4 Any physical, mental, or emotional condition that may affect a Contractor or Subcontractor employee's ability to work safely, make sound judgments, or compromise their ability to react quickly in the event of an emergency, must be reported to their lead or project manager prior to the start of their shift.

10.8.1.5 For safety reasons, IPods, MP3 players, and other sound devices requiring earphones are prohibited during working hours.

10.8.1.6 The Contractor will provide warning signs, flagger(s), and other safety and health precautions that may become necessary or required for protection of Work or for protection of the public, Owner's



personnel, and construction personnel, including Owner's and Architect's Representatives engaged on the Project. State of Oregon Workmen's Compensation Board Safety Codes for Construction Work and Federal Safety Codes, form a part of these Specifications.

10.8.2 <u>Access to Metro Project Site</u>. Contractor and Subcontractors will comply with the following requirements:

10.8.2.1 Locations for access to the Project Site by Contractor and Subcontractors shall be approved by the Project Manager.

10.8.2.2 The Contractor's representatives must always be on the premises when Subcontractors are working. Identification will be issued and worn for General Contractor's representatives.

10.8.2.3 The Contractor will keep a log of all Subcontractors that are working on-site each day. Subcontractors must always sign in with the Contractor and wear identification issued by the Contractor.

10.8.2.4 Construction on the Project Site is limited to 7 am to 5 pm, Monday through Friday, unless Work at other times is approved in advance by the Project Manager.

10.8.2.5 When Contractor needs access throughout the day to an area that is normally secured and inaccessible to visitors, the Project Manager will provide "contractor locks" and keys, and Contractor must keep said areas secure.

10.8.2.6 Contractor will ensure that all of its and Subcontractors' officers, employees, and agents are aware of and comply with the access requirements in this Section 10.8.2.

10.8.3 <u>Site Protection/Safety</u>.

10.8.3.1 The Project Site may be in operation and open to the public during construction of the Work. Construction Work in and around Owner's buildings occupied by Metro personnel or frequented by the public shall be conducted in such a manner as to permit such operation without jeopardy and with the absolute minimum of inconvenience to occupants and the public.

10.8.3.2 Metro may restrict hours of work to accommodate Metro activities or special events.

10.8.3.3 Construction Work that requires coordination with Metro staff activities will be planned in advance with the Project Manager. A meeting will be held with Metro staff to identify a plan for the activity.

10.8.3.4 The Contractor will take every precaution to minimize noise, spreading of dust and debris, causing undue vibrations or impacts, and other nuisances. The Contractor shall do no structural or other damage to any in-place improvements.

10.8.3.5 Metro-owned tools, vehicles, and other equipment may not be used at any time.

10.8.3.5.1 <u>Tree/Vegetation Protection</u>. The Contractor shall comply with the local government regulations applicable to the Project, and shall consult with the Project Manager prior to doing work that could impact the health of a tree or vegetation not scheduled for removal by contract documents.

10.8.4 Personnel and Subcontractors.

10.8.4.1 Smoking is prohibited in all areas of the Project Site except in designated smoking areas. Contractor and Project Manager to determine a designated smoking area.

10.8.5 Prejudicial remarks, actions, slurs, and jokes in the workplace that are offensive to people relative to their race, color, religion, national origin, sex, age, marital status, veteran status, disability, or sexual orientation are strictly prohibited. Sexual harassment is strictly prohibited. Contractors are expected to use a reasonable person's standard of good judgment in their working relationships. No person shall be subjected to deliberate or repeated unsolicited verbal comments, gestures, or physical contact of a sexual nature, or that which is offensive, hostile, or intimidating.

10.8.6 Restrictions:

10.8.6.1 Contractors are not allowed to bring the following items onto the Project Site:

10.8.6.1.1 Weapons

10.8.6.1.2 Alcohol, narcotics

10.8.6.1.3 Skates/Skateboards/Rollerblades/Wheelies

10.8.6.1.4 Bicycles (if a Contractor employee is commuting to the Project Site via bicycle, arrangements can be made for appropriate parking and use).

10.8.6.1.5 Pets

10.8.7 Prohibited Conduct:

10.8.7.1 The following conduct is strictly prohibited and will result in the immediate ejection of the offending Contractor employee or Subcontractor from Project Site premises:



10.8.7.1.1 Possessing, using, transferring, offering, or being under the influence of any intoxicants or narcotics during working hours.

10.8.7.1.2 Willful deceit, gross negligence, or theft, including of person	nal or
public property. 10.8.7.1.3 Neglect of duty, violation of Metro ordinances, regulations,	and
directives. 10.8.7.1.4 Willful or repeated negligent violation of established safety	policies
and procedures.	
10.8.7.1.5 Possessing a firearm, illegal weapons, fireworks, or explosion Metro property	
10.8.7.1.6 Harassment, discourteous treatment of any kind, or discrim staff, volunteers, or members of the public. Obscenities, profanity, velling, shouting, abusive, or maligning to	

staff, volunteers, or members of the public. Obscenities, profanity, yelling, shouting, abusive, or maligning tone of voice and/or language is considered discourteous and is prohibited.

10.8.7.1.7 Misuse of Metro property.

ARTICLE 11 INDEMNIFICATION

11.1 Indemnification.

11.1.1 Contractor shall assume all responsibility for the Work and shall bear all losses and damages directly or indirectly resulting to Contractor, Metro, Architect, their officers, agents, and employees, or to others on account of the character or performance of the Work or accidents.

11.1.2 Contractor shall defend, indemnify, and hold harmless Metro, its officers, agents, and employees from all claims, liability, loss, damage, consequential or otherwise, and injury of every kind, nature, and description, directly or indirectly resulting from activities in the performance of the Contract, the ownership, maintenance, or use of motor vehicles in connection therewith, or the acts, omissions, operations, or conduct of Contractor or any Subcontractor or Supplier under the Contract in any way arising out of the Contract, irrespective of whether fault is the basis of the liability or claim.

11.1.3 Any specific duty or liability imposed or assumed by Contractor, as may be otherwise set forth in the Contract Documents, shall not be construed as a limitation or restriction of the general liability or duty imposed upon Contractor by this Section.

11.1.4 Such liabilities and losses from which Contractor shall indemnify and hold harmless the above-described indemnities shall include but not be limited to:

11.1.4.1 Special activities by Metro to verify and/or expedite delivery of materials and those losses incurred by Metro as a result of any delays to Other Metro Contractors resulting from acts of Contractor or its failure to act.

11.1.4.2 Acceleration payments to Other Metro Contractors on the Project or related projects resulting from Contractor falling behind the Construction Schedule for causes not entitling it to an extension of Contract Time under any provisions of the Contract Documents that cause other Metro Contractors to fall behind the Construction Schedule so that they must then accelerate the performance of the Work, as directed by Metro, in order to maintain progress.

11.1.4.3 Violations of the ordinances or regulations of Metro, any federal, state, county, or city laws or order of any properly constituted authority in any manner affecting this Contract, in addition to any laws or regulations that might affect this Contract.

11.1.5 Any and all suits, actions, damages, or claims of every name and description to which the above-indemnified may be subjected or put by reason of injury to persons or property arising out of, in connection with, or incident to the execution of the Work, or resulting from acts or omissions on the part of Contractor, its Subcontractors, officers, employees, or agents, and all attorney fees and court costs incident thereto.

11.1.6 No indemnification provided by the Contractor under this Article 11 or insurance provided under Article 12 will be required to indemnify Metro or its employees or agents to the extent of liability for death or bodily injury to persons or damage to property caused in whole or in part by their own negligence, but will require indemnity to the extent of the fault of the Contractor or those entities or persons for whom the Contractor is responsible.



ARTICLE 12

INSURANCE

12.1 General Insurance Requirement. The Contractor will purchase from and maintain in a company or companies lawfully authorized to do business in the State of Oregon such insurance as will protect the Contractor from claims set forth below that may arise out of or result from the Contractor's operations and completed operations under the Contract and for which the Contractor may be legally liable, whether such operations be by the Contractor or by a Subcontractor, or by anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of them, or by anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable:

12.1.1 Claims under workers' compensation, disability benefit, and other similar employee benefit acts that are applicable to the Work to be performed;

12.1.2 Claims for damages because of bodily injury, occupational sickness or disease, or death of the Contractor's employees;

12.1.3 Claims for damages because of bodily injury, sickness or disease, or death of any person other than the Contractor's employees;

12.1.4 Claims for damages insured by usual personal injury liability coverage and commercial general liability coverage (or its equivalent as approved in advance by the Owner);

12.1.5 Claims for damages, other than to the Work itself, because of injury to or destruction of tangible property, including loss of use resulting therefrom;

12.1.6 Claims for damages because of bodily injury, death of a person, or property damage arising out of ownership, maintenance, or use of a motor vehicle;

12.1.7 Claims for bodily injury or property damage arising out of completed operations;

12.1.8 Claims involving contractual liability insurance applicable to the Contractor's obligations under Article 12 of the General Conditions;

12.1.9 Claims for third-party injury and property damage (including without limitation clean-up costs) as a result of pollution conditions arising from the Contractor's operations or completed operations; and

12.1.10 Claims involving the Contractor's professional liability, solely to the extent that the Contractor accepts design or design/build responsibilities under the Contract.

12.2 Required Coverage. Without waiver of any other requirement of the Contract Documents, the Contractor will provide, pay for, and maintain in full force and effect at all times during the performance of the Work until final acceptance of the Work or for such further duration as required, the following policies of insurance issued by a responsible carrier. All of the Contractor's insurance carriers will be rated A VII or better by A.M. Best's rating service, unless otherwise approved by the Owner.

12.2.1 <u>Workers' Compensation</u>: Workers' compensation coverage sufficient to meet statutory liability limits.

12.2.2 <u>Employer's Liability</u>: The Contractor will purchase and maintain employer's liability insurance in addition to its workers' compensation coverage with at least the minimum limits in Section I.C below.

12.2.3 <u>Commercial General Liability</u>: The Contractor will purchase and maintain commercial general liability ("CGL") insurance on an occurrence basis, written on ISO Form CG 0001 (12/04 or later) or an equivalent form approved in advance by the Owner. CGL coverage will include all major coverage categories including bodily injury, property damage, and products/completed operations coverage maintained for at least six years following final payment. The CGL insurance will also include the following: (a) separation of insured; (b) incidental medical malpractice; and (c) per-project aggregate for premises operations.

12.2.4 <u>Professional Liability/Errors and Omissions</u>: To the extent that the Contractor accepts design or design/build responsibilities, the Contractor will purchase and maintain professional liability/errors and omissions insurance and cause those Subcontractors providing design services do so.

12.2.5 <u>Automobile Liability</u>: The Contractor will purchase and maintain automobile liability insurance with coverage for owned, hired, and non-owned vehicles on ISO form CA 00 01 or an equivalent form approved in advance by the Owner. The automobile liability insurance will include pollution liability coverage resulting from vehicle overturn and collision.

12.2.6 <u>Pollution Liability</u>: The Contractor will purchase a contractors' pollution liability policy. Coverage will include third-party claims for bodily injury, property damage, and environmental damage resulting from pollution conditions caused during the performance of covered operations for both on-site and migrating from the job site. Such coverage will include pollution conditions arising from covered operations including work performed by its Subcontractors and third-party claims against the Contractor alleging improper supervision of its Subcontractors.



12.2.7 <u>Commercial Umbrella/Excess Coverage</u>: The Contractor will purchase or maintain a commercial umbrella or excess liability policy to meet the minimum limits as described below in Section I.C. Commercial umbrella/excess liability coverage will include: (a) "Pay on behalf of" wording; (b) concurrency of effective dates with primary coverage; (c) punitive damages coverage (where not prohibited by law); (d) application of aggregate (where applicable) in primary coverage; (e) "care, custody, and control" coverage that follows the form for primary coverage; and (f) drop-down feature. Excess/umbrella coverage will be scheduled to the CGL, employer's liability, and automobile liability policies.

12.3 Limits. The insurance required by this Article 12 will be written for at least the limits of liability specified in this Section or required by law, whichever is greatest.

12.3.1 Workers' Compensation...... Statutory Limits

12.3.2	Employer's Liability						
	12.3.2.1	Each Accident	\$1,000,000				
	12.3.2.2	Each Bodily Injury/Disease	\$1,000,000				
	12.3.2.3	Aggregate Bodily Injury/Disease	\$1,000,000				
12.3.3	Commer	cial General Liability					
	12.3.3.1	Each Occurrence	\$2,000,000				
	12.3.3.2	General Aggregate	\$2,000,000				
	12.3.3.3	Product/Completed Operations	\$2,000,000				
	12.3.3.4	Personal & Advertising Injury	\$2,000,000				
	12.3.3.5	Fire Damage Limit	\$2,000,000				
	12.3.3.6	Medical Expense Limit	\$2,000,000				
12.3.4	<u>Automobi</u>	<u>le Liability</u>					
	12.3.4.1	Combined Single Limit	\$2,000,000				
12.3.5	Pollution I	<u>Liabilit</u> y					
	12.3.5.1	Single Limit	\$2,000,000				
	12.3.5.2	Aggregate	\$2,000,000				
12.3.6	Commerc	ial Umbrella/Excess Coverage					

12.3.6.1 Each Occurrence *Alternates: Min. \$2,000,000/\$5,000,000/\$10,000,000*

12.4 Additional Insureds. The Contractor's third-party liability insurance policies will include the Owner and its officers, employees, agents, volunteers, partners, successors, and assigns as additional insureds. The policy endorsement must extend premise operations and products/completed operations to the additional insureds. The additional insured endorsement for the CGL insurance must be written on ISO Form CG 2010 (11/85), a CG 2037 (07/04) together with CG 2033 (07/04), or the equivalent, but will not use the following forms: CG 20 10 (10 93) or CG 20 10 (03 94).

12.5 Joint Venture. If the Contractor is a joint venture, the joint venture will be a named insured for the liability insurance policies.

12.6 Primary Coverage. The Contractor's insurance will be primary insurance coverage and may not seek contribution from any insurance or self-insurance carried by the Owner or the Architect, including any property damage coverage carried by the Owner. Contractor's insurance will apply separately to each insured against whom a claim is made or suit is brought. The Contractor's insurance will not include any cross-suit exclusion or preclude an additional insured party from asserting a claim as a third party.

12.7 Contractor's Failure to Maintain Insurance. If for any reason the Contractor fails to maintain required insurance coverage, such failure will be deemed a material breach of the Contract and the Owner, at its sole discretion, may suspend or terminate the Contract for cause pursuant to Article 15 of this Contract. The Owner may, but has no obligation to, purchase such required insurance, and without further notice to the Contractor, the Owner may deduct from the Contract Sum any premium costs advanced by the Owner for such insurance. Failure to maintain the insurance coverage required by this Article 12 will not waive the Contractor's obligations to the Owner.

12.8 Certificates of Insurance. The Contractor will supply to the Owner Certificates of Insurance for the insurance policies described in this Article 12 prior to the commencement of the Work and before bringing any equipment or construction personnel onto the Project site.

12.8.1 <u>Additional Certificates.</u> To the extent that the Contractor's insurance coverages are required to remain in force after final payment and are reasonably available, an additional certificate evidencing continuation of such coverage will be submitted with the final application for payment. Information concerning reduction of coverage because of revised limits or claims paid under the general aggregate, or both, will be furnished by the Contractor with reasonable promptness in accordance with the Contractor's information and belief.



12.8.2 <u>Prohibition Until Certificates Received.</u> The Owner will have the right, but not the obligation, to prohibit the Contractor and its Subcontractors from entering the Project site until the required certificates (or other competent evidence that insurance has been obtained in complete compliance with this Article 12) are received and approved by the Owner.

12.8.3 <u>Deductibles/Self-Insured Retentions</u>: Payment of deductibles or self-insured retention is a Cost of the Work and does not justify a Change Order. Satisfaction of all self-insured retentions or deductibles will be the sole responsibility of the Contractor.

12.9 Subcontractor Insurance. The Contractor will cause each Subcontractor to purchase and maintain in full force and effect policies of insurance as specified in this Article 12, except that the coverage limits shall be at least \$1,000,000 combined single limit for each occurrence and in the aggregate. The Contractor will be responsible for the Subcontractors' coverage if the Subcontractors fail to purchase and maintain the required insurance. When requested by the Owner, the Contractor will furnish copies of Certificates of Insurance establishing coverage for each Subcontractor.

12.10 Limitations on Coverage.

12.10.1 No insurance provided by the Contractor under this Article 12 will be required to indemnify the Owner, the Architect, or their employees or agents to the extent of liability for death or bodily injury to persons or damage to property caused in whole or in part by their own negligence, but will require indemnity to the extent of the fault of the Contractor or its agents, representatives, or Subcontractors.

12.10.2 The obligations of the Contractor under this Article 12 will not extend to the liability of the Architect or its consultants for (a) the preparation or approval of maps, drawings, opinions, reports, surveys, Change Orders, designs, or specifications; or (b) the giving or failure to give directions or instructions to the extent that the directions, or failure to provide directions, are the cause of the injury or damage.

12.10.3 By requiring insurance, the Owner does not represent that coverage and limits will necessarily be adequate to protect the Contractor. Insurance in effect or procured by the Contractor will not reduce or limit the Contractor's contractual obligations to indemnify and defend the Owner for claims or suits that result from or are connected with the performance of the Contract.

12.11 Property Insurance

12.11.1 Builders Risk. Contractor, for the life of this Contract, shall effect and maintain Builders All Risk Insurance and fire insurance with extended coverage and malicious mischief coverage upon the structures on which the Work of this Contract is to be done to 100 percent (100%) of the insurable value thereof, protecting (1) Owner's interest; (2) Contractor's interest; and (3) the Subcontractor's interest in the Work. Contractor's interest and Subcontractor's interest, as used herein, means their property interests and the property interests of others for which they are responsible in the Project, in all materials and supplies entering into or used or destined for use therein, and in all expendable items of equipment that are used in or are incidental to but that do not become a part of the finished Project, located at the job Site at the time of loss or damage. Such insurance shall not exclude coverage for landslides, collapse, explosion, or loss due to the result of faulty workmanship. Such insurance will include coverage for soft costs or delay in opening.

12.11.1.1 Contractor and all Subcontractors shall be responsible for any loss or damage to their machinery and apparatus and nonexpendable items of their equipment.

12.11.1.2 Contractor shall provide adequate fire protection equipment and safeguards to protect Metro and Contractor's interests in accordance with Metro's insurance carrier's requirements.

12.11.1.3 Contractor will furnish copies of Certificates of Insurance establishing coverage prior to project start.

12.11.2 <u>Contractor's Responsibility</u>. Contractor must provide insurance for its own machinery, tools, equipment, or supplies that are not to become a part of the Project.

ARTICLE 13

MINORITY/WOMEN/EMERGING SMALL BUSINESS PROGRAM

13.1 Contractor shall comply with all pertinent provisions of Metro's MWESB Business Program that are contained in Metro Code 2.04.100 to 2.04.190 and that are by this reference expressly incorporated herein and made a part of this Contract.

13.2 Contractor shall not replace a minority, women-owned or emerging small business enterprise Subcontractor with another Subcontractor, either before Contract Award or during Contract performance, without prior written approval of Metro. In replacing a minority, women-owned or emerging small business Subcontractor, Contractor shall replace such minority, women-owned or emerging small business Subcontractor with another



certified minority, women-owned or emerging small business Subcontractor or make good faith efforts to do so. Failure to do so shall constitute Contractor's default of this Contract, and Metro, at its option, may terminate this Contract under the procedures set out in Article 15.

13.3 Metro reserves the right, at all times during the period of this Contract, to monitor Contractor's compliance with the terms of the MWESB Business Program and enforce the program if Contractor should fail to so comply. Contractor shall be bound by any and all representations made concerning its compliance with the program prior to Contract Award and any and all representations made by Contractor concerning the replacement of a minority or women-owned business Subcontractor during the performance of this Contract.

13.4 MWESB Participation in the Contract.

13.4.1 It is Metro's policy that Contractor shall take reasonable steps to ensure that Minority Business Enterprises (MBE), Women Business Enterprises (WBE), and Emerging Small Businesses (ESB) have the opportunity to participate in the Work.

13.4.2 <u>Termination and Substitution of MWESB</u>. The Contractor shall notify Metro in writing and confer with Metro before terminating or replacing a MWESB that has a signed contract with the Contractor.

13.4.3 <u>Changes in Work Committed to MWESB</u>. Metro will consider the impact on MWESB participation in instances where Metro changes, reduces, or deletes Work contracted to MWESB firms at the time of Contract Award. In such instances, the Contractor shall not be required to replace the Work but is encouraged to do so. If the Contractor proposes any changes that involve a contracted MWESB, the Contractor shall notify the MWESB of the proposed change, reduction, or deletion of any Work committed at the time of Contract Award prior to executing the Change Order. The Contractor can choose to enable the affected MWESB to participate in the Change Order request and is requested to make every effort to maintain the contracted MWESB percentage.

13.4.4 <u>Contractor Payments to Subcontractors</u>. The Contractor shall maintain records of all subcontracts entered into with MWESB firms and records of materials purchased from MWESB suppliers. Such records shall show the name and business address of each MWESB subcontractor or vendor and the total dollar amount actually paid to each MWESB subcontractor or vendor. The Contractor shall pay each subcontractor for satisfactory performance of its contract no later than ten (10) Calendar Days from receipt of each payment the Contractor receives from Metro. The Contractor shall also return Retainage payments to each subcontractor within ten (10) Calendar Days after the subcontractor's work is satisfactorily completed. Any delay or postponement of payment from the above-referenced time frame may occur only for good cause following written approval of the Metro Project Manager. The Contractor shall submit a completed, signed original "Metro Monthly Subcontractor Payment has been made to each subcontractor or supplier or when any held retainage is returned to a subcontractor or supplier. Contractor shall submit the form no later than the fifth day of each month. At the completion of the Project, Contractors shall submit a final form indicating the total amounts paid to all subcontractors and suppliers.

ARTICLE 14

MISCELLANEOUS STATUTORY RESPONSIBILITIES OF CONTRACTOR

Contractor shall keep itself fully informed of and shall fully comply with all federal, state, regional, and local laws, rules, regulations, ordinances, and orders pertaining in any manner to this Contract and those rules, regulations, and orders of any agency or authority having jurisdiction over the Work or those persons employed or engaged therein. Contractor shall pay all taxes, including federal, state, regional, county, and city, or taxes of any other governmental entity applicable to the Work performed or materials provided under this Contract.

ARTICLE 15 TERMINATION OR SUSPENSION OF THE WORK

15.1 Default of Contractor.

15.1.1 If Contractor should be adjudged bankrupt, or if Contractor should make a general assignment for the benefit of its creditors, or if a receiver should be appointed on account of insolvency, or if Contractor should refuse to or fail to supply enough properly skilled workers or proper materials for the efficient prosecution of the Work, disregard laws, ordinances, or the instructions of Metro, or otherwise be in violation of any provision of the Contract, Metro may, without prejudice to any other right or remedy and after giving Contractor and Contractor's surety on the Performance Bond prior written notice, terminate the Contract or any portion of the Contract, which termination shall be effective ten (10) days after service of such notice. Such notice shall contain the reasons for the termination and shall state that unless, within ten (10) calendar days of service of the termination notice on Contractor, Contractor or its



surety on the Performance Bond shall have cured or shall have made, in Metro's opinion, appropriate arrangements for prompt cure of all of the cause(s) for termination cited in the notice of termination, the Contract shall terminate.

15.1.2 Upon termination, Metro may take possession of the premises and of all materials, tools, and appliances thereon, as well as all other materials whether on the premises or not, for which Contractor has received partial payment, and may finish the Work or the portion terminated by whatever method it may deem expedient.

15.1.3 In the event action as above indicated is taken by Metro, Contractor or Contractor's surety shall provide Metro with immediate and peaceful possession of all of the materials, tools, and appliances located on the premises, as well as all other materials whether on the premises or not, for which Contractor has received any progress payment. Upon termination, in the event that the surety does not complete the Contract, at the election of Metro, Contractor shall assign any and all subcontracts and material contracts to Metro or Metro's designee. Further, Contractor shall not be entitled to receive any further payment until the Work is completed. On completion of the Work, determination shall be made by Metro of the total amount Contractor would have been entitled to receive for the Work under the terms of the Contract had Contractor, which difference will hereinafter be called the "unpaid balance," exceeds the expense incurred by Metro in completing the Work, including expense for additional managerial and administrative service, and all other costs, damages, and expenses incurred by Metro due to Contractor's failure to complete the Contract, such excess will be paid to Contractor, with the consent of the surety. If, instead, the described expenses incurred by Metro exceed the unpaid balance, the amount of the excess shall be paid to Metro by Contractor or its surety. If only a portion of the Contract is terminated, this Section shall be deemed to apply to that portion of the Work only.

15.1.4 In addition to the above-mentioned right, Metro shall have the right, at its option, to suspend all or part of Contractor's performance under the Contract should any of the events occur that give Metro the right to terminate the Contract as above described. In such event, Metro shall give Contractor and Contractor's surety prior written notice of such suspension and Contractor shall stop or cause to stop all such Work under the Contract immediately on receipt of such notice and shall not commence such Work under the Contract again unless and until Contractor shall receive written notice from Metro to proceed. Metro shall not be responsible or liable to Contractor or others for any costs or expenses of whatever nature related to Contractor's failure to stop Work as directed by Metro.

15.1.5 After receipt of a notice of termination or suspension, and except as otherwise directed by Metro, Contractor shall as it relates to those portions of the Contract terminated or suspended:

15.1.5.1 Stop Work under the Contract on the date and to the extent specified in the notice of termination or suspension.

15.1.5.2 Place no further orders or subcontracts, or suspend the same, as applicable, for materials, services, or facilities except as necessary to complete the portion of the Work under the Contract that is not terminated or suspended.

15.1.5.3 Terminate or suspend, as applicable, all orders and subcontracts to the extent that they relate to the performance of such Work terminated or suspended.

15.1.6 Metro may, at its discretion, avail itself of any or all of the above rights or remedies and its invoking of any one of the above rights or remedies will not prejudice or preclude Metro from subsequently invoking any other right or remedy set forth above or elsewhere in the Contract.

15.1.7 None of the foregoing provisions shall be construed to require Metro to complete the Work nor to waive or in any way limit or modify the provisions of the Contract relating to the fixed and liquidated damages suffered by Metro on account of failure to complete the Project within the time prescribed.

15.2 Termination in the Public Interest.

15.2.1 Metro may unilaterally terminate the Contract in whole or in part for convenience, when Metro determines it to be in the public interest.

15.2.2 When Metro decides to terminate a Contract for convenience, Metro will notify the Contractor and its sureties in writing of its intention to terminate the Contractor's right to proceed with the Work no less than seven (7) days in advance of the date of the actual termination. The date of termination, which is the date after which no Work is to be performed, must be stated in the notice. Notice will be deemed to have been given if sent to the Contractor's or any surety's last known address provided to Metro by the Contractor and its sureties. For purposes of computing time in this Section, the first day counted is the day that the notice is mailed by Metro.

15.2.3 After receipt of a notice of termination, and except as directed by Metro, the Contractor will immediately proceed with the following obligations:

15.2.3.1 Stop Work by the date as specified in the notice;



15.2.3.2 Award no further subcontracts and place no further orders for materials, services, or facilities, except as necessary to complete the continued portion of the Contract, if any;

15.2.3.3 Terminate all Subcontractors and orders to the extent that they relate to the Work terminated;

15.2.3.4 Assign to Metro, if directed by Project Manager, all right, title, and interest of the Contractor under the subcontracts terminated, in which case Metro will have the right to settle or to pay any termination settlement proposals arising out of those terminations;

15.2.3.5 With approval or ratification to the extent required by Metro, settle all outstanding liabilities and termination settlement proposals arising from the termination of subcontracts; the approval or ratification will be final for purposes of this clause;

15.2.3.6 As directed by Metro, transfer title and deliver to Metro (a) the fabricated or unfabricated parts, Work in process, completed Work, supplies, and other materials produced or acquired for the Work terminated, and (b) the completed or partially completed plans, drawings, information, and other property that, if the Contract had been completed, would be required to be furnished to Metro;

15.2.3.7 Take any actions that may be necessary, or that Project Manager may direct, for the protection and preservation of the property related to this Contract that is in the possession of the Contractor and in which Metro has or may acquire an interest; and

15.2.3.8 Use its best efforts to sell, as directed or authorized by Project Manager, any property of the type referred to in Section 14.2.3.6 above, except that the Contractor (a) is not required to extend credit to any purchaser and (b) may acquire the property under the conditions prescribed by, and at prices approved by, the Project Manager. The process of any transfer or disposition will be applied to reduce any payments to be made by Metro under this Contract, credited to the price or cost of the Work, or paid in any other manner directed by Project Manager.

15.2.4 Upon termination, Metro will pay the Contractor the following costs, and no other, as a result of the termination:

15.2.4.1 With regard to the Contract Work performed before the effective date of termination, the total (without duplication of any items) of the following costs:

15.2.4.1.1 The cost of this Work, as determined by the method of payment established by the Contract Documents;

15.2.4.1.2 The cost of settling and paying termination settlement proposals under terminated subcontracts that are properly chargeable to the terminated portion of the Contract if such costs are not included in Section 14.2.3.4; and

15.2.4.1.3 A sum as profit on Section 14.2.4.1.1 above, not to exceed ten percent of that amount, unless it appears that the Contractor would have sustained a loss on the entire Contract had it been completed. No profit, however, is permitted on costs compensated under Section 14.2.4.1.2.

15.2.4.2 The reasonable costs of settlement of the Work terminated, including:

15.2.4.2.1 Accounting, clerical, and other expenses reasonably necessary for the preparation of termination settlement proposals and supporting data, except that no allowance will be made for costs incurred as attorney fees;

15.2.4.2.2 The termination and settlement of Subcontractors (excluding the

amounts of such settlements); and

15.2.4.2.3 Storage, transportation, and other costs incurred reasonably necessary for the preservation, protection, or disposition of the termination inventory.

15.2.5 No costs other than those allowed in Section 14.2.4 are to be paid. By way of example only, and not by way of limitation, costs that would not be allowed include anticipated profits on unperformed Work, consequential damages, post-termination overhead, Bid or Proposal preparation costs, costs for retraining employees, depreciation on idle equipment, cost of common items reasonably usable on the Contractor's other work, and costs unrelated to the Work performed prior to the date of termination.

15.2.6 Metro may deduct from any sums otherwise due the Contractor under Section 14.2.4 above the cost of advance payments made to the Contractor under the terminated portion of this Contract, any claim that Metro has against the Contractor whether or not arising from this Contract, and the agreed price of, or proceeds of sale of, materials, supplies, or other things acquired by the Contractor or sold under the provision of Section 14.2.3.8 and not recovered by or credited to Metro.



15.2.7 Payment from Metro is not due until the Contractor has submitted an itemization of its recoverable costs to Metro in writing, together with supporting documentation. The Contractor will supply additional supporting documentation on request by Metro in order to recover its costs.

15.2.8 The Contractor will maintain all records and documents relating to the termination until Metro and the Contractor resolve the amount of costs to be paid by Metro to the Contractor as a result of this termination. Such records must be made available to Metro within thirty (30) days of the request.

END OF SECTION

Construction Agreement



MERC CONTRACT NO. 304046

METRO GENERAL CONDITIONS - EXHIBIT 1

WARRANTY FORM

We the undersigned hereby warrant that the [DESCRIBE WORK PERFORMED OR MATERIALS SUPPLIED].that we have provided for [INSERT PROJECT NAME] has been done in accordance with the Contract Documents and that the Work as provided will fulfill the requirements of the warranty included in Article 7 of the Metro General Conditions.

We agree to correct or remove and replace any or all of our Work, together with any other adjacent Work that may be displaced or affected by so doing, that may be defective in its workmanship or materials, or that may fail to conform to the requirements of the Contract Documents, within a period of one (1) year following the later of the date of substantial completion or the date described in Section 7.7 of the Metro General Conditions, without any expense whatsoever to Metro, normal wear and tear and mistreatment excepted.

In the event of our failure to comply with the above-mentioned conditions within twenty (20) calendar days after Metro notifies Contractor in writing, we collectively and separately do hereby authorize Metro to proceed to have said defects repaired and corrected at our expense, and we will honor and pay the costs to dispose of nonconforming materials and charges therefore upon demand. If Metro is required to enforce payment, it shall be entitled to recover its costs and reasonable attorney fees.

CONTRACTOR	SUBCONTRACTOR
By	By
Print Name	Print Name
Date	Date



METRO GENERAL CONDITIONS - EXHIBIT 2

SUBCONTRACTOR ASSIGNMENT OF ANTITRUST CLAIMS

Project:		
Owner: Metro		
General Contractor:		
Subcontractor:		
Release Date:		

1. By entering into a contract with the General Contractor, subcontractor, for consideration paid to subcontractor under the subcontract, does irrevocably assign to Metro any claim for relief or cause of action that subcontractor now has or that may accrue to Subcontractor in the future, including at Metro's option, the right to control any such litigation on such claim for relief or cause of action, by reason of any violation of 15 USC Section 1 15, ORS 646.725, or ORS 646.730 in connection with any goods or services that are used, in whole or in part, for the purpose of carrying out subcontractor's obligations under its subcontract with the General Contractor.

2. Subcontractors irrevocably assigns to Metro, as a third-Party beneficiary of the subcontract, any right, title, or interest that has accrued or may accrue to the Subcontractor by reason of any violation of 15 USC Section 1 15, ORS 646.725, or ORS 646.730, including, at Metro's option, the rights to control any litigation arising hereunder, in connection with any goods or services provided to the Subcontractors or Suppliers by any person, in whole or in part, for the purpose of carrying out the Subcontractor's obligations as agreed to by Subcontractor in pursuance of the completion of the Contract .

3. It is an express obligation of Subcontractor that it will take no action that will in any way diminish the value of the rights conveyed or assigned hereunder to Metro. It is an express obligation of Subcontractor to advise the Office of Metro Attorney:

a. In advance, of its intention to commence any action on its own behalf regarding such claims for relief or causes of action;

b. Immediately, upon becoming aware of the fact that an action has been commenced on its own behalf by some other person or persons, of the impendency of such action; and

c. the date on which it notified the obligor(s) of any such claims for relief or causes of action of the fact of its assignment to Metro.

4. In the event that any payment under any such claim is made to Subcontractor, it shall promptly pay over to Metro its proportionate share thereof, if any, assigned to Metro herein.

SUBCONTRACTOR

By_

Date



METRO GENERAL CONDITIONS - EXHIBIT 3

AFFIDAVIT, AGREEMENT FOR INDEMNITY, LIEN WAIVER AND RELEASE

(General Contractor – Progress Payment)

This AFFIDAVIT, AGREEMENT FOR INDEMNITY, LIEN WAIVER AND RELEASE is entered into ______, by and between Metro, a Metropolitan Service District established pursuant to Oregon law and the Metro Charter ("Metro") and ______, (the "Undersigned") in accord with Metro Contract No. _____, dated ______, between Metro and the Undersigned for construction of _______ (the "Contract"). As a condition precedent to Metro's Progress Payment No. _____ under the Contract in the amount of \$______, and in consideration thereof, the Undersigned agrees to make the following representations, warranties, covenants, agreements, and indemnities, and to fully and completely waive, release, and discharge Metro from all liabilities, obligations, and claims arising under the Contract, as follows:

1. The Undersigned hereby certifies, represents, and warrants as follows:

1.1 It has supplied labor, services, equipment, materials, and materials provided or transported to the construction of the ______ as General Contractor under the Contract (the "Project"), and has subcontracted with other persons and entities to so provide.

1.2 It has complied with all federal, state, and local laws, including social security laws, unemployment compensation laws, workers' compensation laws, and tax laws, insofar as applicable to the performance of the Contract work, and has paid all federal, state, and local taxes including excise, use, sales, and withholding taxes.

1.3 All subcontractors, laborers, service providers, equipment suppliers and material suppliers, and transporters for work, services, equipment, or materials supplied to the Project or to the Undersigned and used in the Project have been paid in full by the Undersigned through the period covered by previous progress payments made by Metro.

1.4 It either has paid in full, or within ten (10) business days of receipt of the above set forth Progress Payment, will pay in full all subcontractors, laborers, service providers, equipment suppliers and material suppliers, and transporters for work, services, equipment, or materials supplied to the Project or to the Undersigned connected with or used in the Project, through the period covered by said progress payment made by Metro.

1.5 It has delivered to Metro written releases of all rights to file claims on any bonds in connection with the Contract, signed by each subcontractor, service provider, and supplier who performed work or services, or furnished or transported materials or equipment in connection with the Contract, in accord with Article 9 of the Metro General Conditions to the Contract.

2. The Undersigned acknowledges and agrees that Progress Payments made by Metro up to the date hereof, in the sum of______, plus Progress Payment No. ______, when paid, constitute payment in full of all amounts due to Undersigned for all labor, services, equipment, and materials provided or transported in connection with the Project up to and through ______, _____, as set forth in the Undersigned's payment application No. _______. The Undersigned agrees that, *upon receipt of the above set forth progress payment*, which is the full payment due and owing to Undersigned up to and through the date set forth in section 2, Undersigned will be paid in full for all labor (including contributions and benefits), services, equipment, supplies, and materials provided or transported in connection with the Project without exceptions, and that there are no other unsettled claims or demands therefore. The Undersigned agrees that, *conditioned upon receipt of the above set forth progress payment*, and in consideration thereof, the Undersigned hereby fully and unconditionally waives and releases Metro from all liability for payment, liens or claims of lien, rights to lien, bond claim rights, and any other claim for payment it now has or asserts or may have or assert for labor, services, equipment, materials, and materials provided or transported in connection with the Project through and up to said date, and further releases Metro, the Project land and improvements from any claim, cause of action, or demand whatsoever, arising out of or relating to the Project that arose on or before said date.

3. The Undersigned hereby agrees to promptly pay and obtain a release of claims on any bonds that may in the future affect the Project, and defend, indemnify, and save Metro harmless from any liability or expense because of any claim on any bond or any other claim related to the work under the Contract through and up to the date set forth in section 2.

4. The affiant signing below does hereby swear and attest that he/she has the full authority to sign this document on behalf of the Undersigned and that Metro may rely on this Affidavit, Agreement for Lien Waiver and Release in connection with remitting Progress Payment No. ______ to Undersigned.

Dated:	Affiant:		I	ts:
STATE OF OREGON)				
County of) This instrument was acknowledge	ed before me on	by	as	
of				

Notary Public - State of Oregon



METRO GENERAL CONDITIONS - EXHIBIT 4

AFFIDAVIT, AGREEMENT FOR INDEMNITY, LIEN WAIVER AND RELEASE

(General Contractor – Final Closeout)

This AFFIDAVIT, AGREEMENT FOR INDEMNITY, LIEN WAIVER AND RELEASE is entered into ______, by and between Metro, a Metropolitan Service District established pursuant to Oregon law and the Metro Charter ("METRO") ______, (the "Undersigned") in accord with Metro Contract No. _____, dated ______, between Metro and the Undersigned for construction of the ______(the "Contract"). As a condition precedent to Metro's final payment under the Contract, in the amount of ______(the "Final Payment"), and in consideration thereof, the Undersigned agrees to make the following representations, warranties, covenants, agreements and indemnities, and to fully and completely waive, release and discharge Metro from all liabilities, obligations, and claims arising under the Contract, as follows:

1. The Undersigned hereby certifies, represents and warrants as follows:

1.1 It has supplied labor, services, equipment, materials or materials transported to the construction of the ______ as General Contractor under Metro Contract No. (the "Project"), and has subcontracted with other persons and entities to so provide.

1.2 It has complied with all federal, state and local laws, including social security laws, unemployment compensation laws, workers' compensation laws, and tax laws, insofar as applicable to the performance of the Contract work, and has paid all federal, state and local taxes including excise, use, sales and withholding taxes.

1.3 All subcontractors, laborers, service providers, equipment suppliers and material suppliers and transporters for work, services, equipment or materials supplied to the Project or to the Undersigned and used in the Project have been paid in full by the Undersigned through the period covered by previous progress payments made by Metro.

1.4 It either has paid in full, or within ten (10) business days of receipt of the Final Payment, will pay in full all subcontractors, laborers, service providers, equipment suppliers and material suppliers and transporters for work, services, equipment or materials supplied to the Project or to the Undersigned connected with or used in the Project.

1.5 It has delivered to Metro written releases of all rights to file claims on any bonds in connection with the Contract, signed by each subcontractor, service provider and supplier who performed work, services or furnished or transported materials or equipment in connection with the Contract, in accord with Article 9 of the General Conditions to the Contract.

2. The Undersigned covenants and agrees that progress payments made by Metro up to the date hereof, in the sum of \$______, plus the Final Payment in the amount of _______, constitute full and final payment of all amounts due to Undersigned for all labor, services, equipment, and materials provided or transported in connection with the Project. The Undersigned agrees that, *conditioned upon receipt of the Final Payment*, and in consideration thereof, the Undersigned hereby fully and unconditionally waives, discharges and releases Metro from all liabilities, obligations and claims, including all liens, claims of lien, rights to lien, bond claim rights and any other claim for payment it now has or asserts or may have or assert for labor, services, equipment, materials provided or transported in connection with the Contract, and further releases Metro, the Project land and improvements from any claim, cause of action, or demand whatsoever arising out of or relating to the Project.

3. The Undersigned hereby agrees to defend, indemnify and hold Metro harmless from any liability or expense resulting from any claim on any bond or any other claim related to the Contract or work there under, in accord with Articles 9 and 1 of the General Conditions to the Contract.

4. The affiant signing below does hereby swear and attest that he/she has the full authority to sign this document on behalf of the Undersigned and that, *except for the Final Payment*, which is the full and final payment due and owing to Undersigned, that Undersigned has been paid in full for all labor (including contributions and benefits), services, equipment, supplies and materials provided or transported in connection with the Project without exceptions, and that there are no other unsettled claims or demands therefore. The Undersigned affiant further acknowledges that Metro may rely on this Affidavit, Agreement for Indemnity, Lien Waiver and Release in connection with remitting the Final Payment to Undersigned.

Dated:	Undersigned:			
	By:	Its	s:	
STATE OF OREGON)) ss.			
County of) 55.			
This instrument was ackno of	owledged before me on	by	as	

Notary Public - State of Oregon

Construction Agreement



MERC CONTRACT NO. 304046

METRO GENERAL CONDITIONS - EXHIBIT 5

AFFIDAVIT, LIEN WAIVER AND RELEASE - CONDITIONAL FINAL

(Subcontractor - Closeout)

1.	The undersign	ned,								("	Undersigned"),	has	provided	labor,
services,	equipment,	materials	or	materials	transport	to	the	construction	of	the	improvements	at _		
known as	s												_, as	а
Subcontr	actor to		("Contractor	r"), Metro (Cont	ract	No (the	"Pr	ojecť	").			

2. The Undersigned acknowledges and agrees that the sum of **\$_____** constitutes full and final payment of all amounts due to Undersigned for all labor, services, equipment, and materials provided or transported in connection with the Project (the "Final Payment"). The Undersigned agrees that, *conditioned upon receipt of the Final Payment*, and in consideration thereof, the Undersigned hereby fully and unconditionally waives and releases all liens, claims of lien, rights to lien, bond claim rights and any other claim for payment it now has or asserts or may have or assert for labor, services, equipment, materials provided or transported in connection with the Project, and further releases Metro, the Project land and improvements, and the Contractor from any claim, cause of action, or demand whatsoever arising out of or relating to the Project.

3. The Undersigned hereby certifies as follows:

3.1 It has complied with all federal, state and local laws, including tax laws, social security laws, unemployment compensation laws and workers' compensation laws, insofar is applicable to the performance of the subcontract work.

3.2 Its laborers, equipment suppliers and material suppliers have been fully paid through the period covered by previous progress payments made by Contractor except as explicitly noted in writing and attached hereto.

3.3 It either has paid in full, or within five (5) business days of receipt of the Final Payment, will pay in full for all labor, materials and equipment used in or furnished in connection with Project.

4. The affiant signing below does hereby swear and attest that he/she has the full authority to sign this document on behalf of the Undersigned and that, *conditioned upon receipt of the Final Payment*, which is the full and Final Payment due and owing to Undersigned, that Undersigned has been paid in full for all labor (including contributions and benefits), services, equipment, supplies and materials provided or transported in connection with the Project without exceptions, and that there are no other unsettled claims or demands therefore. The Undersigned affiant and further acknowledges that Metro and Contractor are relying on this Affidavit, Lien Waiver and Release in connection with processing the Final Payment.

Dated:	Undersigned St	Undersigned Subcontractor:					
	By: Print Name:						
STATE OF OREGON County of Multnomah	Its:)) ss.						
-) nowledged before me on	by	_as				

Notary Public - State of Oregon

ATTACHMENT C SPECIFICATIONS

Arlene Schnitzer Concert Hall Exterior Facade Maintenance Repairs April 30, 2014

TABLE OF CONTENTS

SPEC SECTION 00800	SUPPLEMENTARY CONDITIONS
SPEC SECTION 04235	CAST STONE
SPEC SECTION 04510	CLEANING AND SEALING
SPEC SECTION 04510	CLEANING AND SEALING
SPEC SECTION 04510	CLEANING AND SEALING
SPEC SECTION 04520	MASONRY RESTORATION
SPEC SECTION 07900	JOINT SEALERS
	SPEC SECTION 04235 SPEC SECTION 04510 SPEC SECTION 04510 SPEC SECTION 04510 SPEC SECTION 04520 SPEC SECTION 04520 SPEC SECTION 04520 SPEC SECTION 04520

SECTION 00800 SUPPLEMENTARY CONDITIONS

PART 1 GENERAL

1.01 SUMMARY OF WORK

- A. The historic exterior masonry of the existing building is to be rehabilitated including repairs and repointing to the existing masonry and associated material.
- B. The Arlene Schnitzer Concert Hall Building is an historic landmark. All work on this project shall be in accordance with The Secretary of the Interiors Standards for Rehabilitation.

1.02 ACCESS BY OWNER AND PUBLIC

- A. Maintain access and use of facility by owner and public. Protect entries from hazards created by the project.
- B. Items noted 'NIC' (Not in Contract), will be furnished and installed by Owner.
- C. Owner shall provide certain materials as noted in individual specification sections. Items furnished by Owner to be installed by Contractor are noted (OFCI).

1.03 PROTECTING EXISTING UTILITIES

- A. Before starting work, Contractor shall determine exact location of any lines that could be damaged by Contract Work.
- B. Contractor shall assume that other unknown utility lines do exist, and Contractor shall proceed with caution when working in areas that could conceal unknown Utilities. If such utility lines are encountered, immediately request disposition instructions from Architect.
- C. Protect and maintain existing utilities, active electrical conductors, sewers, pipes, and other active lines on property.

1.04 PROTECTING EXISTING FACILITIES

- A. Protect sidewalks, paving, window areaways, shrubs, trees, lawn areas, and irrigation system against damage caused by Work of this Contract.
- B. Protect catch basins and yard drains against plugging. Maintain drainage system in properly operable working condition.
- C. Clean, repair, resurface, or restore existing surfaces to their original condition, or completely replace such surfaces to match existing, where damaged by construction operations.
- D. Damage to property adjacent to Owner's property shall be restored to satisfaction of respective property owners.
- E. Protect existing portions of the building and property not scheduled for work from damage that may be caused by work under this project.

1.05 COORDINATION

A. Coordinate scheduling, submittals, and Work of the various Sections of specifications to assure efficient and orderly sequence of installation of interdependent construction elements.

1.06 PROGRESS MEETINGS

A. Schedule and administer meetings throughout progress of the Work at regular intervals in relation to work performed; schedule meetings as determined at Preconstruction conference.

1.07 CONSTRUCTION SCHEDULES

- A. Coordinate the scheduling of work that may interfere with ASCH events with the owner's representative. Note: During the summer months Main Street is closed with events all day every Wednesday, also the park blocks host a farmers market on Wednesday. Both of these events draw heavy pedestrian traffic, contract is responsible for rerouting of pedestrian traffic as necessary for their work.
- B. Submit initial progress schedule in duplicate within 15 days after date of Owner-Contractor Agreement for Architect review.
- C. Submit revised schedules with each Application for Payment, identifying changes since previous version. Indicate estimated percentage of completion for each item of Work at each submission.

1.08 PROPOSED PRODUCTS LIST

A. Within 15 days after date of Owner-Contractor Agreement, submit complete list of major Products proposed for use, with name of manufacturer, trade name, and model number of each Product.

1.09 SHOP DRAWINGS

A. Submit applicable and requested Shop Drawings for review by Architect/Owner.

1.10 PRODUCT DATA

- A. Submit applicable and requested Product Data for review by Architect/Owner.
- B. Mark each copy to identify applicable products, models, options, and other data. Supplement manufacturers' standard data to provide information unique to this project.

1.11 SAMPLES

- A. When specified in individual specification Sections, submit samples to illustrate functional and aesthetic characteristics of the Product.
- B. Submit samples of finishes from the full range of manufacturers' standard colors (or specific colors where noted), textures, and patterns for Architect's selection.

1.12 MANUFACTURERS' INSTRUCTIONS

A. When specified in individual specification Sections, submit manufacturers' printed instructions for delivery, storage, assembly, installation, adjusting, and finishing, in quantities specified for Product Data.

1.13 MANUFACTURER'S CERTIFICATES

- A. When specified in individual specification Sections, submit manufacturers' certificate to Architect/Engineer for review, in quantities specified for Product Data.
- B. Indicate material or Product conforms to or exceeds specified requirements. Submit supporting reference data, affidavits, and certifications as appropriate.

1.14 QUALITY ASSURANCE/CONTROL OF INSTALLATION

- A. Monitor quality control over suppliers, manufacturers, Products, services, site conditions, and workmanship, to produce Work of specified quality.
- B. Comply fully with manufacturers' instructions.
- C. Comply with specified standards as a minimum quality for the Work except when more stringent tolerances, codes, or specified requirements indicate higher standards or more precise workmanship.

1.15 FIELD SAMPLES

A. Construct field samples at the site for review as required by individual specifications Sections. Acceptable samples represent a quality level for the Work.

1.16 INSPECTION AND TESTING LABORATORY SERVICES

- A. Owner may appoint and employ services of an independent firm to perform inspection and testing.
- B. The independent firm will perform inspections, tests, and other services as required.
- C. Cooperate with independent firm; furnish samples as requested.
- D. Re-testing required because of non-conformance to specified requirements will be charged to the Contractor.

1.17 TEMPORARY ELECTRICITY

- A. Connect to existing power service. Power consumption shall not disrupt Owner's need for continuous service. Owner to pay for power consumed.
- B. Provide power outlets for construction operations, branch wiring, distribution boxes, and flexible power cords as required.

1.18 TELEPHONE SERVICE

A. Provide, maintain and pay for mobile telephone service to field operation/personnel at time of project mobilization.

1.19 TEMPORARY WATER SERVICE

A. Connect to existing water source for construction operations.

1.20 TEMPORARY SANITARY FACILITIES

- A. Owner's facilities may be used.
- B. Maintain in clean and sanitary condition.

1.21 BARRIERS AND FENCING

- A. Provide barriers or fencing to prevent unauthorized entry to construction areas and to protect existing facilities and adjacent properties from damage.
- B. A sidewalk/pedestrian plan is required to be submitted to the owner prior to mobilization to the site.
- C. Construction: Contractor's option upon approval.

1.22 PROTECTION OF INSTALLED WORK

- A. Protect installed Work and provide special protection where specified in individual specification Sections.
- B. Prohibit traffic or storage upon waterproofed or roofed surfaces.

1.23 SECURITY

A. Provide security and facilities to protect Work and existing facilities, and Owner's operations from unauthorized entry, vandalism, or theft.

1.24 PROGRESS CLEANING

A. Maintain areas free of waste materials, debris, and rubbish. Maintain site in a clean and orderly condition. Minimize dust and surface runoff from operations.

1.25 FIELD OFFICES AND SHEDS

- A. Job meetings to be held in an available portion of the existing building or in the field.
- B. METRO will provide (2) onstreet spaces for the Contractor's use. The location of the spaces may change during the work. Contractor may park trucks or job trailers in those spaces. Additional parking spaces, if needed, to be provided by the Contractor.

1.26 REMOVAL OF ANCHORS AND FACILITIES

- A. Remove temporary anchors as may be required for work on this project. Clean and repair damage caused by installation or use of temporary work.
- B. Restore existing facilities used during construction to original condition. Restore permanent facilities used during construction to specified condition.

1.27 PRODUCTS

- A. Products: Means new material, machinery, components, equipment, fixtures, and systems forming the Work, but does not include machinery and equipment used for preparation, fabrication, conveying and erection of the Work. Products may also include existing materials or components specifically identified for reuse.
- B. Do not use materials and equipment removed from existing premises, except as specifically identified or allowed by the Contract Documents.
- C. Use interchangeable components of the same manufacture for similar components.

1.28 TRANSPORTATION, HANDLING, STORAGE AND PROTECTION

A. Transport, handle, store and protect Products in accordance with manufacturer's instructions.

1.29 CONTRACT CLOSEOUT PROCEDURES

- A. Submit written certification that Contract Documents have been reviewed, Work has been inspected, and Work is complete in accordance with Contract Documents and ready for Architect/Engineer's inspection.
- B. Submit final Application for Payment identifying total adjusted Contract Sum/Price, previous payments, and amount remaining due.

1.30 FINAL CLEANING

- A. Execute final cleaning prior to final inspection.
- B. Clean exterior surfaces exposed to view.
- C. Clean exterior side of window glazing in the area of work.
- D. Clean debris from site, roofs, gutters, downspouts, and drainage systems.
- E. Remove waste and surplus materials, rubbish, and construction facilities from the site.

1.31 PROJECT RECORD DOCUMENTS

- A. Maintain on site, one set of Contract Documents to be utilized for record documents.
- B. Record actual revisions to the Work. Record information concurrent with construction progress. Record extent of work performed under this contract if contract is for less than the entire work.

- C. Specifications: Legibly mark and record at each Product Section a description of actual Products installed.
- D. Record Documents and Shop Drawings: Legibly mark each item to record actual construction, include product cut sheets.
- E. Submit documents to Architect with claim for final Application for Payment.

1.32 OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE DATA

- A. Submit two sets prior to final inspection, bound in 8-1/2 x 11 inch (216 x 279 mm) text pages with durable covers.
- B. Contents:
 - 1. Directory, listing names, addresses, and telephone numbers of Architect/Engineer, Contractor, Subcontractors, and major equipment suppliers.
 - 2. Operation and maintenance instructions, arranged by system.
 - 3. Project documents and certificates.
 - 4. Physical samples of sealant.

1.33 WARRANTIES

- A. Provide copies as required under the Contract.
- B. Execute and assemble documents from Subcontractors, suppliers, and manufacturers.
- C. Note requirements for extended warranties.
- D. Submit prior to final Application for Payment.

1.34 SPARE PARTS AND MAINTENANCE MATERIALS

- A. Provide Products, spare parts, maintenance and extra materials in quantities specified in individual specification Sections.
- B. Deliver to Project site and place in location as directed.

PART 2 PRODUCTS

Not Used

PART 3 EXECUTION

Not Used

END OF SECTION

PART 1 GENERAL

1.01 SECTION INCLUDES

- A. New Wet Casted Cast Stone fabrication, installation work to match existing, extent as indicated.
- B. Removal of existing cast stone.
- C. Molds required for the work.
- D. Engineering and regulatory approvals as necessary for the work.

1.02 SYSTEM DESCRIPTION

- A. Design Requirements:
 - 1. Contractor is responsible for structural engineering for the units, reinforcing and connection of cast stone to existing building and for stabilization of existing cast stone to remain during installation of new members.
 - 2. Match color, size and texture and pattern of original cast stone work to be replaced.
 - 3. Match existing cast stone profile and design.
 - 4. Modify existing connections and install flashing and sealing systems as needed to provide a watertight assembly and as approved by Architect.

1.03 RELATED SECTIONS

A. Coordinate work with related Sections 04510 Masonry Cleaning and Sealing, 04520 Masonry Restoration.

1.04 PROTECTION

- A. Protect finished surfaces, plantings, and ground surface from masonry materials, and debris.
- B. Coordinate periods of noisy operations with METRO; Refer to SUPPLEMENTARY CONDITIONS. Wet grind mortar joints and take other precautions to limit dust and as required by regulatory agencies.

1.05 STAGING

- A. Staging and lifts may be located adjacent to the building base or elsewhere as allowed by Owner.
- B. Review SUPPLEMENTARY CONDITIONS for patron, public and vehicular safety, egress, and exiting.

1.06 TRADE QUALIFICATIONS

- A. Site foremen shall have at least 5 successful similar projects on designated Historic Buildings and a minimum of five years experience in repointing masonry surfaces; successful experience with light colored masonry is required
- B. Masonry personnel shall have at least 2 successful similar projects on designated Historic Buildings, or manufacturer's certification, and a minimum of three years experience in similar installations.
- C. Submit in writing prior project reference data including names of project, reference person, and phone number.

1.07 SUBMITTALS

- A. Product Data: Submit fabricator's specifications, concrete mix information, and instructions for manufactured materials and products.
- B. Shop Drawings: Submit shop drawings for Architect/Owner Representative review, showing complete information for fabrication and installation of Cast Stone units.
 - 1. Indicate member dimensions, cross-section, module layout and stone numbering.
 - 2. Show location and details of anchorage/lifting devices that are to be embedded in other construction.
 - 3. Indicate welded connections by AWS standard symbols. Detail inserts, connections, and joints, including accessories and construction at openings in precast units.
 - Provide written installation procedure. Include methods for removal of designated units and protection of existing cast stone to remain during installation of new members; methodology for installation of new units; staging and equipment.
 - 5. Engineering design and calculations.
 - 6. Testing Laboratory results showing compressive strength and water absorption results for a sample unit.
 - 7. Review methodology and construction requirements for removal and installation of units with Architect/Owner Representative.
- C. Samples: Submit two samples approximately 12"x12"x2" to illustrate quality, color, and texture of surface finish.

1.08 QUALITY ASSURANCE

- A. Codes and Standards: Comply with provisions of following codes, specifications and standards, except as otherwise indicated:
 - 1. ACI 318 "Building Code Requirements for Reinforced Concrete".
 - 2. Concrete Reinforcing Steel Institute, "Manual of Standard Practice".
 - 3. Prestressed Concrete Institute MNL 117, "Manual for Quality Control for Plants and Production of Architectural Precast Concrete Products".
- B. Fabricator and Erector Qualifications: A minimum of 4 years experience in the fabrication and erection of Cast Stone units, similar to units required for this project. Supply documentation of sufficient production capacity for the project.
- C. Certification: Contractor shall furnish certification that similar cast stone made from materials being used to meet the requirements of this specification has been used as exposed outdoor trim for ten years without signs of deterioration and surface defects which would affect its appearance.

1.09 DELIVERY, STORAGE AND HANDLING

- A. Deliver cast stone units to project site in sufficient time to assure continuity of installation.
- B. Store units at project site to prevent cracking, distortion, warping, staining, or other physical damage and so that markings are visible.
- C. Lift and support units only at designated lifting or supporting points as shown on final shop drawings.
- 1.10 ENVIRONMENTAL REQUIREMENTS
 - A. Cold Weather Requirements: IMIAC Recommended Practices and Specifications for Cold Weather Masonry Construction.

PART 2 PRODUCTS

2.01 CAST STONE UNIT MATERIALS

- A. Concrete Materials; Cast stone units shall be wet cast and contain concrete coloring agents, white concrete, colored sand and aggregates, air entrainment admixture, bonding agents.
- B. Mix to match coloration and texture finish of existing cast stone. In matching surface texture, allow for either acid etch or light sandblast finishing as necessary to match original units.
- C. All surfaces intended to be exposed to view shall have a fine-grained texture similar to natural stone, with no air voids in excess of 1/32 in. and the density of such voids shall be less than 3 occurrences per any 1 in.2 and not obvious under direct daylight illumination at a 5 ft distance.
- D. Exposed surface finishes shall be free of defects, smooth and uniform, and finished to a depth of at least 1/4". Alternatively, the face mix extend 100% of thickness.
- E. Support and Anchoring Devices; stainless steel as approved.
- F. Mortar Materials and Mix:
 - 1. Portland Cement: ASTM C150, Type II (white non staining). Maximum alkali content: 0.60%.
 - 2. Lime: ASTM C-207, Type S, Hydrated.
 - 3. Sand: ASTM C33, Sand color, size and texture shall match the original as closely as possible. Natural sand is preferred.
 - 4. Water: Clean and Potable.
 - 5. Mortar Mix: ASTM 270 Type "S"; using the property method; mix in quantities for immediate use in accordance with ASTM C270. The existing mortar has been tested and results are available for review.
- G. Reinforcement: If reinforced, cast stone shall be reinforced with epoxy coated steel or stainless steel 'all-thread' when necessary for safe handling and erection. The size and type of reinforcing shall be specified in shop drawings. The reinforcement shall be protected in accordance with ACI Standards. (To allow for temperature changes and structural stress, there shall be a minimum steel reinforcement amounting to 1/4 of 1 percent of the sectional area of the stone, should the stone be greater than 12 inches in any dimension the temperature steel shall be placed in both directions.)
- G. Absorption: The average absorption of water by the stone castings when immersed for 48 hours in water in 60 degrees F. shall be less than 6 percent by weight.

2.02 FABRICATION

- A. General:
 - 1. Fabricate units straight, smooth, and true to size and shape, with exposed edges and corners precise and square unless otherwise indicated.
 - (a) Cross section dimensions shall not deviate by more than ±1/8 in. from approved dimensions.
 - (b) Length of units shall not deviate by more than length/ 360 or ±1/8 in. whichever is greater, not to exceed ±1/4 in.
 - (c) Warp, bow or twist of units shall not exceed length/ 360 or ±1/8 in, whichever is greater.
 - 2. Precast units which are warped, cracked, broken, spalled, stained, or otherwise defective will not be acceptable.

- 3. Fabricate units that uniformly match each other throughout the entire production. ASTM D 2244 permissible variation in color between units of comparable age subjected to similar weathering exposure.
 - (a) Total color difference not greater than 6 units.
 - (b) Total hue difference not greater than 2 units.
- B. Built-In Items: Provide reglets, slots, holes, and other accessories in units to receive dowels, reglets, waterstops, flashings, or other similar work as indicated.
- C. Anchorages: Provide loose stainless steel plates, clip angles, seat angles, anchors, dowels, cramps, hangers, and other miscellaneous stainless steel shapes not provided by other trades, necessary for securing precast units to supporting and adjacent members.
- D. Minimum Compressive Strength; Cast Stone Units shall have a minimum compressive strength of 6,500 psi.

PART 3 EXECUTION

- 3.01 EXAMINATION AND PREPARATION
 - A. Examine existing conditions, substrate construction and materials.
 - B. Verify that field conditions are acceptable and ready to receive Work.
 - C. Coordinate placement of anchors supplied to other Sections.

3.02 INSTALLATION

- A. General:
 - 1. Remove existing cast stone units according to submitted methodology, working in sequence with installation of new units.
 - 2. Deliver anchorage items which are to be embedded in other construction before start of such work. Provide setting diagrams, templates, instructions and directions as required for installation.
 - 3. Install precast concrete members plumb, level, and in alignment. Work to existing conditions and align with adjacent work, and equalize mortar joint dimensions.
 - 4. Provide temporary supports and bracing as required to maintain position, stability and alignment as members are being permanently connected.
 - 5. Verify that existing adjacent masonry is maintained in good condition and unharmed by operations.
 - 6. Salvage existing removed cast stone as possible; These pieces may be utilized for historic interpretive uses. Review salvage with Owner.
 - 7. Refer to Section 04520 for mortar mix requirements.
 - 8. Provide weeps or weep tubes at sill joint.
- B. Accessories:
 - 1. Install clips, hangers, and other accessories required for erection of precast units to supporting members and back-up materials.
 - 2. Anchor units in final position by bolting, welding, grouting, or as otherwise required. Remove temporary shims, wedges, and spacers as soon as possible after anchoring is completed.

3.03 CLEANING

- A. Clean exposed facings to remove dirt and stains which may be on units after erection and completion of joint treatments.
- B. Wash and rinse in accordance with precast manufacturer's recommendations.
- C. Protect other work from damage due to cleaning operations.
- D. Do not use cleaning materials or processes which could change the character of exposed concrete finishes, or adjacent finishes.
- E. Coordinate with work in Section 04510 Masonry Cleaning and Sealing.

END OF SECTION

SECTION 04510 MASONRY CLEANING & SEALING

PART 1 GENERAL

- 1.01 SECTION INCLUDES
 - A. Brick Masonry, Cast Stone cleaning.
 - B. Brick Masonry, Cast Stone sealing and water proofing.

1.02 SCOPE

A. Work defined in this Section applies to the exposed brick, and cast stone masonry, concrete at the exterior building walls where scheduled.

1.03 COORDINATION

A. Coordinate this work with Masonry Restoration 04520, Cast Stone 04235, Joint Sealants 07900, Painting 09900 and other related Sections.

1.04 PROTECTION

- A. Cleaning agents may be an acidic products and should be handled accordingly for personal, public safety and building protection. Observe statutory and manufacturer's recommendations and requirements for its use.
- B. Protect glass, woodwork, roof areas, painted and finished areas to remain, ground surface, plantings and pedestrian traffic from cleaning materials - follow manufacturer's recommended safety and protection procedures.
- C. Damaged material to be replaced or refinished to match adjacent undamaged material sufficiently to not show patch from 5 feet away. If unable to blend in repair area, then repaint refinish complete surface.
- D. Coordinate periods of noisy operations with METRO; Refer to the SUPPLEMENTARY CONDITIONS.

1.05 STAGING

- A. Staging and lifts may be located adjacent to the building base or elsewhere as allowed by Owner.
- B. Review General Requirements for patron, public and vehicular safety, egress, and exiting.

1.06 TRADE QUALIFICATIONS

- A. Site foremen shall have at least 5 successful similar projects on designated Historic Buildings and a minimum of five years experience in cleaning and sealing masonry surfaces; successful experience with light colored masonry is required
- B. Masonry Cleaning personnel shall have at least 3 successful similar projects on designated Historic Buildings and a minimum of three years experience in cleaning and sealing masonry surfaces; successful experience with light colored masonry is required.
- C. Submit in writing prior project reference data including names of project, reference person, and phone number.

1.07 SAMPLES

A. Cleaning and Sealing Tests shall be performed by the Contractor at locations to be determined prior to commencing full work. These samples shall be utilized for evaluation of the effectiveness and potential

ATTACHMENT C 04510-1

revision of the materials. The work on this Project shall meet the standards of work on these samples once approved, and these shall will be the standard for all work.

- B. The Contractor shall provide samples of each type of cleaner, sealer and waterproofing to be used for Architect/Owner Representative's approval prior to authorization for use on the project.
- 1.08 ENVIRONMENTAL REQUIREMENTS
 - A. Cleaning: Follow Cleaning Materials manufacturer's instructions.
 - B. Containment: Capture cleaning agent runoff. Dispose of as required by DEQ.
 - C. Precautions: Store materials, rags, products, and equipment in safe manner and as recommended by manufacturer. Certain materials may be flammable and are not to be stored adjacent to the building.

PART 2 PRODUCTS

2.01 MASONRY CLEANERS

- A. Hot Water with medium pressure for initial, gentle cleaning.
- B. Approved Cleaners: Cleaners for heavily soiled, mossy, and stubborn stains where hot water does not remove staining: ProSoCo "SURE-KLEAN ReKlaim; or "DUMOND Chemicals, Inc, Safe N Easy".
- C. Additional Approved Cleaners for heavily soiled stains at limited areas: ProSoCo SURE-KLEAN: Restoration Cleaner, #766 Limestone & Masonry Prewash with Limestone & Masonry Afterwash.
- D. All cleaning and cleaning agents shall be applied in accordance per approved Samples as noted above.

2.02 MASONRY SEALERS

A. Approved Sealers: ProSoCo PD Clear, Breathable, Siloxane Water Repellent; Alternate: Chem-Trete BSM40 Water Repellent.

2.03 MASONRY WATERPROOFING

- A. Approved Water Proofing: Sonoguard by Sonneborn Building Products; Sonoguard Base Coat and Top Tint Coat system; and related primers, and accessories. A moisture curing polyurethane deck membrane system
- B. Colors: BP-5578 'Pink-Brown' at Brick, BP-5756 at Cast Stone. Verify match to prior work and to existing clean conditions.

PART 3 EXECUTION

3.01 MASONRY CLEANING

- A. Use cleaning agents and methods as established on the test sample.
- B. Clean masonry prior to repointing and repair work. Follow up cleaning after masonry rehabilitation work.
- C. Apply strippable masking to glass and take other measures to protect woodwork, roofs and adjacent ground surface, if recommended by the manufacturer for use of cleaners.
- D. Procedures and Equipment:
 - 1. Standard hot water pressure washing equipment without chemical cleaning agents: Use medium pressure setting and a temperature of 260 degree F, wand tip of 15 degree with a fan tip at least 12" from the masonry surface.

- Chemical cleaners may be applied using brush, a deep nap roller or spray. If the brush application is preferred, a soft fibered "Tampico" masonry washing brush should be used to apply the material. Nylon brushes or nylon rollers shall not be used.
- 3. If spray application is preferred, the cleaner should be applied using a low pressure sprayer suitable for applying acidic compounds. The spraying equipment should supply an even flow of cleaning solution to the surface at an operating pressure less than 50 psi at building surface.
- 4. Application of the rinse water is extremely important. Cleaners penetrate into the masonry surface solubilizing stain producing elements. Use pressure water rinsing equipment developing 400-600 psi. Follow manufacturer's recommendations with regard to temperature of cleaning and rinsing products.
- 5. Application of the neutralizer is extremely important for certain products. Carefully follow manufacturer's recommendations.

E. Dilutions:

- Porous masonry surfaces (cast stone etc.): Cleaner should be applied in normal mix during initial testing. If the cleaner cleans effectively, tests should be run with diluted solutions of up to 3 parts water to 1 part concentrate. The effectiveness of the diluted solutions depends upon the number of applications, the severity of the stain, and job conditions.
- 2. Non-porous Masonry (field brick): The cleaner may be diluted with 1 to 3 parts water, depending upon the conditions.

F. Application:

- 1. Prewet the surface to be cleaned with clean water.
- 2. Apply the cleaning solution liberally and uniformly to the masonry surface using low pressure spray, roller or brush.
- 3. Allow the cleaning solution to remain on the surface for 3 to 5 minutes. Reapply. Light scrubbing of the surface improves cleaning results.
- 4. Rinse the treated area thoroughly using as much water pressure as possible without causing masonry damage. Rinse from the bottom of the treated area to the top covering each section of the surface with the concentrated stream of water.
- 5. Hold the spray equipment nozzle back sufficiently to minimize damage to masonry surfaces.
- 6. Take every precaution to avoid streaking surface.
- 7. Reapply cleaners to remove stubborn stains. Repeat cleaning and rinsing steps.
- 8. Apply paint strippers or poultices to remove noticeable paint spatters.
- 9. Minimize the amount of water entering the masonry and its assembly.
- 10. Follow manufacturer's recommendations.

3.02 SEALING

- A. Verify that the masonry is clean and suitable for treatment as recommended by the manufacturer. Notify the Architect of problematic situations and schedule changes.
- B. Apply water repellent to dry masonry in weather that will allow application without adverse effect [no rain within 2 hours of last application].
- C. Apply using low pressure (15-25 psi) pumping equipment with a wet fan type spray nozzle. Alternate methods include power roller with a 1" nap or by brush.
- D. Do not alter or dilute the water repellent material.
- E. Vertical Surfaces: Apply in a flooding application, from bottom up so the material runs down 6 to 8 inches below the spray pattern.
- F. Horizontal Surfaces: Allow material to pond at least 5 seconds before being absorbed.

ATTACHMENT C 04510-3

- A. Verify the substrate is clean and dry and prepared per manufacturer's instructions.
- B. Apply base coat with notched trowel to a wet thickness of 25 mils, overcoating cracks, joints and flashings. For sloped surfaces use slope grade base coat. Immediately backroll to level coat.
- C. Allow to cure overnight a minimum of 16 hours before application of tinted top coat; extend cure time as required for weather conditions.
- D. Apply tinted top coat with notched squeegee to a wet thickness of 25 mils. For sloped surfaces use slope grade material. Immediately backroll to level coat.
- E. Allow to cure as noted above.
- F. Apply a second tinted top coat with notched squeegee to a wet thickness of 15 mils.
- G. Apply waterproofing at scheduled horizontal surfaces. Continue membrane over top surfaces, joints and steps to waterproof top surfaces exposed to rain.
- H. At Cornice Units, stop waterproofing at the exterior lower outside corner (bottom of drip lip) of the protruding cast stone masonry face. Extend the waterproofing 1" up the back vertical face of cast stone and terminate at the joint with the parapet cladding unit. Refer to red line in Attachment Photo that indicates the extent of the coating.
- I. At Blind Arch Heads: apply the waterproofing to the portion projecting from the brick plane, stop at the exterior outside corner intersection with vertical cast stone masonry face so that the coating is not visible from the street when viewing straight on. Extend the waterproofing back cast stone to the intersection with the brick.

END OF SECTION

SECTION 04520 MASONRY RESTORATION

PART 1 GENERAL

- 1.01 SECTION INCLUDES
 - A. Repairs and patching of damaged masonry.
 - B. Repointing.
 - C. Related but non masonry work.

1.02 SCOPE

- A. Work defined in this Section applies to the exposed brick, and cast stone masonry, concrete at the exterior building walls where scheduled.
- 1.03 COORDINATION
 - A. Coordinate this work with Masonry Cleaning-Sealing 04510, Cast Stone 04235, Joint Sealants 07900, Painting 09900 and other related Sections.
- 1.04 PROTECTION
 - A. Protect finished surfaces, plantings, and ground surface from masonry materials, and debris.
 - B. Coordinate periods of noisy operations with METRO; Refer to General Requirements. Wet grind mortar joints and take other precautions to limit dust and as required by regulatory agencies.
- 1.05 STAGING
 - A. Staging and lifts may be located adjacent to the building base or elsewhere as allowed by Owner.
 - B. Review SUPPLEMENTARY CONDITIONS for patron, public and vehicular safety, egress, and exiting.

1.06 TRADE QUALIFICATIONS

- A. Site foremen shall have at least 5 successful similar projects on designated Historic Buildings and a minimum of five years experience in repointing masonry surfaces; successful experience with light colored masonry is required
- B. Masonry repair personnel shall have at least 3 successful similar projects on designated Historic Buildings, or manufacturer's certification, and a minimum of three years experience in repair/repointing masonry surfaces.
- C. Submit in writing prior project reference data including names of project, reference person, and phone number.

1.07 SAMPLES

- A. Prior to starting work prepare a range of mortar color samples mixed to match existing mortars for approval. Upon acceptance prepare a 2'-0" wide x 2'-0" high sample of repointing for each color-type of masonry involved at a designated area for the Architect/Owner Representative's approval.
- B. Patching Samples: Provide cured sample test patching on cast stone scheduled to be removed for approval by Architect/Owner.
- C. Approved samples will be the standard for all work.

ATTACHMENT C

1.08 ENVIRONMENTAL REQUIREMENTS

A. Cold Weather Requirements: IMIAC Recommended Practices and Specifications for Cold Weather Masonry Construction.

1.09 WARRANTY

A. Provide for extended Warranty Period of 2 years.

1.10 TESTING

A. Owner may contract with an independent testing laboratory to test composition and hardness of installed mortar.

PART 2 PRODUCTS

2.01 MASONRY

- A. Reuse existing removed brick to the extent possible. New matching brick is expected to be difficult to match.
- B. New replacement masonry to match existing in material, sizes, color and surface. Materials may need to be cut to size.
- C. Existing brick, where damaged, may be reused for replacements by rotating and reinstalling if it satisfies face and corner integrity.

2.02 MORTAR

- A. Portland Cement: ASTM C150, Type 1, gray color.
- B. Mortar Aggregate: ASTM C144. Sand aggregate shall be a combination of the following and shall match the color and texture of the original mortar mix: Local stock course aggregate, free of silt, loam, soluble salts, and organic matter, screened to match size of aggregate within existing mortar mix [some larger aggregates exist].
- C. Hydrated Lime: ASTM C207, Type S.
- D. Mortar Color: Mineral oxide pigment color; Color to match existing mortar as approved; manufactured by Davis or approved.
- E. Water: Clean and potable.
- F. Bonding Agent: Nitobond acrylic manufactured by Fosroc or approved.

2.03 MORTAR MIXES

- A. Pointing Mortar for Masonry: ASTM C270, Type N using the Property Method; 1 part cement, 1 part lime, 5-6 parts sand by volume.
- B. Thoroughly mix mortar ingredients in quantities needed for immediate use in accordance with ASTM C270.
- C. Add mortar color in accordance with manufacturer's instructions.
- D. Do not use anti-freeze compounds to lower the freezing point of mortar.
- E. Mortar color is not required to be used at deep repointing.

2.04 PATCHING MATERIALS

A. Cast Stone Patch Material: Jahn Restoration Mortar by Cathedral Stone; System 44 by Edison Coatings, or as approved by Architect.

B. Color, Texture: Provide for matching existing material to be patched; allow for custom matching requiring several rounds of samples before approval. Patching to match base finish in color, texture, minimum thickness of finish material, sheen and visual qualities.

2.05 CEMENT WASH MATERIALS

A. Cementitious, exterior, non shrink, trowel grade material able to meet required thickness; BASF Emaco GP with Acryl 60 bonding agent or as approved by Architect/Owner.

2.06 INJECTION CRACK FILLER

A. Micro Capsule Engineering [MCE] low pressure, high viscosity epoxy crack filler as manufactured by NSK International, Inc. or approved.

2.07 ACCESSORIES

A. Helifix Anchors: Size and type to be verified depending upon requirements, if needed.

PART 3 EXECUTION

3.01 MASONRY REMOVAL AND REINSTALLATION

- A. At masonry to be reused, remove existing masonry carefully to preserve units for reinstallation. Clean units, and store safely.
- B. Reinstall existing units matching layout, mortaring and grouting of original construction. Match to existing infill requirements. Anchor masonry per industry standards with only non-corrosive ties and anchors.
- C. Install masonry flush and plumb with adjacent units.

3.02 REPOINTING

- A. General: Repointing shall remove deteriorated mortar from the masonry joints and replace it with new mortar of hardness as specified and color-texture to match the original material which is different at brick and at cast stone.
- B. Preparation:
 - 1. Remove mortar where deteriorated or scheduled to a minimum depth of one inch or 2-1/2 times the width of the joint beyond existing mortar face. Any loose or disintegrated mortar beyond this minimum depth shall also be removed. For joints less than three-eights inch in width rake back to a depth of one-half inch or to sound and tight mortar.
 - 2. Use a suitable tool that will insure no damage to edges or corners of masonry. If a grinding wheel is used, it shall be a small precision tool equipped with easily interchangeable cutting heads in a complete range of thicknesses. The tool being used, it shall always be thinner than the mortar joint being cleaned at its narrowest point. Under no circumstances shall the tool be forced through a joint that is narrower than the tool itself. Raked joints may require hand work.
 - 3. Contractor is responsible for replacement of any masonry gouged or nicked during removal of deteriorated mortar.
 - 4. At joints requiring Deep Repointing (well beyond the minimum range stated above), carefully clean loose materials out joint area.
 - 5. After cutting, thoroughly flush joint with water under moderate pressure (300 to 500 psi). If damage is observed to mortar joint, reduce pressure. At Deep joints take care to not use excessive water and damage interior finish and surfaces.

C. Repointing:

- 1. Saturate joints with water. At the time of repointing, brick and stone shall be damp but without excess water present.
- 2. Force mortar into recesses with narrow jointer. Fill joint gradually compacting mortar in several layers averaging three-eights inch thick. Allow each layer to stiffen slightly to thumb print hardness before following with additional layers. Avoid overfilling.
- 3. When final layer has reached thumb print hardness, neatly tool joint flush with adjacent (original) mortar surfaces. Prevent mortar from filling edge and corner defects maintain a straight mortar line of same width as the space between adjacent corners.
- 4. At Brick: Tool joints to match the original joint that was struck flush, and brushed, with masonry then cleaned of excess.
- 5. At Cast Stone: Tool joints slightly concave and flush with adjacent masonry.
- 6. Follow tooling, remove excess mortar from edge of joint by brushing with a bristle (not steel) brush. Before it hardens, clean all traces of excess pointing mortar from the face of masonry using bristle (not steel) brushes and water.
- 7. Review areas indicated for joint filling with sealants per Section 07600.
- 8. Build in bolts for anchorage devices, structural elements, and flashing.

3.03. SLOPED CEMENT WASH

- A. Prepare area for intended work, including disconnection, removal and storage of light fixtures, brackets and other items that may interfere with the work.
- B. Remove existing loose cement, coatings, various toppings or waterproofing to sound underlying material.
- C. Apply bonding agent per manufacturer's instructions.
- D. Apply new cementitious grout and trowel flat and smooth with uniform slope to create positive drainage to exterior edges and away from building wall.
- E. Provide a bed with a minimum slope of $\frac{1}{2}$ " per foot with a minimum of $\frac{1}{2}$ " thickness.
- F. Install waterproof coating; Refer to Section 04510
- G. Clean and confirm drainage operation.

3.04 MASONRY PATCHING REPAIRS

- A. At damaged masonry where reinforcing is to be removed, remove cast stone adjacent to the exposed steel until sound material is reached. Cut off steel or remove completely. Prime treat exposed steel per Section 09900.
- B. Clean area to be patched and repaired of loose material. Where reinforcing and loose pieces are removed, remove existing material to provide sufficient depth and location for patching success.
- C. Review surface ornament and pattern to determine best location of joint from patch to existing regarding visual appearance and future weatherization.
- D. Prepare the substrate for proper adhesion of patching material.
- E. Install bonding agents as recommended by manufacturer.
- F. Install patching material in thicknesses and in applications as recommended by manufacturer.
- G. Complete finish of patch to match adjacent original material design, and surface.

3.05 CRACK REPAIR

A. At cracks to be filled, use low pressure, high viscosity epoxy applied by syringe capsules as recommended by manufacturer

Take precaution to prevent leakage onto face of masonry. Clean exposed visible areas.

3.06 BLIND ARCH CAST STONE CRACK REPAIRS

- A. Existing Conditions: The cast stone band at the head of the blind arches is composed of an inner, middle and outer band of masonry, each with a half bond such that the inner and outer band joints are in a line and the middle band is staggered. Many of the middle masonry units are cracked at this line.
- B. Repairs: As scheduled and where cracked, saw cut the middle masonry units in line with the existing inner and outer band grout joints. This joint is to be pointed to match other cast stone mortar joints. Refer to Attachment Photo. The red line indicates the middle cast stone portion and is adjacent to a crack that is to be repaired.
- 3.07 PROTECTING COMPLETED REPAIRS
 - A. Protect against damage until compounds and mortars have set.
 - B. Protect and cover if necessary to prevent undesirable effects of weather.

3.08 CLEANING

- A. Remove compound, mortar, and stains from exposed masonry surfaces.
- B. Delay cleaning until masonry and repairs are sufficiently cured to prevent damage.
- C. Prior to cleaning remove excess compound, mortar, and stains by scraping with brass, nylon or other non-ferrous devices only.
- D. Follow manufacturer's instructions for applying and removing cleaning agents; coordinate work with Masonry Cleaning 04510.
- E. Remove debris from project site upon work completion or sooner if directed.

END OF SECTION

PART 1 GENERAL

1.01 SECTION INCLUDES

- A. Preparing sealant substrate surfaces.
- B. Placement of joint fillers, backing, and sealants.
- C. Work in this section is by Unit Cost. No work is included in the Base Bid.

1.02 SYSTEM DESCRIPTION

A. System performance to achieve moisture and air tight joint seals.

1.03 QUALITY ASSURANCE

A. Perform Work in accordance to Sealant and Waterproofers Institute - Sealant and Caulking Guide Specification requirements for materials and installation.

1.04 ENVIRONMENTAL REQUIREMENTS

- A. Do not install solvent curing sealants in enclosed building spaces.
- B. Maintain temperature and humidity recommended by the sealant manufacturer during and after installation.

PART 2 PRODUCTS

2.01 SEALANTS

A. Polyurethane Sealant: Two component, chemical curing, non-staining, non-bleeding, paintable, capable of continuous water immersion, non-sagging, slope gradient type; Color: Submit for Architect approval; #NP-2 as manufactured by Sonneborn, or as approved by Architect. Color: Custom matched per schedule below. Submit color for approval.

Elongation Capability 25 percent. Service Temperature Range -40 to 180 degrees F. Shore A Hardness Range 35-45.

2.02 ACCESSORIES

- A. Primer: Non-staining type, [recommended by sealant manufacturer] to suit application.
- B. Joint Cleaner: Non-corrosive and non-staining type, recommended by sealant manufacturer; compatible with joint forming materials.
- C. Joint Backing Filler: round, closed cell[polyethylene foam rod; oversized 30 to 50 percent larger than joint width; CC manufactured by Sonneborn or as approved by Architect.
- D. Bond Breaker: Pressure sensitive tape recommended by sealant manufacturer to suit application.

PART 3 EXECUTION

3.01 EXAMINATION AND PREPARATION

- A. Verify that surfaces, joint openings are ready to receive work, and that joint measurements and surface conditions are as recommended by the sealant manufacturer.
- B. Remove loose materials and foreign matter which may impair adhesion of sealant.
- C. Verify that joint backing and release tapes are compatible with sealant.
- D. Perform preparation in accordance with ASTM C804 for solvent release sealants.

3.02 INSTALLATION

- A. Clean and prime seal joints in accordance with manufacturer's instructions.
- B. Install sealant in accordance with manufacturer's instructions.
- C. Measure joint dimensions and size materials to achieve required width/depth ratios.
- D. Install joint backing and filler to achieve a neck thickness dimension no greater than 1/3 the joint width.
- E. Install bond breaker where joint backing or filler is not used.
- F. Mix approved repointing colored sand with sealant.
- G. Apply sealant within recommended application temperature ranges. Consult manufacturer when sealant cannot be applied within these temperature ranges.
- H. Tool joints concave.
- I. Apply sand to surface of sealant to minimize its appearance next to mortar.

3.03 APPLICATION APPROACH

- A. Windows: At lobby window sills to masonry: remove any existing sealant and install new at each window.
- B. Brick or Cast Stone Joints: Where not repointed and at expansion joints, seal as necessary to prevent water intrusion.
- C. Brick to Steel Joints: Seal as necessary to prevent water intrusion.

3.04 TYPE & COLOR SCHEDULE

- A. Window to Brick/Masonry: Two component Polyurethane Sealant; Color: custom matched to brick color; swatch to be furnished by Contractor to Architect during construction.
- B. Brick or Cast Stone Joints: Two component Polyurethane Sealant; Color: custom matched to brick color; swatch to be furnished by Contractor to Architect during construction.
- C. Brick to Steel Joints: Two component Polyurethane Sealant; Color: custom matched to brick color; swatch to be furnished by Contractor to Architect during construction.
- D. Prior Colors Used: BP-5578 'Pink-Brown' at Brick, BP-5756 at Cast Stone. Verify match at existing clean conditions with Architect prior to work.

MERC Staff Report

<u>Agenda Item/Issue:</u> For the purpose of selecting D&R Masonry Restoration, Inc, for the Arlene Schnitzer Concert Hall, "Exterior Façade Maintenance Repairs" and authorizing the Metro Deputy Chief Operating Officer to execute a contract with D&R Masonry Restoration, Inc.

Resolution No: 14-21

Presented by: Robyn Williams/Josh Lipscomb

Date: July 9, 2014

Background and analysis: While the 1984 rehabilitation of the Arlene Schnitzer Concert Hall included some exterior masonry repair and rehabilitation, some of the work envisioned during the project was omitted due to budget constraints. Due to appearance and safety concerns, a thorough inspection and assessment of the exterior façade was completed in 2010. This report outlined immediate repair and rehabilitation needs, as well as additional short term and long term recommendations in order to preserve the façade. The commission approved a contract in 2011 to complete the immediate repairs; this contract's scope of work represents the majority of the short term recommendations from the 2010 report. The scope of work includes brick replacement, cast stone repair, mortar repointing, cleaning and sealing of brick, mortar and cast stone on all elevations of the facility. Due to the historic relevance of the facility, the contract scope of work includes specific instructions as to methods, materials and qualifications of potential bidders that limits the number of qualified firms in the local area to complete this work.

MERC Staff prepared and issued Bid Documents and a Request for Bids, including the detailed scope of work as provided by the architect who completed the 2010 report, in accordance with MERC's Purchasing and Contracting Policies for Exterior Façade Maintenance Repairs. The RFB was published in the online version of El Hispanic News and the DJC, as well as ORPIN.

On May 30, 2014, MERC Staff conducted a non-mandatory site walk for potential bidders in which one contractor attended, who was not an MWESB or FOTA Contractor. Two bids were received on June 12, 2014 and ranged from \$129,725.00 to \$206,811.00. None of the bids received were from MWESB or FOTA firms. The lowest responsive and responsible bidder was D&R Masonry Restoration, Inc., in the amount of one hundred, twenty-nine thousand, seven hundred twenty-five & 00/100 dollars (\$129,725.00). The complexity of this project does not allow for subcontracting. MERC Staff included a request for pricing on six additional scopes of work in the RFB, acceptance of all pricing results in a contract that is below the budgeted amount. The alternate pricing received by D&R Masonry Restoration, Inc. was reviewed by MERC Staff and have all been accepted. The additional items increase the contract amount to two hundred, twenty-five thousand, & 00/100 dollars (\$225,000.00).

<u>Fiscal Impact</u>: The FY14-15 Adopted Budget included \$250,000 in appropriation for the Portland'5 Centers for the Arts Exterior Façade Maintenance Repairs. The proposed contract value of \$225,000.00 is less than the budgeted amount.

Recommendation: Staff recommends that the Metropolitan Exposition-Recreation Commission, by Resolution No. 14-21 approve the contract award and written contract (attached hereto) with D&R Masonry Restoration, Inc., for the amount of two hundred, twenty-five thousand, & 00/100 dollars (\$225,000.00) for the Exterior Façade Maintenance Repairs at the Arlene Schnitzer Concert Hall and authorize the Metro Deputy Chief Operating Officer to execute a contract with D&R Masonry Restoration, Inc.